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Three generations of GPs– celebrating 70 years of the NHS

INTRODUCTION FROM THE
CHAIR AND ACCOUNTABLE
OFFICER
Welcome to the Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 for NHS Dorset Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG), which demonstrates our continued progress in realising our
vision of ‘supporting people in Dorset to lead healthier lives’.
This year saw the whole NHS celebrate 70 years since its inception. Over those 70 years the NHS
has continued to transform with new technologies, advancing knowledge and clinical practice; from
1948, providing healthcare services free for all at the point of delivery, from the introduction of the
measles vaccine in 1968, to the first test tube baby in 1978 and the first double hand transplant in
2016.
We’ve come a long way and we are still shaping the future to continuously improve the health and
care for the people of Dorset, to ensure a modern health and care system as described in the NHS
Long Term Plan. Over the past 12 months we have worked together to deliver the priorities set out
in our Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP).
We are extremely pleased to see that all Dorset NHS Foundation Trusts are now rated as ‘Good’ by
the Care Quality Committee (CQC). This is a huge achievement and congratulations to all
concerned. This means that you can expect access to safe, high quality care.
Extensive work has also been undertaken within our GP practices with all practices offering
extended opening hours and the CQC having also rated 95% of our Dorset practices as ‘outstanding’
or ‘good’, which we are delighted with and we will continue to work with the remaining practices to
get this to 100%.
We’d like to thank all providers of services and those working with us, and for us, for their support
and commitment over the last year. Also thank you to our 85 GP practices who make up the
membership of the CCG, for their continued support.
As with everything we do, your voice is vital and we actively encourage you to get involved. By
joining our Health Involvement Network, you can keep up to date, get more involved with our work
and have your say on future developments in the health community. More information on this may
be found on our website www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk or at the end of this report.

Dr Forbes Watson
Chair

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
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PERFORMANCE REPORT
Over the last twelve months we have seen many achievements but also faced some
challenges. This section of the report provides you with an overview of our Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG), its main objectives, strategy, performance and principal risks
in-year.

OVERVIEW
About us
We are a clinically led organisation made up of 85 GP practices who took over the responsibility for
commissioning health services on 1 April 2013.
This means that we are responsible for discharging a range of duties on behalf of patients in line
with the NHS Act 2006. We confirmed we have discharged our duties and complied with the
statutory duties laid down in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), as required by the
CCG’s Assurance Framework, including:
 reducing health inequalities;
 improving the quality of services we commission;
 involving patients and the public in shaping health services.
In doing this we ensure we act effectively, efficiently and economically by delegating responsibility
for making decisions to our Governing Body. Our Audit and Quality Committee monitors the
controls in place to ensure we provide value for money.
In June 2017 we were accepted by NHS England as one of eight first wave Integrated Care Systems
(ICS). As an ICS we are at the forefront to provide joined up, better coordinated care breaking down
the barriers between GPs and hospitals, physical and mental healthcare, social care and the NHS.
Over the last 12 months we have been strengthening our relationships with partners, taking further
responsibility for finances in return for greater flexibility in delivering NHS services.
The Dorset Integrated Care System (ICS) comprises of all the NHS organisations and upper tier local
authorities in Dorset:










Borough of Poole;
Bournemouth Borough Council;
Dorset County Council;
Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust;
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group;
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust;
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust.

We will continue to develop and evolve our ICS through understanding where we are now, and the
steps we need to take to ensure we are a high performing system with a focus on:
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 evolving governance structures;
 organisational development and cultural change;
 new ways of working including development of procurement and contractual models and back
office functions.
As an ICS, we have committed to making rapid progress in the following areas:







urgent and emergency care (see page 29);
primary care (see page 27);
cancer (see page 21);
mental health (see page 23);
maternity (see page 24);
diabetes (see page 21).

Our local authority partners in Dorset are going through some changes and on 1 April 2019 the
county's nine councils will be replaced by two entirely new organisations:
 Dorset Council;
 Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council.

Our Constitution
A formal document, called a Constitution, sets out the arrangements the CCG has made to ensure it
meets its responsibilities for commissioning high quality services for the people of Dorset.
It describes the governing principles, rules and procedures which will ensure integrity, honesty and
accountability. Also, it commits the CCG to taking decisions in an open and transparent way and
places the interests of patients and public at its heart. A new Constitution was published on 1 April
2019 incorporating changes from the new model published by NHS England in September 2018.
Our Constitution can be downloaded from our website.

The population we serve
By 2024, the population of Dorset will have increased from around 750,000 to just under 800,000,
with much of the growth happening among older people. Increased longevity brings new
challenges to health and care systems, because as we grow older more of us develop long-term
conditions such as diabetes and dementia.
People in Dorset generally live healthier and longer lives compared to the average for England, but
this is not evenly spread across our population – the data reveals unacceptable inequalities between
different groups. We must reduce the gap between the health of the poorest and richest. There is a
particularly wide health gap for men living in Bournemouth, where those living in more prosperous
areas can expect to live for 11 years longer than those living in the most deprived areas. Whilst there
has been no change in the numbers of people who die early from heart disease in Poole and rural
Dorset in the last five years, there has been a rise in Bournemouth and this is at a time when
numbers are falling nationally. We think this variation is unacceptable. We are addressing this
variation through our key work programmes of Prevention at Scale and RightCare, further detail
can also be found in our Operating Plan on our website when it is published.

2
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Many factors play a part in creating this gap. The prosperity of an area is one factor. Lifestyle factors
are another big reason why people may have more ill health. Based on current trends, obesity will
become an even more widespread problem by 2020, by which time we think one in ten local people
could have diabetes and one in eight could have heart disease.
There is a difference of up to 20 years in the life expectancy of people with mental health problems.
We want everyone in Dorset to receive the same high quality of care, regardless of where they live,
what health condition they have, or any other personal characteristic. We also know that people
who act as carers are at high risk of experiencing worse health outcomes, having their employment
or education disrupted and becoming socially isolated, which in turn impacts on their role as a carer.
Further information on health profile indicators can be found on Public Health England website.

Our providers
We commission (buy) services from a range of providers including:











Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust;
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust;
Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust;
University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust;
Yeovil District Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust;
General Practices;
third sector – which are non-governmental and non-profit-making organisations or associations,
including charities and voluntary agencies;
 independent sector care homes and hospitals.

Our headquarters
Our headquarters are based at Vespasian House, Dorchester with additional office accommodation
at Canford House, Poole.

How we work
Our member practices are at the heart of our communities and in a good position to understand the
needs of their populations. Each of our 13 localities is represented by a GP Locality Lead who is a
member of the Governing Body.
Our member practices can influence and inform decisions and provide feedback, so that we do not
lose the local focus amongst the national and wider Dorset priorities. It also enables us to ensure
the voice of patients and public can inform and influence decisions by feeding into their practice,
the local Health Involvement Networks and the Patient Participation Groups operating at each GP
practice.
We are one of a number of CCGs who have internal commissioning support services with five
directorates each of which is led by an Executive Director who is accountable to the Accountable
Officer, Tim Goodson.

May 22, 2019

3

Performance
The Directorates are led by:






Stuart Hunter, Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer;
Vanessa Read, Director of Nursing and Quality;
Phil Richardson, Chief System Integration Officer;
Sally Sandcraft, Director of Primary and Community Care;
Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and Development.

‘Our Dorset’ – Sustainability and Transformation Plan
We have continued to develop our Dorset Sustainability and Transformation Plan.
The three programmes of work identified are being accelerated to enable us to realise our vision for
health and care in Dorset over the next five years. Each programme contributes individually and
collectively to close the gaps we have identified as health and wellbeing, care and quality, and
finance and efficiency, to produce a truly integrated system that meets the needs of all our
population. Our programmes are:
 Prevention at Scale programme will help people to stay healthy and avoid getting unwell, see
page 16
 Integrated Community and Primary Care Services programme will support individuals who are
unwell, by providing high quality care at home and in community settings, see page 16;
 One Acute Network programme will help those who need the most specialist health and care
support, through a single acute care system across the whole county, see page 17.
To realise these ambitions, we have two fundamental enabling programmes:
 Our Leading and Working Differently programme focuses on giving the health and care
workforce the skills and expertise needed to deliver new models of care in an integrated health
and care system, see page 28;
 Our Digitally-Enabled Dorset programme will harness the power of technology and support
digital innovation across the health and care system, to support new approaches to service
delivery, see page 29.

4
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PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS
Review of 2018/19: statement from the accountable officer on
performance
The following section provides the view of our Accountable Office, Tim Goodson and a summary of
our performance during 2018/19.
We have a successful track record and strong commitment to collaborative working, acting as one
integrated health and care system. This has enabled us to work together to develop ‘Our Dorset’
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) (page 4) and puts us in a good position to deliver it.
The main positives that have arisen for the CCG in 2018/19 are:
 primary care:
 achieved 100% improved access to GP services across Dorset for routine care;
 implemented an e-referral system across Dorset for all practices;
 Care Quality Commission (CQC) rated 95% of practices as either ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’;
 continued roll out of Primary Care Home to support primary care network development and
transformation.
 the launch of the Dorset Care Record;
 the performance of Dorset NHS Foundation Trusts, with all achieving a ‘Good’ rating by the Care
Quality Commission;
 collaborative financial delivery.
We have also seen the High Court dismiss the claims brought in a Judicial Review in 2018. The Court
also confirmed that the CCG had taken into account all the matters that it was required to consider
during the Clinical Services Review and consultation processes. We hope that this will reassure local
people and councillors that the CCG has acted properly and in the interests of health and care
services in Dorset.
There have also been a number of challenges including:
 a financially demanding year;
 high demand for continuing healthcare.
It’s been a demanding year for our providers in Dorset who have faced both financial and workforce
challenges. We recognise that with these challenges facing the health and care system we will need
to proactively engage and communicate with all our stakeholders and members as they endeavour
to work with the difficult decisions the CCG has to make over the coming years.
We have faced demands on services, in particular A&E, cancer waits and referral to treatment
targets and have worked closely with our providers and local authorities to manage the systemwide challenges.
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We were assessed against the Improvement and Assessment Framework in 2018/19 and were given
a provisional overall rating of ‘green’ for quality of leadership, subject to moderation.
Comparison against other clinical commissioning groups can be found on MyNHS website.

Working with partners and integration
We already have a successful track record and strong commitment to collaborative working across
our health and care organisations, so that we act as one integrated health and care system. The last
few years have seen increasingly effective partnership working between our GPs and primary care
teams, the three local district general hospitals, our community and mental health provider, the
ambulance service, Dorset’s three local authorities, patient representatives and many others. This
has continued to be enhanced by our joint collaborative work programmes (see page 16) and
working with our integrated care system partners (see page 1).

Principal risks and uncertainties
We have developed a Governing Body Assurance Framework to ensure that there is a streamlined
approach to assurance enabling the Governing Body and delegated committees to focus only on
the strategic risks of the organisation. For assurance see the full governance statement from page
63 .
This is supported by the Corporate Risk Register (see page 66) which documents all strategic and
operational risks of the organisation. The Corporate Risk Register and Governing Body Assurance
Framework are reported regularly to the Governing Body, Audit and Quality Committee, Quality
Group and the Directors’ performance meeting.
We will face an increasingly challenging year in 2018/19 as the NHS continues to operate within a
tight financial framework during a period of change and movement towards greater integration
with social care.
We are committed to minimising risks to which we are exposed, strategically and corporately. The
overriding aim is to reduce the potential for loss of services due to adverse events, financial
management or performance and quality management of commissioned services that could
ultimately be of detriment to the population the CCG serves.
Our risks and uncertainties should be viewed against a back drop of a rising number of older people
in the local population, health inequalities and a significant number of people living with long term
conditions. Key risks identified are:
 ineffective partnership working resulting in ineffective integration of services;
 failure to deliver the financial system control total and access to provider sustainability fund;
 time taken on Judicial Review appeal and Secretary of State referral delaying the progress of
transformation workstreams;
 rising cost of capital programme that underpin transformation workstreams restricting full potential
of programme;
 urgent care/A&E pressures impacting on system sustainability, discharge and patient care;
 system wide workforce pressures;
 finance and workforce pressures within social care impacting on delayed transfers of care and
stranded patients;
 ongoing uncertainty of EU Exit impacting on workforce supply and cost of materials and drugs.

6
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Future plans
During 2019/20 we will be focusing on the national Five Year Forward View standards, the national
long term plan and also our local corporate objectives to 2020 which are:
 Improve the health and wellbeing of the population locally
 support people to make the right decisions about their health and wellbeing;
 develop services that meet the needs of everyone, that are safe and support people’s
wellbeing;
 work alongside our partner organisations to ensure that people in Dorset have equitable
access to services;
 Work together as a team
 ensure we connect and work together as teams within the organisation and more widely
with our partners to strengthen our approach in Dorset;
 engage and involve the right people at the right time in decisions which affect them;
 seek to understand the needs of others and help to manage their expectations;
 Develop the way we work
 treat everyone with dignity and respect;
 look at ways we can work differently to create an even better working environment;
 celebrate our success and learn from each other.
Details of our priorities for 2019/20 can be seen in the Our Dorset Integrated Care System Operating
Plan 2019/20 which will shortly be available on our website.
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Performance summary
The following section of the Performance Overview provides information on our key achievements
during 2018/19 and how we have met our statutory duties.

NHS Constitution standards
Our performance against the NHS Constitution standards and Quality Premiums are set out in the
following section. The red/amber/green rating assessment indicated in the below shows our
performance in relation to NHS Constitution standards for the year ending 2018/19.
TABLE 1: NHS CONSTITUTION STANDARDS
NHS Constitution
CCG based indicators

Operational
standard
Referral to Treatment waiting times for non-urgent consultant-led treatment
Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start treatment) waiting no
92%
more than 18 weeks from referral
Number of patients waiting on an incomplete pathway
51,550
Number of patients waiting more than 52 weeks on incomplete pathways
0

2018/19
performance
85.7%
57,500
TBC

Percentage of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test (15 key tests)

1%

6.1%

A&E waits – Percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 hours or less in
A&E from arrival to transfer, admission or discharge

95%

92.6%

Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred urgently
for suspected cancer by a GP
Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred urgently
with breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected)

93%

92.8%

93%

88.5%

Maximum 31-day wait from diagnosis to first definitive treatments for all cancers
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where that treatment is surgery
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is an anti-cancer
drug regimen
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is a course of
radiotherapy

96%
94%
98%

97.9%
97.4%
99.8%

94%

98.7%

Maximum 62-day wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for cancer
Maximum 62-day wait from referral from an NHS screening service to first definitive
treatment for all cancers

85%
90%

81.9%
91%

50% of people experiencing a first episode of psychosis will commence treatment with a
NICE approved care package within two weeks of referral
75% of people with common mental health conditions referred to the Improved Access
to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) programme will be treated within six weeks of referral
66.7% of dementia diagnosis of the estimated number of people with dementia.
Provider based indicators

50%

75.0%

75%

97.2%

66.7%
61.7%
Operational
2018/19
standard
performance
A&E waits – Percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 hours or less in A&E from arrival to transfer,
admission or discharge
The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
95%
92.5%
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
95%
89.0%
Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
95%
95.8%
NHS 111 service: South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
Calls answered in 60 seconds
95%
81.9%
NHS 999 service: South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
Category 1 mean response duration
7 minutes
6.10
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Although some standards were not achieved in 2018/19 we continued to make progress working as
one health system, with all partners working together. Some further details are provided below:
 patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start treatment) waiting no more
than 18 weeks from referral: One of the biggest challenges for our providers in 2018/19 has been
achieving the target of 92% of patients on a non-emergency pathway receiving their first
treatment within 18 weeks. For the year, Dorset achieved 85.7%. While this is below the target,
significant efforts have been made in response to an increase in demand for services coupled
with workforce challenges across our service providers. Innovative improvements include a new
photo advice and guidance within dermatology ensuring patients are referred on the most
appropriate pathway. There has also been an increased focus on the total number of patients on
a waiting list for 2018/19. Our local providers reported 57,500 patients who were on an
incomplete pathway at the end of March 2019 against a target of 51,550. We reported 33
patients waiting in excess of 52 weeks for treatment throughout the year of which the majority
of these occurred outside of Dorset in specialist hospitals;
 percentage of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test (15 key tests): During
2018/19 we noted a significant increase in the number of patients waiting in excess of 6 weeks
for diagnostic tests. The most significant impact on this performance has been the increase in
demand for endoscopy diagnostics following national cancer campaigns and high profile cases.
The positive aspect is that more people are going to see their GP with concerns. The challenge
for providers is responding to this demand in area which has workforce challenges. The position
throughout 2018/19 showed that on average 6.1% of patients waited more than 6 weeks for a
diagnostic test, against a target of 1%. We continue to work in collaboration with our providers
to improve on this position further and recovery plans are in place, this position will be recovered
in the coming year;
 percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 hours or less in A&E from arrival to
transfer, admission or discharge: total non-elective activity increased by 3.1% when compared to
the previous year and this continues to be challenging for all local providers, with reported
increased acuity in these admissions. Emergency department (ED) performance across the
system continues to prove challenging for providers locally. Performance across the Dorset
system was at 92.6% for 2018/19 supported by high performance at Dorset County Hospital.
Royal Bournemouth and Poole Hospitals did not achieve 95%. The sustainability and
transformation fund (STF) trajectory was achieved by all three providers at various points
throughout the year. All providers are reporting continued high demand compounded with high
acuity, batching of patients at peak times and high levels of ambulance conveyances. Work
continues on understanding the reasons for increased demand and conveyances through the
local Ambulance Pillar Group and Urgent and Emergency Care Delivery Board. Social workers
and therapists are now working in EDs to support pathways;
 maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred urgently for
suspected cancer by a GP: Due to the success of work around early detection, implementation
of NICE NG12, education in primary and community care and national campaigns, the number of
patients being referred as fast track referrals has increased by over 15% in 2018/19 and due to
the demography of Dorset is likely to continue to increase. The highest increase has been seen in
urology with referrals peaking at 40% in RBH over the year to date. This level of demand has had
an impact on the delivery of this standard and the maximum 62-day wait from urgent GP
referral to first definitive treatment for cancer shown below. Despite reporting performance
of 87% throughout quarter 1 of 2018/19 we achieved 92.8% throughout the course of 2018/19, a
significant uplift in performance has been seen in the latter part of the year. We are now on
track to deliver this standard on a recurring basis throughout 2019/20;
 maximum 62-day wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for cancer: As a
consequence of this unprecedented surge, the standard has not been achieved throughout
2018/19. System wide cancer resources have been allocated to support recovery of the 62-day
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standard which resulted in improved performance in Q3 and 4. We are now in a better place to
achieve this standard in 2019/20 following the good work seen locally across Dorset;
 NHS 111 service: South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWASFT): Calls
answered in 60 seconds. Call volume remained flat on the previous year however when adjusting
for the Easter period (being late in April 2019) call volume would have been 2% higher than the
corresponding period despite the inclusion of 111 Online. The service continues to struggle to
achieve 95% call answering performance. The service has been through a degree of change and
this has seen an increase in turnover of clinicians as well as the natural attrition that is seen
nationally with the call advisor role. The service continues to monitor in shadow form the
integrated urgent care key performance indicators for go live from April 2019.

Quality premiums
The quality premium is intended to recognise the CCG for improvements in the quality of the
services that we commission and for associated improvements in health outcomes and reducing
inequalities. The table below provides an assessment against the NHS Constitution performance
standards for period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 as outlined the quality premium national
guidance.
TABLE 2: NHS CONSTITUTION REQUIREMENT FOR PATIENT RIGHTS AND PLEDGES
NHS Constitution requirement for the following patient rights and pledges
The number of patients on an incomplete pathway not to be higher in March 2019
than the position in March 2018
Maximum two month (62-Day) wait from Urgent GP referral to first definitive
treatment for Cancer must be greater than 85%
Expected Adjustment (based on forecast rating)

Proportion of
QP

Expected
Rating

50.0%
50.0%

The CCG failed to achieve the NHS Constitution performance standards in 2018/19.
Subsequent level of analysis highlights that Dorset CCG also failed to achieve the majority of the
emergency demand management indicators, which, if a successful outcome on the above had been
attained would have generated 75% of the total award available.
These indicators were:




10

reduction in number of type 1 emergency department attendances;
reduction in the number of non-elective emergency admissions with a length of stay of zero;
reduction in the number of non-elective emergency admissions with a length of stay of one day
or greater.
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Financial Overview
The CCG achieved its financial duties for 2018/19 including break-even on income and expenditure
in year after:
 delivering a target surplus set by NHS England of £1.734m;
 underspending on its running cost allowance of £16.97m by £0.8m
 meeting the mental health investment standard which requires the CCG to increase investment
in mental health in line with the overall increase in the CCG financial allocation
 managing cash resources in line with cash drawdowns from NHS England
 investing in the integration of primary and community care services, bolstering capacity in the
community to deliver care out of hospital. The recurrent annual investment in this area is £6m.
 rolling forward a surplus of £33.6m from the previous financial year.
This was delivered against the revenue resource limit of £1,242m which includes the running cost
allowance of £16.97 million and the brought forward surplus of £33.6m
The main financial challenge for the CCG in the 2018/19 financial year has been overspends in all
personalised health commissioning (PHC) areas:







continuing healthcare for adults
children’s and young people’s continuing care
funded nursing care
funding of care for people coming out of hospital
after-care under section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983
mental health and learning disability patients in placements outside of Dorset.

A transformation programme is underway in PHC with a drive to improve efficiency and
effectiveness, where appropriate, and with specific areas being targeted to release savings.
TABLE 3: SUMMARY OF 2018/19 REVENUE PERFORMANCE
Programme
£’000

Revenue allocations received in year
Brought forward revenue surplus
Revenue Resource Limit
Underspend against Revenue Resource Limit

1,191,482
33,585
1,225,067
917

2018/19
Running costs
£’000

16,968
0
16,968
817

Total
£’000

1,208,450
33,585
1,242,035
1,734

The financial position leaves the CCG with a cumulative surplus of £35.3m to be carried forward into
2019/20. This is made up of the £33.6m cumulative surplus brought forward and the £1.7m achieved
in year. This is available for non-recurrent use in future years and can only be released by agreement
with NHS England as part of an agreed plan.
2018/19 was the second year of the two-year Dorset Health System Collaborative Agreement
between the CCG and its Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP)providers. Through
this agreement, commissioner and providers agreed to work together within an aggregate of
organisational target surpluses and deficits, working together to support each other as issues arose.
The contract values for provision of services for 2018/19 were based on the forecast out-turn for
2017/18 with a 1% uplift and therefore assumed that the providers would be able to make gains in
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economy and efficiency to meet rising costs and any growth in activity above this level. It should be
noted that a fundamental part of the agreement was to work together on managing demand to
reduce or reverse the trend in increasing activity.
In recognising the joint responsibility for managing demand, the Dorset health system has
continued to see a reduction in elective care in both inpatients and outpatients. GP referrals into the
acute hospitals have reduced by 0.9% against the previous year activity (as at end February 2019).
The Dorset system is, however, continuing to face a challenge in reducing demand for unplanned
care with increases in inpatient activity and emergency department, so these areas continue to be a
point of focus for the system.
2018-19 was the first year in which the Dorset NHS system entered into a combined full system
target as set by NHS regulators. The final target of £19.078m deficit was not met due to an offer
from NHS Improvement to individual foundation trusts of 2 for 1 funding, whereby they would
receive £2 for every £1 increase on their individual targeted surplus or deficit. This resulted in more
funding coming into the system as a whole but profiled differently across the foundation trusts. It
also limited options to set off financial performance between foundation trusts such that the whole
system target could not be met.
FIGURE 1: ANALYSIS OF NET OPERATING COSTS 2018/19

1.5%

1.3%
2.8%

Acute Commissioning £550.6m |45.6%
Ambulance £27.3m |2.3%

6.3%

Community Services £97m |8%
Mental Health and Learning Disabilities £122.3m |10.1%

10.2%
45.5%
8.6%
3.0%

Primary Care Delegated £103.2m |8.6%
Prescribing £123.2m |10.2%
Social Care (including Grant) £30.9m |2.6%

10.1%

Continuing and Funded Care £79.4m |6.6%
8.3%

Running Costs £16.2m |1.3%
2.3%
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Primary Care £36.6m |3%

Other Commissioning Costs £20m |1.7%
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Future financial outlook
Finance and activity
Dorset continues to operate as a successful Integrated Care System and has an agreed operational
plan for 2019/20 that delivers national policy requirements of investment in mental health, primary
care and the Better Care Fund whilst delivering challenging efficiency savings.
To achieve this ambition, it has been agreed that all Dorset NHS providers will receive a 2.7%
contract price uplift. This will allow us to deliver our operating plan requirements and support the
control of activity demand for hospital and community services. We have been able to invest £5m
directly into activity growth in acute providers, predominantly on delivery of trauma, cancer
standards, diagnostics, and maintenance of elective care waiting lists.

CCG funding allocations 2018/19 to 2019/20
The NHS Long Term Plan will provide Dorset with a significant financial uplift over the next five
years, including a 5.57% core allocation increase for 2019/20. Whilst welcomed, this is not all new
money, partly consisting of funding previously provided via other routes, meaning the real increase
is 3.2%.
The CCG has received its funding allocation as set by the national allocation formula, as outlined in
Table 4.
TABLE 4: CCG INITIAL FUNDING ALLOCATIONS 2019/20 COMPARED TO 2018/19.
2018/19
Allocations
£m

2019/20
Growth
£m

2019/20
Growth
%

CCG core programmes

1,053.5

58.6

5.6%

1,112.1

Primary care delegated

105.9

6.5

6.1%

112.4

Running cost allowance

16.8

0

0.0%

16.8

65.1

5.5%

1,241.3

Source of Funds

Allocations

1,176.2

2019/20 Allocations
£m

Planned financial performance 2019/20
The CCG has a detailed plan in place to meets is targeted deficit in-year of £1.0m.
In addition, we are planning to fully meet other policy requirements including supporting additional
investment on the Mental Health Investment Standard, Better Care Fund and Ambulance Services,
with some investment in key areas of acute activity.
Delivery of this financial performance will alter the existing Dorset CCG financial surplus held by
NHS England and only available for draw down by prior agreement. Our planned end of year
position is a forecast amount held on our behalf at 31 March 2020 of £34.3m.
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TABLE 5: PLANNED SURPLUS POSITION AT 31 MARCH 2020
Cumulative Surplus (no draw-down agreed)
Total surplus held by NHS England brought forward at 1 April 2018
Plus : 2018/19 surplus delivered
Total surplus held by NHS England brought forward at 1 April 2019
Less : 2019/20 planned deficit
Total funding lodged with NHS England anticipated at 31 March 2020 (unless
draw-down agreed)

£’000
33,585
1,734
35,319
1,000
34,319

Figure 2 shows how the CCG plans to spend its £1.25 billion in the year by expenditure sector.
FIGURE 2: PLAN FOR EXPENDITURE 2019/20

Acute Commissioning £581.2m |46.8%
1.3%

0.5%

Ambulance £28m |2.3%

2.5%
Community Services £99.6m |8%

6.0%
10.2%
46.8%
9.0%

Mental Health and Learning Disabilities £128.5m
|10.3%
Primary Care £38.7m |3.1%
Primary Care Delegated £112.4m |9%
Prescribing £126.7m |10.2%

3.1%
10.3%

Social Care (including Grant) £31.7m |2.5%
8.0%

Continuing and Funded Care £74.2m |6%
2.3%

Running Costs £16.3m |1.3%

Dorset integrated care system (ICS)
In 2017/18 the Dorset health organisations put in place a collaborative agreement designed to
provide an environment of mutual support, collaboration and trust to underpin the system delivery
plans identified as part of our Sustainability and Transformation Plans and equally in relation to our
Clinical Services Review. As we enter a third year of this collaboration, we continually work to
improve the health and care for the people of Dorset, to ensure a modern health and care system as
described in the NHS Long Term Plan.
This agreement also has an underpinning principle of collective management of risk which is now
further enhanced by forming an Integrated Care System (ICS). As in 2018/19 the individual
organisations have moved to a system control total approach.
Although we have made great progress over the last 12 months, 2019/20 will still be a challenging
year, as we continue to work within a tight financial framework during a period of change and
movement towards greater integration of community and primary care.
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Better care fund
Joining up health and social care provides opportunities to improve health and wellbeing, improve
quality of care and to enhance efficiency and productivity. The Better Care Fund is a key vehicle to
support our plans that pulls all this joint work together. We will operate with two sub plans in 2019/20
– one for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole and one for Dorset. This is in line with the populations
served by the two new Unitary Councils and enables us to continue to work effectively with local
communities through our integrated locality teams. The total fund for 2019/20, including both CCG
and Local Authority contributions, is approximately £190m, including £63m from the CCG.
We are using the Better Care Fund to deliver improved outcomes for the whole county of Dorset,
including; carer support, promoting and maintaining independent living, facilitating safe and timely
discharge from hospital, improving quality of care provided at home and in care homes and building
on existing jointly commissioned services to improve efficiency and productivity. (See page 17 for
further information.)

Cost improvement plans across all four Dorset NHS Foundation Trusts
In addition to agreeing to a 2.7% contract increase, Dorset providers have committed to delivering
cost improvement plans in the order of 3%. As part of the long-term planning for the ICS, during the
summer of 2019, the system-wide financial plan will be revisited alongside a recovery and
sustainability plan.

CCG efficiency plans (quality, innovation, productivity and prevention - QIPP)
Efficiency savings for the main CCG programmes encompass:
 continuing healthcare;
 prescribing;
 CCG running costs.
The CCG has an unidentified QIPP target of £0.735m in 2019/20. We expect to be able to allocate
this to specific schemes in the early part of the financial year and so focus on delivery and
achievement of the overall QIPP requirement.
A financial risk remains, however, as the delivery of the targeted QIPP schemes will be challenging.
Furthermore, alongside the delivery of QIPP, there are risks of over-spends and mitigating actions
will be required for any unplanned variation.
The CCG will also continue to strive to deliver QIPP above and beyond target to provide further
headroom in support of the demanding NHS transformation agenda.
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Our work programmes
Prevention at scale
Our Prevention at Scale programme is aimed at changing our system to deliver better health and
wellbeing outcomes and tackle inequalities in a way that meets the different needs of all our local
people. This programme connects with our Integrated Community and Primary Care Services and
One Acute Network, with colleagues covering the breadth of local authority services, and across the
whole system. To deliver our vision we continue to focus on four workstreams as follows:





Starting Well: effective prevention in early years and educational settings that will have a longterm impact and help children and young people using the THRIVE framework;
Living Well: support for healthy lifestyles, using LiveWell Dorset for the public and with staff,
reducing the risk of chronic disease in later life;
Ageing Well: helping those already experiencing ill-health to feel more confident and take
control of their own health and related behaviours, through working closely with local services
and organisations to build prevention into how they work;
Healthy Places: maximising the potential of our local environment and communities to improve
and support good health and wellbeing outcomes for our residents. More information can be
found here.

Key to how we work as an integrated system is the creation of the two new councils on 1 April 2019.
This will provide further opportunities for better join up and a greater focus on health and wellbeing
across the breadth of local authority functions. A good job, decent home and good relationships,
play a big part in people’s health and wellbeing; often more than the health and care services they
receive. This is where strong and effective local government can make a real difference.

Integrated community and primary care services
The integrated community and primary care services (ICPCS) investment of £6.5m is designed to
enhance and complement services we already provide for those who have very high health needs,
as well as to support providers to take a greater proactive approach to care for people with medium
intensity needs.
Three areas for investment have been identified and implementation is underway:




specialist care and rapid response for complex patients included stranded patients;
proactive ongoing care for people with medium intensity needs – long term conditions
management;
domiciliary care for very complex patients.

In addition to the above, work commenced during 2018 to map the elements of the enhanced
health in care homes (EHCH) framework (see Table 6) and agree actions and work streams required
to deliver this pan-Dorset.
Workshops have taken place in Dorset throughout the year to celebrate good practice, encourage
networking and develop relationships across the system. This work programme will continue
throughout 2019/20.
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TABLE 6: ENHANCED HEALTH IN CARE HOMES
Care model element
Clinical elements
1. Enhanced primary care support

2. Multi-disciplinary team support including
coordinated health and social care
3. Reablement and rehabilitation to promote
independence
4. High quality end of life care and dementia care
Enabler elements
5. Joined-up commissioning and collaboration
between health and social care

6. Workforce development
7.

Data IT and technology

Sub-element
Access to consistent, named GP and wider primary care services
Medicine reviews
Hydration and nutrition support
Access to out of hours/urgent care
Expert advice and support for those with the most complex needs
Helping professionals, carers and those with support needs to navigate
Aligned rehabilitation and reablement services
Developing community assets to support resilience and independence
End of life care
Dementia care
Co-production with providers and networked care homes
Shared contractual mechanisms
Access to appropriate housing options
Equality and health inequalities
Training and development for care staff
Joint workforce planning
Linked health and social care datasets
Access to the care record and secure email
Better use of technology

Better Care Fund
We have continued working in collaboration with the local authorities to support the planning and
delivery of services in relation to:







maintaining independence through integrated community equipment, assistive technologies;
early supported hospital discharge including enhanced health in care homes, seven day
services, early discharge planning;
supporting strong and sustainable care markets;
carers support;
integrating health and social care locality teams;
social prescription – enabling GPs, nurses and other primary care professionals to refer people
to a range of local non-clinical services.

The Better Care Fund continues to be our joint commissioning mechanism for services that also
cross-over into the further development of our ICPCS and integrated urgent care models of service
delivery. (see page 15 for further information)

One acute network of services
Our vision is to provide a local NHS service that is centred on the needs of local people and to
support people in Dorset to lead healthier lives, for longer. To deliver this, Dorset hospitals will
need to work together in an efficient and effective way. Currently, Dorset has three district general
hospitals providing a range of services across the county with variable standards and outcomes for
patients. In a very challenging climate which is seeing increasing shortages of specialist staff, rising
inequalities in our population and severe financial constraints with a forecasted financial gap of
£229m, it is clear that the current configuration of our hospitals is unable to meet the full range of
quality standards and is not financially viable.
The One Acute Network (OAN), established by the three acute Trusts in Dorset, has continued to
oversee the planning, preparation and implementation of the Clinical Services Review (CSR) in two
broad categories, Dorset Clinical Networks and the East Dorset Reconfiguration programme
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The Dorset Clinical Network programme has developed clinical networks across Bournemouth,
Poole and Dorset County hospitals and has established six priority workstreams: haematology,
rheumatology, urology, pathology, radiology and stroke. The workstreams are focussing on
developing a networked approach to referral and clinical pathways so that the benefits of working
together can be adopted across Dorset’s hospitals. This will mean the same high standard of care
will be delivered across Dorset no matter which hospital delivers the service. Some of the priority
areas include developing a hyper acute stroke service in East Dorset, implementing a new
pathology information system across Dorset (Dorset was the only part of the country to receive
national funding for an IT system such as this) and a focus on urology cancer referral criteria and
cancer pathways within and between hospitals.
The East Dorset reconfiguration programme has focussed on planning and designing the
reconfiguration of Bournemouth and Poole hospitals into the Major Emergency and Major Planned
hospitals. The reconfiguration programme has involved large scale clinical input across
Bournemouth and Poole to ensure clinical input leads the design process, with clinical teams
deciding future patient volumes, numbers of beds and theatres, locations of clinical functions such
as A&E or maternity and which services need to be close to others to ensure the highest quality and
most efficient service can be delivered from the reconfigured sites. Clinical teams have visited
hospitals elsewhere in the country to see the latest innovations in the NHS so these can be applied
to the new hospitals design. The intelligence from these visits has helped form part of the outline
business case due to be submitted to NHS Improvement and the Treasury in 2019 in order that the
£147m can be released to the Trusts. The merger of Bournemouth and Poole Hospitals continues
following successful completion of the NHS Improvement strategic review phase with the Trusts
progressing through the full business case stage.
In line with our STP, the OAN programme will:
 review, plan and deliver the acute reconfiguration of acute services across the hospital sites in
East and West Dorset;
 develop the clinical networking model for key services to ensure safe and sustainable services
across the county;
 develop a financially sustainable model of care that directly responds to current and projected
workforce constraints through the reconfiguration of services and the development of networks
to ensure improved outcomes and reduced mortality.
Progress to date includes:
 establishment of the Dorset Clinical Networks (DCN) programme and six priority areas as outlined
above;
 the DCN pathology programme has been successful in bidding for £5.1m for the new laboratory
information system;
 the clinical design programme continues in 3 week design sprints to ensure clinical design is at
the heart of the new estate design;
 the East Reconfiguration site master planning has been completed allowing architects to start
detailed ward level planning of the reconfigured hospitals;
 the merger patient benefit case has been completed and the trusts are progressing through the
merger full business case stage;
 Bournemouth and Poole trusts have appointed a joint Chair and a joint Chief Executive to
improve integration prior to the full merger taking place.
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Collaborative elective care pathway redesign
Across Dorset we are working closer together as one health system to ensure equity in access and
service provision for our patients. In 2018/19 we established the Dorset Elective Care Board to
provide system leadership and oversight for all elective care programmes of work.
We continued our Right Referral Right Care Programme to identify opportunities across Dorset for
improving services to provide better outcomes for patients and the best value for money. Our
programme focus on four key areas:
 Dermatology
 Cardiology
 Musculoskeletal
 Ophthalmology
Progress against each of these areas can be seen below:
Dermatology: We are committed to working with our providers to shape our local dermatology
services so that they are resilient and sustainable for the future. Actions implemented to date
include:
 procured Consultant Connect PhotoSAF app to enable primary care clinicians to take photos of
skin conditions in an Information Governance compliant manner. The app has been provided
free of charge to all GP practices in Dorset;
 promoted teledermatology and the advice and guidance service with GPs;
 arranged medical secretary training events that will ensure that this staff group develop an
improved understanding of the different tiers of dermatology service available locally;
 launched a dermatology referral template for the community and secondary care dermatology
services that assists GPs in providing the clinical history in order to triage referrals effectively;
 established an ICS Dermatology Steering Group that will be responsible for ensuring the
transformation of local dermatology services;
 enabled six GPs to undertake the Royal College of GPs (RCGP) Dermatology GP with Extended
Role (GPwER) accreditation;
 improving access to clinical supervision for dermatology GPs with Special Interest (GPwSIs) by
implementing the internal messaging functionality on the Consultant Connect app. This will
effectively allow GPSIs to instant message consultant dermatologists for advice;
 clinical engagement events were feedback and suggestions were gathered for service
improvement from local clinicians and are scoping these with a view to implement as pilots.
Cardiology: Cardiology has been a significant part of the Right Referral, Right Care work this year
and we have made progress in a number of areas. We have worked closely with stakeholders across
Dorset in a number of project areas leading to these outcomes:
 implemented clear and consistent Dorset wide pathways and protocols including the Pan Dorset
Atrial Fibrillation Pathway, the Palpitations pathway and a developing Heart Failure pathway;
 following a successful pilot of the advice and guidance service at Royal Bournemouth Hospital,
this was rolled out to Dorset County and Poole Hospitals;
 education and training programmes have been delivered to primary care teams across Dorset to
support colleagues in understanding and using the new pathways;
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 Weymouth and Portland have commenced a pilot of Open Access to Echo test for GPs enabling
patients to access services closer to home. An ambition of mobilising this county wide is hoped
for following successful completion of the pilot.
Musculoskeletal (MSK): Progress on musculoskeletal services includes:









the most significant piece of work during 2018/19 was a review of musculoskeletal
physiotherapy services in Dorset. This was an excellent example of co-production with
stakeholders and patients in the development of a future physiotherapy model. The model was
agreed in January and the next phase has begun which looks at the model in more detail to
develop its implementation. The new model will include the development of a range of ways to
access physio support;
the musculoskeletal triage service was reviewed and proposed options for improving the service
in the future whilst embedding it further within the overall MSK Pathway;
the pain service was also reviewed with the current service specification developed to ensure
the service is in line with national and local priorities. The service will be re-launching in April
2019;
a patient decision aid on hip replacement has been completed to complement the existing knee
replacement patient decision aid. The informative short film helps patients understand what is
involved with having a hip replacement to aid their decisions making on whether they want to
go ahead with the procedure;
a low back and radicular pain pathway for Dorset has been developed which is line with the
national pathway. Full implementation of each element of the pathway is scheduled for
completion by April 2019;

Ophthalmology: The Elective Care Team has undertaken some key areas of work within
ophthalmology to deliver transformation and address the growing demand for these services.
These include:
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the Evolutio Community Ophthalmology Service commenced on 1st April 2018. The service
aims to provide equitable access for patients across the whole of Dorset and reduce the number
of people referred to hospital for eye conditions that can be safely managed in a community
setting. There are now 27 community clinic locations in optician practices and other venues
across Dorset, compared to five previously;
the criteria based access protocol (CBAP) for cataract surgery has been revised to meet new
NICE guidance. The aim of these developments is to reduce wasted outpatient appointments
and to ensure that patients are fully informed and medically fit before being referred to a
hospital cataract service and surgery. Further work is also in progress to develop a patient
decision aid video to further inform people of the risks and benefits, and what to expect, when
undergoing cataract surgery;
during 2018, in collaboration with the Thomas Pocklington Trust, we hosted a number of eye
health events and workshops to review services and pathways for visually impaired people living
in Dorset. These events brought together key stakeholders from primary care, community and
hospitals, social services, voluntary sector organisations and service users. Key priorities were
identified to take forward as part of developing an Eye Health Strategy for Dorset;
a system wide demand and capacity review of all ophthalmology services was undertaken
during January to March 2019. The outcomes of this review will inform future transformational
work to ensure that ophthalmology services are sustainable and meet the needs of the Dorset
population in the long term.
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Cancer
Dorset Cancer Partnership (DCP) is formed from Dorset providers, the Clinical Commissioning
Group, Public Health, the Voluntary sector and Local Authorities. The DCP is responsible for
delivering the cancer elements of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) encompassing
the Dorset cancer plan and transforming services to deliver improved outcomes for people affected
by cancer, in line with the national and regional cancer strategies. The DCP works closely with, and
as part of, the Wessex Cancer Alliance and also is responsible for ensuring there is system wide
delivery of cancer standards.
The national strategy ‘Achieving World-Class Cancer Outcomes; A Strategy for the NHS 2015-2020’
set out the five-year national strategy for cancer services and details 96 recommendations. It is
estimated this national strategy could deliver around 30,000 additional patients surviving cancer
every year, which equates to 300 lives saved in Dorset per annum. The strategy also assumes a step
change in patient experience and quality of life.
Through this partnership working across Dorset, the DCP developed the ’Dorset Cancer Strategy
2017 – 2020 for adults and children’ using the national strategy values as its foundation. Patient and
carer engagement was at the heart of this work and we are now well into the implementation of this
strategy. The key elements of the strategy are:








a radical upgrade in prevention and public health;
achieving earlier diagnosis;
improving patient experience;
transforming the approach to people living with and beyond cancer;
ensuring end of life care planning and choices are available to all who have a terminal diagnosis;
ensuring that the necessary investment is made in treatment and diagnostic equipment;
the workforce is developed, with workforce deficits addressed, and that a more sustainable
system is created for novel cancer drugs;
 ensuring that the processes for commissioning are overhauled to include commissioning at CCG,
sub regional alliance or networks level, creation of standard metrics and pilots of new models of
care.
We are pleased to have been awarded ‘outstanding’ status for our cancer services in 2018 as part of
the NHS England STP assurance process. The overall rating is given in recognition of achieving a
range of cancer standards based on four indicators: early diagnosis, 62 day waits for treatment after
referral, one-year survival and overall patient experience.
Through our partnership with the DCP, our progress on delivering the key elements of the strategy
this year includes:
 the new Robert White Radiotherapy and Outpatient Centre has now been officially opened at
Dorset County Hospital;
 GPs from around Dorset have taken part in educational sessions to learn more about cancer
services in secondary care settings;
 GPs can now access a free-of-charge online clinical cancer learning resource for primary care
health practices. 71 GPs have so far signed up to the platform;
 improving early diagnosis rates, in particular, cancers diagnosed at stages 1 and 2;
 implementing the 28 days to diagnosis pathways in prostate and lung, with colorectal to follow,
which will reduce the maximum length of time patients wait for a diagnosis from referral;
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 changes are being made to the lung cancer pathway to implement the Optimal Lung Pathway
whereby patients will be referred sooner via a pathway that is quicker. This has been enabled by
transformational funding from NHS England;
 additional national funding has been secured from NHS England (£365,195 for Dorset) to aid the
recovery of the 62 days standard in urology for 2018/19, specifically prostate;
 supporting the introduction of new screening programmes and technologies which is key to
preventing cancer;
 the Dorset Macmillan Cancer Information (DMCI) Project helps to ensure that cancer patients,
their families and carers across Dorset are able to access information and user support in the
right place, in the right way and at the right time for their levels of need;
 Health Education England (HEE) are offering training for staff in specific areas such as endoscopy
and reporting radiography to increase the pool of eligible staff available when vacancies occur;
 engagement with people affected by cancer and the Dorset cancer patient group has been
transformed and patient representatives are truly at the heart of all planning and
implementation work.
All of this work will continue to deliver improvements in cancer outcomes for patients and support
sustained improvements against the NHS England Assurance Framework indicators for cancer.

Diabetes
Diabetes Prevention Programme: Diabetes continues to be a major issue for Dorset, along with
the rest of the UK, and in Dorset we are taking steps both to improve treatment and care and to
prevent people getting Type 2 diabetes. The ‘Healthier You’ Diabetes Prevention Programme is
now available throughout Dorset to people who have had an HbA1c test in the last year which has
shown that their blood glucose is higher than normal. Response to the programme has been
overwhelming with huge interest from clinicians and from individuals at risk. We look forward to
this continuing next year and to having some outcomes data about the people who went through
the programme in the first year.
WISDOM (Diabetes service transformation): With additional funding from NHS England, we have
put in place a programme to support general practice to improve outcomes for people with Type 2
diabetes in terms of blood pressure, cholesterol and HbA1c. So far 80 practices have signed up.
Diabetic Footcare Peer Review: Dorset has participated in a Wessex-wide peer review of diabetic
footcare services which found areas of good practice as well as areas for improvement. The
recommendations of the review were published in February 2019 and will form the basis of a new
workstream in 2019/20.

Learning disability
The Transforming Care Programme, for people with learning disabilities and/or autism and
behaviour that challenges, including those with mental health needs, was developed by NHS
England. This was as a result of the inquiry into the abuse of vulnerable people at Winterbourne
View. The three-year programme began in February 2016 and completes in March 2019. Locally
Transforming Care is a partnership between Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group, Dorset County
Council, Bournemouth Borough Council, Borough of Poole and NHS England and is governed locally
by the Dorset Transforming Care Partnership Board.
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Our key priorities include:



reducing the number of people with learning disability/autism in specialist hospitals to between
10-15 inpatients per million population (CCG commissioned placements) and 20-25 inpatients
per million population (NHS England commissioned placements) by March 2019;
increasing the percentage of people on the GP learning disability health check register
receiving an annual health check to 75% by March 2019.

Progress to date includes:














a thriving Transforming Care Partnership (TCP) and a multi-agency reference group with
providers;
joint working across health and local authorities providing effective community services and
intensive support;
success with a number of capital bids has enabled an increase in housing stock for Dorset TCP
area (17 new housing units have been made available since April 2017);
good evidence of success in the Care and Treatment review process which is effective in
avoiding hospital admissions alongside the quality of action plans which are improving;
plans in development to provide inpatient beds for assessment and treatment within Dorset to
allow patients who require treatment within a hospital setting to be cared for closed to home;
leading care education and treatment reviews for children and young people to promote multiagency approaches with the individual and their family and to seek alternatives to hospital
admission;
workshops have taken place with care and support providers to identify gaps in skills and
knowledge which has informed the TCP workforce plan;
large-scale engagement regarding person-centred planning has taken place to inform future
delivery;
joint work with families and clinicians to Development and Behaviour Pathway to support
children and young people with ASD, ADHD and other neuro-developmental conditions;
a risk register has been implemented which identifies people with learning disability and/or
autism at risk of placement breakdown or hospital admission;
a programme of quality checking of care settings and training has been delivered by selfadvocates;
targeted work has been undertaken to aid delivery of annual health-checks including
communication of resources and additional support to primary care at a locality level;
the Yellow Health Book (a tool to help people get the most from healthcare provision) has been
revised and distributed.

The Dorset Transforming Care Plan is available on the CCG website.

Mental health
We are committed to tackling mental health with the same energy and priority as we have tackled
physical illness in order to deliver parity of esteem in line with the Five Year Forward View (FYFV) for
mental health as illustrated in the STP. Through our programme we aim to:
 implement early intervention programmes to prevent the development of mental health
problems;
 support as many people as possible to stay independent through our integrated community
services;
 improve support for people at times of crisis.
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Progress to date includes:
 a mental health integrated programme board has been convened as a means of supporting and
driving the delivery of the Dorset Mental Health Delivery Plan for 2018/19. The board is cochaired by Dorset Healthcare and Dorset CCG and has strengthened the integrated system
approach;
 Steps to Wellbeing ‘Body and Mind’ has continued to develop and expand the offer of
psychological therapies for people with a long-term health condition. The initial evaluation of
the service has demonstrated a positive impact on the use of primary care services. Further work
is being undertaken to understand the wider impact on secondary care;
 Steps to Wellbeing continues to achieve high rates of recovery and continues to meet all target
trajectories for the number of people accessing the service;
 options for a new model of care for the dementia services in Dorset has been co-produced as
part of the Dementia Services Review. The aim of the new model of care is to improve the
experience of care for people being diagnosed and living with dementia. NHSE Stage 1
assurance was completed in September 2018;
 the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services Local Transformation Plan – jointly produced
with the Local Authorities – was refreshed in October 2018. This was accompanied by the
completion of a needs analysis which details achievements to date which include the
commissioning of an online counselling forum for young people – Kooth – which went live in
October 2018;
 seven additional children and young people’s emotional wellbeing practitioners have been
recruited into the service and this supporting local delivery of the Five Year Forward View access
standard;
 as part of implementing the changes agreed within the Mental Health Acute Care Pathway;
Review, four additional acute in-patient beds opened in April 2018 on the Forston Hospital site in
west Dorset and the Retreat opened in Bournemouth in April 2018. Between 25 – 45 people are
using the Retreat daily and the service is currently in the process of being evaluated as a means
of informing a similar development in the west of the county;
 procurement of Community Front Rooms and Recovery Beds has been completed with a
contract awarded to a third sector provider in October 2018. Mobilisation planning is now
progressing with a view to the service being operational from April 2018.

Maternity and children
We are committed to ensuring safe, high quality and sustainable care for all women and children,
with access to the right care at the right time across the county that embraces new models of care
and technologies, whilst maintaining cost effectiveness. This will see more of our services being
integrated and accessible for families with improved access seven days a week. We will have the
highest quality of hospital-based services for when people need them.
We have outlined our intention to maintain a consultant led maternity and overnight children’s
service in Dorchester, as well as at the major emergency hospital. Both services will form part of a
single maternity and paediatrics service for Dorset. During 2018-2020 Dorset County Hospital will
work with colleagues at Poole Hospital and Royal Bournemouth Hospital to develop a sustainable
service delivery model for families in our local communities. To ensure this work takes into account
the holistic needs of patients, engagement of colleagues from primary, community and local
authority services will also be necessary.
Maternity transformation: Dorset STP was one of seven sites nationally to have been awarded a
Better Births early adopter site. The project has been running since February 2017 and we have
been working in partnership with local women, families and professionals to co-produce models of
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care to improve postnatal care, personalised care, continuity of carer and care to vulnerable
women. The Better Births early adopter projects will continue up to 2020/21 as part of Dorset’s
Better Births maternity transformation plan.
Good progress made over the last year included:
 over 600 women, families and professionals involved in shaping Dorset early adopter
workstreams through three ‘Whose Shoes Events’ and three large stakeholder redesign events
supported by our early adopter project and Maternity Voices representatives;
 implementing recommendations from the Better Births national maternity review, that included
the early adopter project for improved postnatal care, personalised care and continuity of carer;
 during 2018/19 a business case was approved to support the increase in specialist perinatal
mental health beds approved by NHS England;
 a further bid was approved by NHS England to support the mandated expansion to increase the
number of women who have access to evidence based specialist perinatal care in partnership
across the community and inpatient pathways that is being implemented.
Our key priorities include:
 evaluating the early adopter project for improved postnatal care and personalised care;
 continuing to implement recommendations of the Better Births national maternity review
including:
 developing an implementation plan to define the best outcomes by implementing
continuity of carer for women;
 continuing to support safer maternity care so that services progress towards the 2020
national ambition to reduce stillbirths, neonatal deaths, maternal death and brain injuries
by 20% and by 50% in 2020;
 continuing to ensure that all midwives have training in screening for mental health
conditions during pregnancy, ensuring this is a feature of the delivery of maternity care as it
is a key feature in reducing indirect maternal deaths. This will be supported by a review the
Dorset perinatal mental health pathway during 19/10, including developing a Dorset
strategy.
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Children’s services
We are committed to ensuring safe, high quality and sustainable care for children and young
people, with access to the right care, from the right professional at the right time across the county.
We will embrace new models of care and technologies, whilst maintaining cost effectiveness. This
will see more of our services being integrated and accessible for children, young people and families
with improved access seven days a week. We will have the highest quality of hospital-based services
for when children and young people need them.
A key objective in children’s services is to promote multi-agency and service users working in
partnership to promote a whole system and integrated service. Progress to date includes:
 completion of a view seeking exercise to understand children’s perspectives of their health
service, undertaken by the Integrated Community Children’s Health project in partnership with
Bournemouth University. The document is available for all to read at
https://www.dorsetsvision.nhs.uk/beheard/ .
 completion of a Dorset wide children’s health needs assessment;
 development of an infographic to ease communication of needs to all services. We will use it is a
visual tool during the co-production phase of the project.

 facilitation of a coproduction event in October 2018 to understand the gaps for children and
young people to access services, challenges in communication across the system and how we
can improve working relationships. An event report will be posted on the ‘Be Heard’ web site.
This will be used to identify ideas to close the gaps and will be the focus of the second event in
February 2019;
 consultant paediatricians working alongside primary care practitioners with the aim of ensuring
the right level of care is provided; either by helping families manage their own low level health
needs, medium level by primary care, and for complex or specialist care being referred to
secondary or tertiary services;
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 identifying and developing the role of the community paediatric nursing service and how their
skills can be further used to keep children with complex health needs at home reducing
admission to hospital;
 areas of work identified across agencies that need scoping and development e.g. allergy
services, enuresis, constipation and speech and language services. The CCG will lead key services
to work in partnership to develop these services for the benefit of Dorset Children and Young
People.

Primary care
Through our Integrated Community and Primary Care Services (ICPCS) programme we will transform
general practice, primary and community health and care services in Dorset so that they are working
at the right scale, truly integrated and based on the needs of the population.
Progress includes:
 general practice quality: Practices deliver high quality primary care services to their registered
population; confirmed by reviews carried out over the last year by the Care Quality Commission,
where over 95% of Practices were found to be ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’.
 patient experience: In Dorset, over 10,000 people responded to the National Patient Survey, run
by Ipsos MORI. The results, based on their experience of healthcare services provided by GP
surgeries, conclude that 9 out of 10 patients in Dorset are positive about their GP practice. When
asked to describe the overall experience of their GP practice, nearly 90% of respondents from
Dorset responded ‘very good’ or ‘fairly good’.
 progress with delivering our local strategy: This year has seen practices continue to work well
together to deliver the ambitions as described in the General Practice Forward View and our
Primary Care Commissioning Strategy. Specifically, we have focused on a number of primary
care programme areas, including as follows:
 improved access to primary care;
 developing the primary care workforce to invest in integrated care teams;
 local plans for primary care transformation;
 involving all general practices in establishing Primary Care Networks to serve local
populations;
 estates and technology improvements;
 further strengthening plans for Dorset’s role in delegated commissioning.
 Dorset also became one of the first integrated care system sites nationally, thereby
strengthening the role of primary care locally in order to deliver the outcomes of our Clinical
Services Review.
 improving access to general practice: In Dorset the national funding allocation for improving
access to general practice has been used to support achievement of national planning
trajectories through our integrated urgent care access model and a local contract for improving
access to routine care. We successfully achieved the national target in October 2018 with a
number of NHS organisations working together across Dorset to increase general practice
services out of core hours by 45 minutes per 1,000 patients leading to approximately an
additional 31,000 hours of care delivered in local communities.
 developing our workforce: The Primary Care Workforce Centre (PCWC) continues to go from
strength to strength building on a partnership with Bournemouth University, Health Education
England Wessex and the Wessex Deanery. This year the PCWC has focused on recruitment and
retention including development of new roles in general practice, for example, clinical
pharmacists and paramedics, with further plans to introduce a GP passport scheme so GPs will
be able to more effectively work across Dorset’s integrated care system.
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 local plans for primary care transformation: Dorset continues to invest in primary care to
transform the way in which care is delivered to local people. This supports the GP Forward
View’s national programmes and investments. New service initiatives have been implemented
and/or planned, such as: effective management of medical correspondence to improve the way
in which general practices receive and manage information (releasing time for care); GP on-line
consultations to enable patients to access care and advice remotely; and care navigation to help
patients to be actively signposted to the right services.
 developing primary care networks: Practices have come together collectively to develop local
primary care networks, supporting populations of approximately 30,000 to 50,000. The aim of
which is to strengthen cross-organisational working, so that service delivery is more person
centred and less fragmented/with increased coordination to subsequently maintain and/or
improve health and wellbeing. Fifteen networks are currently in development and further
investment is planned, so that this work can continue next year. Five Dorset networks have been
formally recognised and now joined the national community of practice, Dorset is working with
NHS England and the National Association of Primary Care to ensure local development
continues to support network maturity.
 estates and technology improvements: We have been working to support the General Practice
Forward View commitment for more modernised buildings and better use of technology to help
improve general practice services to patients. This year significant progress has been made on
this five-year investment programme which includes a number of premises’ improvements,
replacement of Wareham Health Centre, relocation of Carlisle House surgery in Poole and
refurbishment of Parkstone Health Centre. Primary care infrastructure will continue to be
invested in over the next few years to support delivery of new care models working closely with
local authority partners to be able to respond to strategic plans for housing development and
associated population growth.
 primary care commissioning: We continue to work closely with NHS England to ensure we
maintain the quality and required outcomes for delegated commissioning and contracting. This
year has seen a review of CCG responsibilities for primary care finance, practice mergers and
closures, as well as commissioning of new care pathways for frailty. In all areas, we were able to
demonstrate a substantial level of assurance.
 personalisation: We signed up to the delivery of the Personalised Care programme on behalf of
Dorset’s Integrated Care System. Personalised care means empowering people to have greater
choice and control over the way their health and care is delivered. Dorset are demonstrating the
spread, scale and sustainability of the personalisation approach. A key component of this work
sits within the provision of the MyMHealth application, a proactive and universal digital offer of
support to people with long term conditions, enabling them to build their knowledge, skills and
confidence, leading to an improved ability to self-manage.

Enabling programmes
Leading and working differently
To enable us to transform services set out in our STP we need to work more closely across different
organisational boundaries for the benefit of patients. We also need to work together to address our
workforce challenges, so we will work collectively as a system to deliver integrated seamless services,
and to maintain and develop skills and capabilities.
We have worked across the system to develop the Leading and Working Differently Strategy, which
has identified the following five work streams:
 development of our leaders;
 recruitment and retention of our staff;
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 developing our staff;
 supporting staff through change;
 workforce planning and supply.
These priorities include designing and embedding a leadership and culture change framework,
retaining and attracting our workforce through a one Dorset recruitment approach and the design and
delivery of system wide/multi organisation and multi professional development opportunities.
Progress to date includes:
 establishing an operating model for system wide workforce development, with a clear mandate
to work with, and alongside, our partner organisations to deliver and drive workforce solutions;
 an emerging Dorset wide workforce planning and redesign framework which aligns to our
priority sustainability and transformation plans. Automated workforce data intelligence for NHS
and primary care is now embedded;
 securing strategic investment from ICS growth monies, to sponsor a cohort of 50 Registered
Degree Nurse Apprenticeships, starting in September 2019, recruited from school, colleges
leavers and mature applicants;
 thirty new programmes have been procured/developed in the last 18 months,
 supporting over 2,000 (non-medical) students every year with demand growing as a result of the
new programmes.
 launching www.joinourdorset.nhs.uk in October 2018 alongside a social media campaign and
marketing plan;
 launching the Our Dorset Passport in October 2018, primarily to support bank and rostering for
general practice; however, over the last six months the passport has been expanded significantly
to include other services including integrated urgent care and other professions including nurses,
paramedics and volunteers;
 a Talent Board has been established to drive our Talent Management aspirations and approach.

Digitally-enabled Dorset
Our vision is to support the transforming health and social care system in Dorset with the adoption
and exploitation of the best technology available to support frontline staff. Local people and
sustainable delivery of better outcomes are at the core of everything we do. We will ensure
appropriate digital services safely empower people in their homes, communities and care settings.
Our strategy has four workstreams which are:






shared care records – will support the delivery of joined up, seamless care through sharing the
right information at the right time, including child protection and looked after children
information;
intelligent working – will enable greater analytical intelligence of existing data to support
service planning and design, whilst delivering answers to our population health and risk
stratification questions;
empowering self-care – will support people to confidently manage their long term conditions,
facilitate and encourage digital skills development for the population working with Clinical
teams to enable greater use of technology to champion self-care making the prevention at scale
agenda accessible to all;
enabling technologies – will enable staff to be more mobile, and have access to the
technologies they need regardless of organisation.
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Progress includes:





moving to a system wide architecture (moving from N3 to Health and Social Care Network),
designing a single telephony network for the County, implementing windows 10 to support
wider cyber security work;
launching the Dorset Care Record to enable patients to only tell their story once;
implementing a digital first approach for patients through e-consult and self-care applications.
working with NHS England Public Health to support the implementation of digital Child Health
Service ensuring its links with Local Health and Care Record Exemplar (LHACRE).

During 2019/20 we will continue to ensure that we develop, implement and support the use of
digital technologies to improve patient care and better support front line staff; ensuring where
possible we have single approach for Dorset.
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Improving the quality of services
This section describes our commitment to quality improvement and shows how we
discharge our duty to improve quality under Section 14R of the Health and Social Care Act
2012

Urgent and emergency care
The Dorset Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) Delivery Board continues to operate with good levels
of engagement from all system partners. The purpose of this board is to oversee the operations of
Dorset’s urgent and emergency care system, alongside the transformation programme. The board
includes representatives from other areas of the ICS transformation portfolios in order to ensure
connections and interdependencies are identified and effectively managed.
Progress to date includes:
 NHS 111 online service went live in July 2018 and currently has the highest usage rate in the
south west. Dorset continues to support and share learning with other CCGs;
 the contract for a new integrated urgent care service (IUCS) for Dorset has been awarded to
Dorset Healthcare as a lead provider, working in partnership with Royal Bournemouth Hospital,
Poole General Hospital, Dorset County Hospital and South Western Ambulance Trust. The
Dorset IUCS will consist of 111, a clinical assessment service, primary care out of hours
(comprising of the current GP out of hours service and the night nursing service), routine and
urgent improved access to GP service (IAGPS) activity. This new service will make it easier for
people to access urgent NHS care and advice when it is needed. It will offer more care closer to
home and in the community, reducing the numbers of people attending accident and emergency
departments or needing hospital admission;
 additional GP clinical support in the hub launched on 4 December 2018 on a phased basis and
will run until the go live date for the integrated urgent care service; to provide advice and
guidance to paramedics and health care professionals, facilitate direct access, will also provide
support for care and residential homes;
 to support the ambulance transformation programme and delivery of the ambulance response
programme (ARP) standards a conveyance action plan is in place and being progressed through
the Ambulance Pillar Group;
 Dorset CCG continues to perform the role of regional coordinating commissioner for the South
Western Ambulance Services Foundation Trust 999 contract, supported by the Ambulance
Strategic Partnership Board (ASPB), which consists of membership from the ten CCGs and seven
STPs across the south west region. Principles have been agreed for a 2-year transition plan with
the aim to achieve the national ambulance response programme (ARP) standards through
investment and transformation. This is underpinned by a new financial framework which was
agreed and signed off by all 10 CCGs in November 2018. ORH Ltd has been jointly commissioned
to undertake the modelling work which will define ARP improvement trajectories by CCG/STP
and this work is expected to be complete by the end of March 2019 – this work has been
incorporated into new 999 contract.
The 2019/20-2020/21 regional 999 contract was signed by all 10 CCGs and took into account the
outputs of the Carter review, the Spring review and the Commissioning Framework published in
September 2018.
Options for a new commissioning model for regional ambulance commissioning integrating with
urgent and emergency care networks are currently being considered and are expected to be
agreed and implemented during the second quarter of 2019/20;
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Weymouth and Bournemouth urgent treatment centres have electronic direct booking. Poole
centre will follow suit later in 2019;
 a review of the Falls Strategy was completed in December 2018 and planning for
implementation is now underway;
 dedicated focussed work continues on stranded patients and weekly calls are progressing the
most complex cases. £257k of transformation funding has been used to support schemes within
the three acute hospitals with performance being monitored through the Urgent and Emergency
Care Delivery Board;
 a systems resilience tool being developed to support our system wide resilience and escalation
work.

Emergency preparedness resilience and response (EPRR)
The last 12 months has seen unprecedented EPRR challenges within the NHS. The response of
trusts in Wiltshire to the chemical attacks in Salisbury and Amesbury was prolonged and complex.
South Western Ambulance Service Foundation Trust were committed to both incidents following a
period of extremely high demand across the region. Dorset itself was secondarily affected by the
chemical attacks in Wiltshire but other challenges registered a more direct impact on the Dorset
Integrated Care System in 2018.
Last winter also presented Dorset with above average rates of seasonal influenza, norovirus, cases
of avian flu and an extended Klebsiella outbreak at Poole Hospital Foundation Trusts. Whilst these
are all common infectious diseases which the NHS plans to manage there were clear impacts upon
business continuity management through staffing levels and access to premises which ultimately
reduces the capacity in trusts.
We focused on the developing situation of the UK’s departure from the European Union on
29 March 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care is taking steps to provide local links
coving the cascade key information and processes for next year. We have also committed to
cooperate with the local resilience forum command structure which is planned to operate twice
daily calls for 12 weeks following the EU Exit.

Emergency preparedness resilience and response assurance
Dorset’s three acute trusts and community healthcare provider are required to rate themselves
against the emergency preparedness resilience and response (EPRR) core standards matrix as part
of the annual EPRR assurance process. The provider’s assurance scores were submitted with
supporting evidence in August 2018. In its role as the lead commissioner for South Western
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWASFT), we also undertook EPRR assurance with the
ambulance provider on behalf of all other commissioning bodies in the south west of England.
The agreed assurance position of each provider was ratified at the Dorset Local Health Resilience
Partnership on 17 October 2018. All five trusts and the CCG were assessed to have been at least
substantially compliant with the EPRR core standards, with the exception of SWASFT who were
fully compliant. The annual assurance progress does not end in October; quarterly EPRR
improvement planning meetings will now take place between the CCG and each trust where any
outstanding areas are monitored.
As preparations increase for the European Union exit, including the reliance on existing EPRR
command structures, Dorset’s adherence with the core standards takes on an even greater focus.
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Promoting equality and addressing health inequalities
We are committed to ensuring that we reduce health inequalities and that we have the needs of our
communities at the heart of our communities at the heart of our commissioning functions. We
recognise that people access services and need support in a range of different ways. Our challenge
is to understand these communities, engage effectively with them and then commission services to
meet their local needs. Health inequalities also form part of our prevention at scale programme
(see page 16 for further detail). This is in line with our duty to reduce inequalities under section 14T
of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
We acknowledge the right of every person to live a life free from harm and abuse. We acknowledge
our statutory responsibility to promote the welfare of children and young people and to protect
adults from abuse and risk of harm. We will ensure that there is a culture of listening to and
engaging in dialogue with vulnerable groups, taking account of wishes and feelings both in
individual decisions and the establishment or development and improvement of services.
We are keen to build on the work already undertaken in previous years, developing a strong and
effective approach to our Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and will continue to ensure that, as
commissioners, our providers of services have also considered all elements of the community and
can evidence how they have taken into consideration the needs of diverse communities throughout
Dorset in their provision of health services. Promoting equality and addressing health inequalities is
a priority for us as commissioners, employers and system leaders.
During 2018 there have been many developments in terms of championing equality and diversity,
raising awareness and building support systems for commissioners to make more equitable
decisions.
Progress to date includes:











undertaking and publishing our equality delivery system grading system, which identified top
priorities from both public and staff which we are adopting as our objectives;
updating equality impact assessment template to aid continuous improve, introducing an extra
layer of check and challenge;
launched of Our People and Culture programme, to ensure we have the values, behaviours and
strengths needed to support us as Dorset progresses as an integrated care system;
launched a calendar of support for staff which included, sexual harassment, mental health, age,
discrimination of LGBT, race and disability and mindfulness;
following up on actions from the workforce race equality standard findings;
continuing to work in partnership with our main NHS providers to ensure compliance with their
contractual obligations through quality review meetings with providers;
publishing our gender pay gap;
building on progress made on accessible communications with a new website; supporting
development of ‘Maternity Matters’ in Dorset website; using web portals and social media of
voluntary sector partners to ensure our campaigns, health alerts are featured;
a Public Engagement Group, which is part of Dorset’s approach to public engagement with the
Sustainability and Transformation Plan;
we continue to work with partners, including Dorset Association of Parish and Town Councils,
to capture wider stakeholder insight from local communities.

The full annual report for equality, diversity and inclusion 2018 can be found on our website.

May 22, 2019

33

Performance

Joint strategic needs assessment
We are members of the Health and Wellbeing Commissioning Intelligence group with local
authorities, public health and the voluntary sector, which leads the development of the Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA). We engaged with and supported the development of the
JSNA thematic summaries. This is in line with section 116B(1)(b) of the Local Government and
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.
A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a way the local NHS, in partnership with local
authorities and other public sector partners, works collaboratively to understand the current and
future health and wellbeing needs of its local population and identifies future priorities.
Public Health Dorset co-ordinate the JSNA on behalf of the Dorset Health and Wellbeing Board and
the Bournemouth and Poole Health and Wellbeing Board. The JSNA documents will be made
available on the Public Health Dorset website as they are developed, working jointly with Health
and Wellbeing Board partners through a Health and Wellbeing Commissioning Intelligence Group,
which includes the CCG. These can be viewed via http://www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/JSNA.htm
or direct at http://www.publichealthdorset.org.uk/our-partners/
The JSNA helps our understanding of the local demographics and health needs of the local
population, the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 and other data intelligence produced either
locally or nationally.
In the production of our Annual Report and Accounts we have engaged with our Health and
Wellbeing Boards to seek their views on how we have worked with them in delivering the priorities
set out in the Health and Wellbeing Boards and the production of the JSNA.

Safeguarding adults
We are a statutory partner of both Dorset, Bournemouth and Poole Safeguarding Adults Boards
(SABs). To assure that the Care Act and the statutory framework for adult safeguarding is being
embedded into practice. The duty of the statutory framework is for partner agencies to work
together to keep adults at risk of harm, safe from abuse whilst also adopting the principles of
wellbeing, early intervention, prevention and safeguarding in practice. The three local authorities
are currently consolidating to produce two unitary authorities under the Local Government Review,
this will however not have major changes to the configuration of the Board.
The SAB also has a duty to commission safeguarding adult reviews (SARs) when an adult at risk has
died or been seriously harmed as a result of abuse or neglect. There have been a number of cases
discussed throughout the year, but all have been managed through either multi agency case audit
or through the Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) with outcomes being fed back to the
SAR subgroup to be assured learning has been captured and influences practice.
The multi-agency risk management (MARM) guidance is embedded into practice to support the risk
management of individuals who do not meet the criteria for a section 42 adult safeguarding
enquiry. The criteria for a section 42 adult safeguarding enquiry is:
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where the individual has care and support needs (whether or not the Local Authority is meeting
any of these needs); and
is experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; and
as a result of those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves from either the risk
of, or the experience of abuse or neglect.
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We actively contribute to the policy and procedures and quality assurance sub group to develop
procedures and guidance to support practitioners in the delivery of robust safeguarding
mechanisms to reduce the risk of harm and neglect. Consideration to the safeguarding preventive
agenda has been undertaken to assure the SAB is working in close collaboration with the Local
Safeguarding Children’s Boards (LSCB) and the three local Community Safety Partnerships (CSP).
This has included work around learning and how it is transferred into practice, whole service
approach to domestic abuse following domestic homicide reviews and strengthening the whole
family approach. Considerable work continues to be undertaken to assure primary care has a
safeguarding and domestic abuse lead in each GP practice. Training has been arranged and
delivered to the GP leads to include coercion, control, stalking and harassment, as well as
adolescent on parent abuse.
Our safeguarding team works with the Mental Capacity Act teams based within the local authorities
to oversee the outcomes from the Mental Capacity (Amendment) Bill introduces the Liberty
Protection Safeguards (LPS) to replace the current Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). The
Bill been passed by the House of Commons with proposed implementation in spring 2020.
Relationships continue to be strengthened between the safeguarding team and commissioning
managers to assure adult safeguarding is embedded into the developing integrated care system.
The triangulation of information from safeguarding, risk management, complaints, quality
assurance and medicines management teams to ensure significant incidents that may have a
safeguarding component are reported appropriately. Integrated work continues in collaboration
with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to identify any poor practice identified through
safeguarding within care homes and domiciliary care providers so that targeted support can be
offered to make improvements or undertake whole scale safeguarding reviews.
The Governing Body receives annual training and a regular report of the action updates from the
safeguarding adult and domestic homicide reviews which allow an opportunity to influence local
care pathways to safeguard adults in line with the Care Act, CQC regulations and core standards for
safeguarding.

Patient safety and risk
Our patient safety and risk team ensures that a proactive safety and risk culture is embedded within
the CCG and across our health community.
We are committed to a risk management framework that facilitates the identification, analysis,
management, monitoring, prioritisation and mitigation of risks that threaten the delivery of our
strategic objectives. Unmanaged risk can impact upon every aspect of activity in which we are
engaged and this can affect people, assets, our organisation and reputation. We are not aiming to
create a risk-free environment, but rather one in which risk is considered as a matter of course.
To this end, the patient safety and risk team are responsible for maintaining the corporate risk
register and Governing Body assurance framework, through engagement with the Directors and
directorate risk leads, and providing the Governing Body and delegated sub-committees with
regular and detailed updates. The team is additionally developing a process for the management
and mitigation of ‘system risks’ across the health community. This involves identifying the risk
appetite for providers in Dorset and how these risks can be managed across all organisations where
they may impact on the community as a whole.
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We work closely with all healthcare providers to continually develop and promote learning from
serious incidents (including never events) and adverse incidents, whilst seeking assurance that
appropriate and timely action is taken to mitigate against future events. This includes scoping
national learning from the NHS Improvement National Reporting and Learning Service, the Health
Service Investigation Bureau’s reports and investigations, clinical audits and best practice
guidelines. Where appropriate, we also work with providers to ensure that learning is shared within
the health community. We take particular interest in the exercise of Statutory Duty of Candour in
order to support public confidence in NHS services. The team has also taken recent responsibility
for ensuring that the learning disabilities mortality review (LeDeR - learning from deaths of people
with learning disabilities) process is complied with across Dorset.
We are additionally responsible for ensuring that our procedural documents are maintained and
reviewed according to an agreed schedule and made available via our intranet and public-facing
website where appropriate.

Infection prevention and control
We work in partnership with local providers to ensure effective practice in the prevention of
healthcare associated infections. In total, five MRSA bacteraemia cases were reported with one
case attributed to a trust outside of the county, one to acute Trust within Dorset and three
community onset cases This is a significant reduction of 50% compared with last year (10 cases).
The following table demonstrates position for clostridium difficile cases reported for Dorset
providers for 2018/2019.
TABLE 7: INFECTION CONTROL – CLOSTRIDIUM DIFFICILE
2018/ 19

Target
2018/19

Total for year to date
2018/19

13
14
13
12
203

6
16
6
9
149
90

Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch
Dorset HealthCare
Dorset CCG cluster total
Dorset CCG community onset cases

We review all community attributed clostridium difficile cases to ascertain any learning for primary
care practitioners as part of ongoing work to improve anti-microbial prescribing compliance.
Following the challenge to reduce gram-negative bacilli by 50% by 2021, we have been working to
establish risk factors locally and to reduce risk. In order to identify risks, we have worked with the
hospital trusts to examine the E. coli cases to establish themes and areas of improvement.
TABLE 8: INFECTION CONTROL – E.COLI BACTERAEMIA
2018/19
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch
Dorset CCG cluster total
Community onset

36

Total for year to date
2018/19
21
32
58
792
591
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A three months enhanced surveillance was undertaken from April to June 2018 to collect risk factor
information and further details on the underlying source of infection of E. coli identified from blood
cultures. A total of 97 cases of community onset E. coli bacteraemia were included from 44 general
practitioner surgeries across Dorset. This data will be used to compare current surveillance for
quarter 3 2018/19.

Safeguarding children
We are a statutory member of both Local Safeguarding Children’s Boards (LSCB) – Dorset, and
Bournemouth and Poole. We continue to be an active member of the Boards’ sub-groups and are
collaborating with the Local Authorities (LA) to implement the new arrangements for safeguarding
required since the publication of Working Together (2018) by April 2019. The arrangements for child
death review in Dorset is also being assessed to ensure the national requirements are fulfilled as
identified in the new child death review guidance under Working Together (2018).
Communication plans and a multi-agency LSCB training strategy has been developed to support
the implementation of learning from Serious Case Reviews and the actions required following
inspections by regulatory bodies that have taken place this year. As the specific inspections of LA
areas have indicated cross cutting themes a pan Dorset response and action plan has been
developed for overall service improvement which will include review of the multi-agency
safeguarding hub processes. Progress of the health provider actions is monitored by the CCG
quality assurance groups.
The focus of the safeguarding children and young people in health group will be developing the
quality assurance of service delivery. Through this group, work has commenced to drive the whole
family approach and strengthening the integration between child and adult safeguarding.
The named safeguarding GPs have led quality assurance visits to all GP practices in Dorset to gain
assurance that all practices are meeting their statutory child and adult safeguarding function.
Developments around aligning the section 11 requirements with adult safeguarding has been
undertaken in collaboration with the Local Medical Committee and was seen as an area of good
practice. Peer supervision sessions have continued throughout the year as well as structured
training sessions. Named GPs have led on a dedicated work stream with reference to the shielding
of records for adopted children and individuals with gender re- assignment to seek assurance that
children only have one set of health records.
The CCG Governing Body has received training and receives regular reports which allow the
opportunity to consider the actions required from local reports, changes to the national and local
programmes in order to safeguard children in line with CQC and core standards for safeguarding
and children in care.

Looked after children
Looked after children (LAC) and young people share many of the same health risks and problems as
their peers, but often to a greater degree. They often enter care with a worse level of health than
their peers, due to experience of, and the impact of poverty, abuse and neglect. Longer term
outcomes for looked after children remain worse than their peers.
2018/19 has seen a busy year working with our commissioned providers in implementing the new
service model. The Designated Doctor and Nurse meet regularly with the Named Nurse for LAC to
review progress and to ensure the overall plan for improvement is being met. These meetings have
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enabled open dialogue between us, Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and Dorset HealthCare
University NHS Foundation Trust to ensure all partners are sighted on progress, developments,
challenges and opportunities to deliver high quality LAC services.
A recent inspection by CQC (October 2018) acknowledge good governance arrangements in place
for looked after children services. The Designated Nurse for looked after children is employed
separately by the CCG; this ensures that any conflict of interest is minimised and enables
independent scrutiny of the providers’ performance. These have included the use of a performance
scorecard to report to the trust’s leadership internally, and to commissioners and corporate
parenting boards externally. The scorecard gives leaders good oversight of the data about looked
after children. It also presents a clear picture of the effectiveness of the providers in assessing the
needs of looked after children and enabling them to receive health care that meets those needs.
The development of the LAC Medical Service under direction by the new Designated Doctor for
LAC has seen improved quality in the completion of Initial Health Assessments (IHA) and the early
indication of health needs for children on entry to care. The training and development of medical
advisors in life style indicators with the introduction of a prompt card to allow for stop and think risk
for children in a busy clinic environment. IHA performance remains variable across all three local
authorities, this is contributed to the complexity surrounding the accommodation of children into
the care system; oversight and partnership commitment with our local authority colleagues is in
place to improve and sustain performance.
A new referral process is in place for professionals to use, linking with the LAC emotional health and
wellbeing pathway. The implementation of this pathway will support children who do not meet the
threshold for children and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) yet still require emotional
support or children who have been discharged from CAMHS and would benefit from additional less
intensive intervention. CQC inspectors saw that this had benefitted a number of children whose
records we reviewed, including one child who was still in primary school.
The introduction of three monthly reviews of LAC health status was identified by CQC, (October
2018) as innovative practice in maintaining oversight of looked after children and their health and
safety needs and the inspectors examined positive results of the process in records examined and in
discussion with practitioners and LAC.
Views of looked LAC, care leavers, their parents and /or carers in relation to service is routinely
sought. This February saw our first health conference for LAC, care leavers and their parents and/or
cares. The theme was Be Healthy, Build Resilience Be Happy. During the day views on what we do
well and areas we could improve were sought.

Care homes
Throughout 2018/19 the quality assurance team has continued to carry out quality assurance visits
to independent care providers, including care homes, domiciliary agencies and learning disability
residential homes. The team are allocated to localities to whom they provide support, for example,
over the winter months the team took responsibility for paying individual visits to the homes in their
locality to promote the uptake of the flu vaccination.
The sixth annual care home conference took place in September 2018, the conference was
promoted particularly for nurses and senior care workers. The title was ‘promoting positive practice’
and we were very pleased to welcome Professor Jane Reid and Lesley Mackenzie from the Wessex
Patient Safety Collaborative as our key speakers. Other guest speakers and stall holders provided
opportunities for registered nurses and senior care workers to refresh their knowledge.
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The quality assurance team work in partnership with our local authorities and these relationships
will continue while they transition through the local government review process. Working closely
with both our internal and external stakeholders is an integral part of ensuring we promote best
practice and quality improvements across the key outcomes of the service specification.

Personal health commissioning
During 2018 the Continuing Healthcare Team expanded and is now responsible for a number of
health funding streams. These are:








NHS continuing healthcare (CHC);
funded nursing care;
children and young people’s continuing care;
fast track (end of life);
funded out of hospital (interim health services to enable timely hospital discharge);
Section 117 (mental health aftercare services);
complex rehabilitation on a case by case basis for those with a brain injury.

As these funding streams now sit within the CHC team and are not all to do with CHC the team has
rebranded itself and is now known as the Personal Health Commissioning Team. This is because
the basis of their work is to commission care to meet individual’s health and social care on a case by
case basis depending on what that individual’s needs are within the funding streams available.
Demand for our services has been unprecedented throughout 2018. As a consequence, we are
facing an extremely difficult financial position going into 2019. Known challenges include:





complexity of health needs resulting in increasing care costs of £5.6 million;
challenges in maintaining and increasing capacity within the care market to meet increasing
demand across health and social care;
an increase in referrals for fast track with Dorset being one of the largest recipients of such
referrals in England;
children with complex health needs, who are surviving after birth, including 24/7 ventilated
care within the community has increased.

To alleviate these challenges, the Personal Commissioning Team have continued to work with their
local authority partners to ensure a more integrated and joined up approach to working which
includes:








two new learning disability frameworks went live on 1 April 2019, one has been developed in
conjunction with Dorset County Council, the other with Bournemouth and Poole local
authorities. These will support the Better Care Fund strong and sustainable market
workstream;
the team have developed a new residential care pricing tool as a part of Segment 3 of the
Dorset Care Framework. Due to a lower than expected take up, the Dorset residential care
pricing tool is still being progressed, with further work is taking place to increase both take up
and market coverage. This will provide an innovative fixed cost model for residential nursing
care, one that is attracting interest from other CCG’s;
expanding personal health budgets in line with NHS England’s targets for April 2019;
trialling different ways of working, such as being a part of the Locality Hubs alongside our
community providers and local authority partners to share knowledge and increase
opportunities to personalise care to meet the needs of patients;
joint training in respect of the new CHC Operational Framework introduced in October 2018.
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A transformation lead has been engaged who will be responsible for redesigning processes, leading
IT system implementations and providing assistance in shaping the newly branded ‘Personal Health
Commissioning’ service. This provides an exciting opportunity to improve the customer experience
while ensuring we have a fair, consistent and effective service aligned to legislative frameworks and
which enable us to deliver the outcomes expected by NHS England, with whom we are working
closely via the CHC Strategic Improvement Programme. In particular, work is progressing to test
different ways of managing the high number of fast track applications received. In turn this will
enable us to not only influence and inform National Policy but also our commissioning strategy
longer term, as to how end of life care can be met through an integrated care system.

Medicines management and prescribing
In 2018/19 the medicines team continued to review and update the pan Dorset formulary, with
particular changes coming from national guidance on low value medicines and over the counter
medicines which should not be routinely prescribed in primary care.
A savings plan for medicines has focussed on these national recommendations to reduce
prescribing, as well as locally identified savings. The medicines team continues to answer over 1700
queries from general practices per year about prescribing recommendations and the formulary.
The medicines team ensures the CCG meets statutory responsibilities for making medicines with a
positive National Institute for Health and Care Excellence technical appraisal (NICE TA) available on
the formulary within 90 days of publishing, as well as fast track items for adoption within 30 days.
During 2018/19, six medicines received positive appraisals and one received negative appraisals
which are both our commissioning responsibility. A member of the medicines team is now a NICE
associate which helps ensure that the CCG and the system keeps abreast of NICE
recommendations.
The CCG achieved national quality measures for the safer use of antibiotics through reductions in
prescribing of all antibiotics, as well as the treatment of urinary tract infection where there are some
antibiotics known to cause problems with resistance.
The medicines team undertook locality prescribing visits, looking at prescribing across localities of
member practices in the CCG to advise on safe and cost effective prescribing, benchmarking, as
well as supporting the medicines and prescribing agenda at locality level. Specific safety promotion
items for 2018/19 include audits of direct oral anticoagulants and Amiodarone following safety
concerns.
In association with the Local Pharmaceutical Committee, Academic Health Science Network and
NHS Digital the CCG held an event to promote electronic repeat dispensing (eRD) for the Poole
area. There was great attendance and all enthusiasm was followed up with visits by CCG & LPC
teams. Outcomes are under evaluation before further roll out.
The CCG, as part of the Dorset system has been successful in developing and winning bids for
funding from the NHS England pharmacy integration fund to get pharmacists embedded in care
homes and urgent care. In addition, a number of practices and locality areas have included
pharmacists as part of skill mixed integrated primary care and community services and as practice
employed. The presence of pharmacists in these settings should improve the quality and frequency
of medication reviews and reduce inappropriate polypharmacy and harm from medicines.
The chief pharmacists in Dorset were successful in being awarded NHS England pharmacy
integration funding to support the development of system leadership in pharmacy as part of the
developing Dorset Integrated Care system. This includes developing a role for a system lead
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pharmacist to ensure that medicines optimisation and pharmacy are represented at the highest
levels of the system.

NHS Constitution
The NHS Constitution sets out rights for patients, public and staff. It outlines NHS commitments as
well as the responsibilities that the public, patients and staff owe to one another to ensure that the
NHS operates fairly and effectively. The rights are underpinned by a series of pledges, one of which
is that patients have the right to access NHS services, and will not be refused access on
unreasonable grounds. The NHS Constitution can be found on our website.
We aim to commission services in a way that sets out clearly what patients, the public and staff can
expect from the NHS and in return, what the NHS expects from them. A lot of good practice has
been identified within the organisation which demonstrates consideration to the Constitution’s
principles, values, rights and pledges. Patients are at the heart of everything we do and some case
studies which demonstrate this can be found on Our Dorset website.
We continue to work with staff to promote the NHS Constitution to ensure that it’s principles are
embedded within our organisation.
The seven principles that guide the NHS are:








the NHS provides a comprehensive service, available to all;
access to NHS services is based on clinical need, not an individual’s ability to pay;
the NHS aspires to the highest standards of excellence and professionalism;
the patient will be at the heart of everything the NHS does;
the NHS works across organisational boundaries;
the NHS is committed to providing best value for taxpayers’ money;
the NHS is accountable to the public, communities and patients that it serves.

The NHS Constitution’s values provide common ground for co-operation to achieve shared
aspirations at all levels of the NHS. These values are:






working together for patients;
respect and dignity;
commitment to quality of care;
compassion;
improving lives.

We have a duty to promote the NHS Constitution in the exercise of our functions, which means:



act with a view to ensure that health services are provided in a way which promotes the NHS
Constitution;
promote its awareness among patients, staff and members of the public.

To heighten public awareness of people’s rights in the NHS Constitution we provided an
explanatory stand at the Annual General Meeting on 5 July 2018 and have a separate dedicated
page on our website. Further information on engagement can be found on page 44.
Further information on our performance in respect of the NHS Constitution can be seen on page 8.
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Freedom of information
The Freedom of Information Act 2000 provides members of the public with a general right of access
to recorded information held by us, subject to certain conditions and exemptions. This includes, but
is not limited to, how we commission services, how much they cost and our targets and results.
Anyone can request information recorded and held by us, and by law we must respond to the
requests. We are committed to the disclosure of information requested under the Freedom of
Information (FOI) Act. This is in line with our open and honest approach to dealing with requests for
information, and also our responsibility as a public organisation. Examples of requests cover areas
such as, planned expenditure on services for disabled children and their families, female cancerrelated fertility preservation cycles and policies for base of thumb arthritis.
The information assurance framework monitors performance in relation to responding to FOI
requests in order to maintain and improve compliance with national legal requirements and CCG
guidelines. The compliance rate with the statutory timeframe for FOI responses (within 20 working
days) was 97% in 2018/19 which was the same as 2017/18.
TABLE 9: FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
Year
2018/19
2017/18

Freedom of Information request responses
No. of requests received
No. responded to by timescale
255
247
315
305

%
97%
97%

We are required to proactively publish and maintain a Publication Scheme. This sets out key
documents we have published under the classifications outlined by the Information Commissioner’s
Office. This is available via our website.
We have also received 11 requests under the Data Protection Act 1998 and Access to Health
Records Act 1990, 10 of which were responded to within the statutory timescales.
More information on information governance can be found on in the governance statement on
page 71.

Friends and family test
The Friends and Family Test (FFT) continues to be collected across acute, community and GP
services. The FFT is a tool that supports obtaining feedback from people using NHS services.
The feedback across Dorset remains consistently good with high levels of satisfaction reported in
emergency departments, inpatient services, maternity services and outpatient units. The latest
available results are reflected in table 10.
.

42

May 22, 2019

Performance
TABLE 10: FRIENDS AND FAMILY TEST
Provider name
A&E responses

Inpatients

Outpatients

Ambulance ‘See and Treat’
Community providers
Maternity
Mental health

Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth Hospital
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth Hospital
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth Hospital
South Western Ambulance
Dorset HealthCare
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Dorset HealthCare

Percentage likely to
recommend
85%
88%
89%
99%
98%
99%
94%
94%
98%
100%
91%
98%
100%
97%

Complaints
As part of our commitment to continually improve the quality of local health services we value all
feedback we receive, either as a complaint or praise. This information is used to support us in
managing our performance and highlighting any areas where we could make improvements.
All complaints received are responded to individually and through the CCG concerns, resolutions
and learning group, the lessons learned from complaints are used to improve practice, systems and
processes. This results in an improved experience for all.
To ensure that complaints are viewed and monitored at the highest level the:



CCG Chief Officer reviews all complaints responses;
Audit and Quality Committee receive regular reports detailing complaints received and how
they have been handled.

Our complaints policy and procedure has adopted the principles as outlined in the Parliamentary
and Health Service Ombudsman’s principles of good complaints handling, principles of good
administration and principles of remedy.
Our professional practice lead works closely with local health service providers, monitoring the
standard of complaints handling, ensuring all complainants are informed of their statutory rights
under the NHS Constitution. Which includes being given the information of the NHS complaints
service provided by a local advocacy team and the option to take their complaint to the
Parliamentary and Health Ombudsman if they are not satisfied with the way the complaint has
been dealt with.
In addition, our professional practice lead offers support to assist in the continuous improvement of
complaint handling. For example, offering support and advice on how a complaint can be handled
and the style of communication used when responding to a complainant.
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During the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, 166 complaints were received. Of these 107 related
to the CCG and 59 to providers of services. The trends of complaints received relating to the CCG
only, are demonstrated in the Table 11.
TABLE 11: COMPLAINT TRENDS
Trends relating to Dorset CCG
Continuing Healthcare
Individual Patient Treatment
General

Number
53
3
51

Patient and public engagement and involvement in shaping health services
We are committed to putting the views of local people at the heart of the NHS and to making sure
that they are involved in the planning of local services. Participation helps us to understand
people’s needs, improve access to services and reduce inequalities in health. This is part of our duty
to involve the public under section 14Z2 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
To ensure this happens we have a tried and tested process for public participation and engagement.
This process has been developed in line with national guidance, good practice and our duty to
involve. It includes a number of stages to promote a continuous cycle of meaningful engagement:
audience analysis, representation, gathering insight, communication planning, engagement/
consultation on proposed changes and equality impact assessment. The process is reviewed
regularly to take account of changes to policy and national guidance and is available on our website.
https://www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Public-Engagement-Guidance.pdf
Professional responsibility for leading, planning and delivering activity sits with the Engagement
and Communications team, which is part of the Engagement and Development
Directorate. However, the CCG encourages the view that engagement and good communications
are part of everyone’s job.
Key milestones during 2018/19 included:
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being rated as good in every area in the new NHSE Improvement Assessment framework,
with many areas rated as outstanding;
winning an award for improving patient and community engagement at the national
Healthcare Transformation Awards in June 2018;
holding one of the first two pilots for an NHS England ICS Public Engagement ‘Discovery’
Project aimed at improving engagement and communications across Our Dorset ICS;
working ever more collaboratively with Our Dorset ICS partner organisations to support
system-wide public engagement through the engagement leads’ network, Our Dorset Public
Engagement Group, and an extended Supporting Stronger Voices group, which now includes
a wider range of stakeholder representatives;
continuing to provide professional support and guidance for co-designed CCG-led reviews
such as community physical health services for children and young people, maternity,
dementia and musculoskeletal physiotherapy;
strengthening our relationships with community and voluntary organisations such as the
development of a Health Ambassadors’ Forum with Dorset Race Equality Council (DREC) and
the Dorset Association of Parish and Town Councils (DAPTC) to reach into rural communities;
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increasing the support available to develop GP-based Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) by
building networks, boosting recruitment and providing help and guidance to this important
stakeholder group;
participating in NHSE-provided ‘Train the Trainer’ learning to develop a bank of engagement
champions across Dorset;
making greater use of digital platforms to reach out to people, including social media
channels and redeveloping our webpage. Visit https://www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/involve/ to find
our more.

As in the previous two years, we have followed good practice and produced a separate annual
report on Public Participation and Involvement. You can find out more about the highlights above
by visiting our website.
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Sustainability report
Standard report format, produced by the Sustainability Development Unit. Figures are as provided
by third party organisations, unless available from the CCG’s own records. Where there are nil
values, no figures have been provided to the CCG.
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a way
that has a positive effect on the communities we serve. Sustainability means spending public
money well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient
communities. By making the most of social, environmental and economic assets we can improve
health both in the immediate and long term even in the context of rising cost of natural resources.
Demonstrating that we consider the social and environmental impacts ensures that the legal
requirements in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012) are met.
To fulfil our responsibilities for the role we play, Dorset CCG has created a sustainable development
management plan (SDMP).
Our sustainability mission statement is: Sustainable, Resilient, Healthy People and Places
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards the
level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and social
care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by
2020. It is our aim to meet this target by reducing our carbon emissions 28% by 202021 using 2007/08 as the baseline year.

Policies
In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in our process
and procedures sustainability features.
TABLE 12: SUSTAINABILITY AREAS
Area

Is sustainability considered?

Travel
Procurement (environmental)
Procurement (social impact)
Suppliers’ impact

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of an SDMP.
An update to our SDMP is required because it has not been approved by the board in the last 12
months.
The CCG uses the NHS Standard Contract for all clinical services it commissions which includes
requirements around sustainability that are monitored in our contract review meetings.
Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the healthcare
estates, but also to patient health. Examples of recent years include the effects of heat waves,
extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc.
Our board approved plans address the potential need to adapt the delivery the organisation's
activities and infrastructure to climate change and adverse weather events
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One of the ways in which we measure our impact as an organisation on corporate social
responsibility is through the use of the Sustainable Development Assessment Tool (SDAT) tool. The
last time we used the SDAT self-assessment was in April 2019 scoring 56%.
As an organisation that acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable future, we
help achieve that goal by running awareness campaigns that promote the benefits of sustainability
to our staff.
Our organisation is starting to contribute to the following Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

We have not yet assessed the social and environmental impacts for the organisation.
Our statement on Modern Slavery is available on the CCGs website. Human Trafficking and Modern
slavery guidance is included in the CCG’s Safeguarding Policies and our response to Human
Trafficking and Modern Slavery is coordinated under the Pan Dorset Community Safety Partnership
process.
Dorset is an emerging Integrated Care System (ICS) whose governance structure recognises the
importance of collaboration across multiple agencies to improve the lives of citizens living in Dorset.
The CCG is also an early adopter of population health management (PHM) to improve population
health by data driven planning and delivery of care to deliver maximum impact. It includes
segmentation, stratification and impact modelling to identify local 'at risk' cohorts and, in turn,
designing and targeting interventions to prevent ill-health and improve care and support for people
with ongoing health conditions and reducing unwarranted variations in outcomes.

Partnerships
As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract mechanisms to
deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy framework already sets
the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a sustainable manner. Crucially for us as a
CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to be provided in part through contracting
mechanisms.
Strategic partnerships are already established with our local NHS Providers (Dorset County
Hospital, Dorset Healthcare, Poole Hospital and Royal Bournemouth & Christchurch Hospital) as
well as local authorities and other statutory agencies.
For commissioned services, here is the sustainability comparator for our providers; please note this
is published a year in arrears:
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Organisation Name

SDMP

Adaptation

Dorset HealthCare NHS
Foundation Trust

No

No

The Royal Bournemouth and
Christchurch Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

No

Poole Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust

Dorset County Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust

On track for 34%
reduction

SDAT

Healthy
transport
plan

SD
reporting
score

2. Target included
but not on track to
be met

n/a

No

Good

No

1. On track to
meet target

n/a

No

Excellent

No

No

2. Target included
but not on track to
be met

n/a

No

Good

No

No

1. On track to
meet target

n/a

No

Excellent

More information on these measures is available here: http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policystrategy/reporting/sdmp-annual-reporting.aspx

Performance
Organisation
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards the
level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and social
care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by
2020. Here is how we have done:
TABLE 13: COMMISSIONED ACTIVITY
Building
energy use

Building
energy use
per FTE

>10%
decrease

1.7

Data not
available

87

<=75% high
cost

>20%
decrease

0-10%
decrease

3.2

0-20%
decrease

31

>89% high
cost

>20% increase

Poole Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust

>10%
decrease

2.7

0-20%
decrease

35

>97% high
cost

>20% increase

Dorset County Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust

0-10%
increase

2.9

0-20%
decrease

28

<=75% high
cost

>20%
decrease

Organisation Name

Dorset Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust
The Royal Bournemouth
and Christchurch
Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

Water

Water use
per FTE

Percent high
cost waste

Waste cost
increase

.
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Energy
NHS Dorset CCG has spent £68,848 on energy in 2018/19, which is an 8.61% increase on energy
spend from last year.
TABLE 14: ENERGY USED – ENERGY CONSUMPTION IN KWH
Resource

2015/16

Electricity consumed
Gas consumed
Total

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

122,944

256,089

348,127

389,984

51,119

99,283

104,438

242,922

174,063

355,372

452,565

632,906

TABLE 15: ENERGY - EMISSIONS (TCO2E)
Category
Electricity
Gas
Total

2015/16
70.7
10.7
81.4

2016/17
132
20.7
153

2017/18
155
22.1
177

2018/19
138
51.6
189

Action has been taken in 2018/19 to improve the accuracy of energy consumption reporting after it
became apparent that the data previously reported had not been apportioned accurately with the
other tenants in the buildings leased and co-occupied by the CCG.
0 % of our electricity use comes from renewable sources.
The CCG encourages NHS Property Services to engage with landlords to look at more sustainable
and renewable sources of energy and recognises that due to multiple tenants the adoption of any
initiative requires the support of other occupants. Although a low user of energy, we continue to
seek ways to reduce consumption and recent initiatives have included the procurement of fewer
and more energy efficient multiple function printing devices and the change from tower/desktop
PCs to more energy efficient laptops.
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Paper
The movement to a Paperless NHS can be supported by staff reducing the use of paper at all levels,
this reduces the environmental impact of paper, reducing cost of paper to the NHS and can help
improve information security.
TABLE 16: PAPER CONSUMED – COST IN POUNDS AND WEIGHT IN TONNES
Paper
Paper spend (£)
Paper products used (tonnes)

2015/16
10,603
0

2016/17
4,231
0

2017/18
4,000
6

2018/19
3,897
5

Travel
We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by promoting active
travel to our staff and to the patients and public that use our services.
Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies across the board for
cost and carbon (CO2e) reductions. We support a culture for active travel to improve staff wellbeing
and reduce sickness. Air pollution, accidents and noise all cause health problems for our local
population, patients, staff and visitors and are caused by cars, as well as other forms of transport.
TABLE 17: TRAVEL UNDERTAKEN – SHOWN IN MILES
Category
Business travel and fleet
Total

2015/16
551,825
551,825

2016/17
521,668
521,669

2017/18

2018/19

578,931
578,931

503,370
503,370

TABLE 18: TRAVEL - CO2 EMISSIONS (TCO2E)
Category
Business mileage – road
Business mileage – rail
Business mileage - air
Staff commute
Total

50

2015/16
187
2.9
0
0
190

2016/17
171
4.42
0.81
0
176

2017/18
182
5.88
1.27
0
189

2018/19
167
3.99
2.53
0
174
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The CCG commissioned the Energy Saving Trust to assess the efficiency of its pool car fleet in terms
of energy consumption and costs and to assess the feasibility of introducing Ultra Low Emission
Vehicles (ULEVs) into its fleet. Although a CO2e saving was identified, with the level of
manufacturer pricing support on internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles as they are, the case for
change to ULEV is not as strong as it could be. The CCG will continue to monitor pricing
developments from car manufacturers as and when leases come up for renewal.
A recent review of commuting indicated that 58% of CCG staff travelled 10 miles or more to their
work base. Although this reflects the rurality of the county we continue to develop and promote
initiatives to reduce both commuting and business travel including digital use of collaboration and
productivity applications (across health and social care sectors) and flexible working practices (ie
working from home, working from other public sector facilities, closer to home etc). We intend to
conduct a survey in 2019/20 to determine staff commute behaviours to further inform initiatives to
reduce overall travel.
Waste
TABLE 19: WASTE PRODUCED - IN TONNES
2017/18
180

2018/19
80

Waste
Waste recycling weight

2015/16
115

2016/17
115

Landfill disposal weight

155

156

140

32

Total

270

271

321

112

2015/16
2.3

2016/17
2.42

0

0

0.02

0

Landfill

37.9

48.4

48.2

11

Total

40.2

50.8

52.2

12.7

Carbon emissions resulting

TABLE 20: WASTE - CO2 EMISSIONS
CO2 Emissions (tCO2e)
Recycling
Recovery

2017/18
3.92

2018/19
1.71
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As an administrative function the CCG generates little waste however efforts continue to not only
reduce landfill but to increase recycling. Initiatives commenced in 2018/19 include:





expansion of plastic and glass recycling;
review of multi-function printing devices result in more efficient machines with attendant
recycling of cartridges;
use of bio-degradable cups and cutlery;
collaboration with the 'Plastic Free Dorset' scheme in partnership with a local school to
eradicate the single-use plastics.

Finite resource use – water
Category
3

Water volume (m )
Waste water volume (m3)
Water and sewage cost (£)

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

962
770
0

2,304
1,843
0

2,994
2,395
0

5,472
4,378
27,001

TABLE 21: WATER – CO2 EMISSIONS (TCO2E)
Category
Water related emissions
Water treatment related emissions
Total

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

0.33
0.55
0.88

0.79
1.3
2.09

1.03
1.7
2.73

1.88
3.1
4.98

The reported increase in the use of water reflects improved monitoring and data collection rather
than any increase in water usage. The CCG collaborates with its landlords to reduce water
consumption and initiatives include:



renewal of WC flushing devices;
installation of sensor taps.

As part of the initiative to eradicate single-use plastic the CCG encourages staff to refill reusable
water bottles, so an increase in water consumption is anticipated.
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Modelled carbon footprint
The information provided in the previous sections of this sustainability report uses the ERIC returns
as its data source. However, we are aware that this does not reflect our entire carbon footprint.
Therefore, the following information estimates the impact of our supply chain from our spend.
More information available here: http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/nhscarbon-footprint.aspx
The values shown below are percentages.

Category
Core emissions
Commissioning
Procurement
Community
Total

2018/19
0.159
89.4
10.4
0
100

SDU whole organisation carbon profile
Calculated from operating expenditure of £1,216,839,000 of which £1,199,847,000 is non-pay spend
based on typical values for a Clinical Commissioning Group organisation.
TABLE 22: SDU WHOLE ORGANISATION CARBON PROFILE – CO2 EMISSIONS (TCO2E)
Category
Business services
Capital spending
Food and catering
Information and communication
technologies
Manufactured fuels, chemicals and gases
Medical instruments/ equipment
Paper products
Pharmaceuticals
Electricity (net of any exports)
Gas
Business travel and fleet
Waste and water
Commissioning
Total

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

151
85.3
26.7
119

273
142
29.8
118

175
103
24.1
215

926
116
18.4
220

1,387
0
6.69
23,651
70.7
10.7
219
41.1
190,997
216,764

1,302
6.58
2.43
24,341
132
20.7
206
52.9
222,592
243,599

1,300
7.81
2.43
25,071
155
22.1
220
54.9
232,898
249,999

1,439
40.7
2.43
24,390
138
51.6
207
17.7
232,767
260,333
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Carbon emissions progress
Dorset CCG continues to work with other agencies to improve data collection to monitor our
progress in reducing carbon emissions. We are assured that the policies and initiatives summarised
in this report are making a positive contribution to delivering the Public Services (Social Value) Act
(2012) and support our mission to deliver sustainable, resilient, healthy people and places.

TABLE 23: CARBON EMISSIONS
Core emissions
Commissioning
Procurement
Community
Total

2013/14
327
187,803
2,117
0
190,247

2014/15
362
179,845
24,273
0
204,480

2015/16
342
190,997
25,426
0
216,764

2016/17
412
222,592
144,091
0
367,095

2017/18
452
232,898
1,653
0
235,003

2018/19
414
232,767
27,153
0
260,333

Adaptation
Events such as heatwaves, cold snaps and flooding are expected to increase as a result of climate
change. To ensure that our services continue to meet the needs of our local population during such
events we have developed and implemented a number of policies and protocols in partnership with
other local agencies including the CCG's Incident Response Plan (which includes bespoke action
cards detailing the response to severe weather incidents). The CCG is also an active member of the
Dorset Local Resilience Forum which supports the multi-agency planning for severe weather in this
forum.

Biodiversity action plan
We have not currently issued a statement on policy or initiatives related to improving biodiversity
and maximising the value of access to green space.

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
Xx May 2019
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ACCOUNTABILITY
The purpose of this section is to meet key accountability requirements. It is in three sections:




corporate governance report, which includes the Members’ report, Governing Body report and
the Annual Governance Statement;
Remuneration and staff report
Parliamentary accountability and audit report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
Members’ report
Our CCG consists of 85 member general practices, which are grouped into 13 localities within three
clusters of west, mid and east Dorset. Member practices are listed in the table below.
TABLE 24: MEMBER PRACTICES BY LOCALITY
Locality

Practice

West Dorset





























Mid Dorset

North Dorset

Weymouth and
Portland

West cluster
Barton House Surgery, Beaminster
Bridport Medical Centre, Bridport
Charmouth Medical Practice, Charmouth
Lyme Bay Medical Centre, Lyme Regis
Lyme Regis Medical Centre, Lyme Regis
Portesham Practice, Portesham
Tollerford Practice, Maiden Newton
The Atrium Health Centre, Dorchester
Cerne Abbas Surgery, Cerne Abbas
Poundbury Doctors Surgery, Dorchester
Fordington Surgery, Dorchester
Prince of Wales Surgery, Dorchester
Puddletown Surgery, Puddletown
Queens Avenue, Dorchester
Milton Abbas Practice, Milton Abbas
Blackmore Vale Partnership
Apples Medical Centre, Sherborne
Bute House Surgery, Sherborne
Eagle House Surgery, Blandford
Gillingham Medical Centre, Gillingham
Newland Surgery, Sherborne
Whitecliff Surgery, Blandford
Yetminster Surgery, Yetminster
Abbotsbury Road Surgery, Weymouth
Bridges Medical Centre, Weymouth
Cross Road Surgery, Weymouth
Dorchester Road Surgery, Weymouth

May 22, 2019

55

Accountability

East Dorset

Poole Bay

Poole Central

Poole North

Purbeck

North
Bournemouth

Central
Bournemouth

56

 Royal Crescent Surgery, Weymouth
 Royal Manor Surgery, Portland
 Wyke Regis Surgery, Weymouth
Mid cluster
 Barcellos Family Practice
 Cranborne Surgery, Wimborne
 Old Dispensary, Wimborne
 Orchid House Surgery, Ferndown
 Penny’s Hill Surgery, Ferndown
 Quarter Jack Surgery, Wimborne
 Verwood Surgery, Verwood
 Walford Mill Surgery, Wimborne
 West Moors Group Practice, West Moors
 Heatherview Medical Centre, Poole
 Lilliput Surgery, Poole
 Parkstone Towers, Poole
 Poole Road Medical Centre, Poole
 Wessex Road Surgery, Poole
 Westbourne Medical Centre, Poole
 Adam Practice, Poole
 Carlisle House Surgery, Poole
 Family Medical Services (Dr Newman’s Surgery), Poole
 Evergreen Oak Surgery, Poole
 Longfleet House Surgery, Poole
 Poole Town Surgery, Poole
 Rosemary Medical Centre, Poole
 Birchwood Medical Centre, Poole
 Canford Heath Group Practice, Poole
 Hadleigh Practice, Poole
 Harvey Practice, Poole
 Bere Regis Surgery, Bere Regis
 Corfe Castle Surgery, Corfe Castle
 Sandford Surgery, Wareham
 Swanage Medical Centre, Swanage
 The Wellbridge Surgery, Wool
 Wareham Surgery, Wareham
East cluster
 Alma Partnership, Bournemouth
 Banks and Bearwood Medical Centre, Bournemouth
 Kinson Road Medical Centre, Bournemouth
 Leybourne Surgery, Bournemouth
 Talbot Medical Centre, Bournemouth
 Village Surgery, Poole
 Denmark Road Medical Centre, Bournemouth
 James Fisher Medical Centre, Bournemouth
 Moordown Medical Centre, Bournemouth
 Panton Practice, Bournemouth
 St Albans Medical Centre, Bournemouth
 Woodlea House Surgery, Bournemouth
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East Bournemouth

Christchurch













Marine and Oakridge Partnership, Bournemouth
Beaufort Road Surgery, Bournemouth
Littledown Surgery, Bournemouth
Providence Surgery, Bournemouth
Shelley Manor and Holdenhurst Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Southbourne Surgery, Bournemouth
Christchurch Medical Centre, Christchurch
Farmhouse Surgery, Christchurch
Grove Surgery, Christchurch
Highcliffe Surgery, Christchurch
Stour Surgery, Christchurch

Governing Body report
Our Governing Body is made up of 13 Locality Chairs, a Chair, an Accountability Officer, a Chief
Finance Officer, three Lay Members, one Registered Nurse Member and one Secondary Care
Consultant Member. Our Chair is Dr Forbes Watson and the Accountability Officer is Tim Goodson.
The Governing Body has a responsibility to ensure there are appropriate healthcare services for the
people of Dorset. All general practices belong to a locality, which is a geographically area, and each
locality has a GP Chair who is a member of the CCG Governing Body. Composition of our Governing
Body throughout the year and up to the signing of this annual report and accounts can be seen in
Table 25.
TABLE 25: GOVERNING BODY COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE
Name

Role

Chair
Chief Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Locality Chair for Mid
Dorset
Locality Chair for East
Dorset
Locality Chair for Poole
Bay
Locality Chair for Purbeck

1 April 2013
1 April 2013
30 May 2017
1 April 2013

Term of Office
Re-elected/ reRe-elected/reappointed
appointed
1 April 2016
1 April 2019
1 April 2016
1 April 2019

1 April 2013

1 April 2016

1 April 2019

31 March 2022

13 April 2016

13 April 2019

-

12 April 2022

1 October 2013

1 October 2016

-

Locality Chair for
Weymouth and Portland
and Assistant Clinical
Chair
Locality Chair for North
Bournemouth
Locality Chair for West
Dorset
Locality Chair for East
Bournemouth
Locality Chair for
Christchurch
Locality Chair for Poole
North
Locality Chair for Central
Bournemouth
Locality Chair for Poole
Central

1 April 2013

1 April 2016

1 April 2019

30 September
2019
31 March 2022

1 May 2018

-

-

30 April 2021

1 April 2013

1 April 2016

1 April 2019

31 March 2022

1 April 2016

1 April 2019

-

31 March 2022

10 May 2017

-

-

9 May 2020

1 August 2015

1 August 2018

-

31 July 2021

1 September 2016

-

-

31 August 2019

1 October 2015

1 October 2018

-

30 September
2021

Date appointed
Dr Forbes Watson
Tim Goodson
Stuart Hunter
Dr Jenny Bubb
Dr Colin Davidson
Dr Nick Evans
Dr David Haines
Dr Karen Kirkham

Dr Tom Knight
Dr Blair Millar
Dr Ni’man Mufeed
Dr Ravin Ramtohal
Dr David
Richardson
Dr Ben Sharland
Dr Simon Watkins

Expiry date
31 March 2022
On-going
On-going
31 March 2022
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Name

Role
Date appointed

Dr Simone Yule
Dr Mary Armitage
Elaine Spencer
Teresa Hensman
David Jenkins

Jacqueline Swift

Locality Chair for North
Dorset
Secondary Care
Consultant Member
Registered Nurse Member
Lay Member Lead for
Governance
Lay Member Lead for
Patient and Public
Involvement and Deputy
CCG Chair
Lay Member Lead for
Primary Care
Commissioning

1 April 2016

Term of Office
Re-elected/ reRe-elected/reappointed
appointed
1 April 2019
-

Expiry date
31 March 2022

20 September
2017
1 July 2016
1 April 2013

-

-

1 April 2016

-

19 September
2020
30 June 2019
31 March 2019

1 April 2013

1 April 2016

-

31 March 2019

26 May 2015

26 May 2018

25 May 2018

25 May 2021

The Governing Body also has regular attendance from the Director of Nursing and Quality, Director
of Primary and Community Care, Director of Engagement and Development, Chief System
Integration Officer, and the Secretary and General Counsel.
The Governing Body has three lay members who have non-clinical backgrounds (local government,
audit and commerce) who maintain an independence from the operations of the CCG to balance
the clinical contribution of the Governing Body and its committees. Together with the two
additional independent lay members of the Audit and Quality Committee they provide independent
critical challenge to the managerial and clinical input.
Attendance records for the Governing Body and its committees for 2018/19 can be found on our
website.
FIGURE 3: GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
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Remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by David Jenkins, Deputy CCG Chair and Lay Member
Lead for Patient and Public Involvement. Further details of other members can be seen in the
remuneration report page 59. The key highlights of the work of the committee during 2018/19 have
been:



review of Governing Body and clinical remuneration arrangements;
formal consideration of executive pay noting involvement with integrated care system.

The terms of reference for this committee can be found on our website which provides further
detail.

Audit and quality committee
As part of the governance structure, we have in place an Audit and Quality Committee which is
responsible for providing the Governing Body which assurance across the range of CCG activities.
The Audit and Quality Committee is chaired by Teresa Hensman, Lay Member Lead for Governance
(until 31 March 2019), who has relevant and recent financial experience. Other members
throughout the year, and up to the signing of this annual report and accounts, are:







Charles Buckle, Independent Lay Member – until 31 March 2019;
Martin Davies, Independent Lay Member;
Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member;
Simone Yule, Governing Body GP Member
Nick Robinson, Lay Member Lead for Governance – from 1 April 2019;
Paul Turner, Independent Lay Member – from 1 April 2019.

The Committee reviews its terms of reference and its effectiveness annually and recommends to
the Governing Body any changes required as a result of the review. In 2018/19, the Audit and
Quality Committee discharges its responsibilities by:











reviewing and monitoring quality of commissioned service and outcomes for patients;
reviewing and recommending the CCG’s draft financial statements and the external auditors
detailed reports thereon;
reviewing the effectiveness of the external audit process; reviewing and monitoring the
external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process,
taking into account relevant UK professional and regulatory requirements;
reviewing the external auditors’ annual work plan, including its non-audit services and fees;
reviewing the risks associated with the CCG’s business and management thereon;
reviewing the policies and procedures for all work related to fraud and corruption;
reviewing investigations as a result of the instigation of the CCG’s whistle blowing policy;
reviewing the CCG’s system of internal control and its effectiveness, reporting to the
Governing Body on the results of the review and receiving regular updates on key processes for
management of the risks facing the CCG;
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function;
reviewing the internal audit work programme, internal audit reports and periodic progress
reports on its work during the year.
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The Audit and Quality Committee has wide powers to establish special investigations in the event
that any wrongdoing is brought to its notice, in particular, in the case of defalcations, fraud or theft.
The terms of reference can be found on our website which provides detail of the committee.
The Chair of the Audit and Quality Committee also acts as the Conflict of Interest Guardian.

Primary care commissioning committee
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is chaired by Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member Lead.
The terms of reference can be found on our website which provides detail of the committee.
The key highlights of the work of the committee during 2018/19 have been:






further development of workforce planning and the Dorset Primary Care Workforce Centre;
continuing work on local public health profiles and joint working with Public Health teams in
local communities as part of the prevention at scale plans;
monitoring the performance of primary care practitioners;
monitoring struggling practices to ensure continued service provision;
monitoring and where appropriate, approving practice mergers.

Clinical commissioning committee
The Clinical Commissioning Committee is chaired by Dr Forbes Watson, Chair of NHS Dorset
Clinical Commissioning Group.
The terms of reference can be found on our website which providers detail of the committee.
The key highlights of the work of the committee during 2018/19 have been to determine clinical
priorities.

Declaration of interests
Pursuant to our values of openness and honesty and statutory guidance, it is a requirement that all
member practices of the CCG, Governing Body members, GPs who are paid to provide services to
the CCG and all staff declare any interests that they have that may conflict with the interests of the
CCG itself. These can be found on our website.

Personal data related incidents
A personal data breach is a breach of security leading to the accidental or unlawful destruction, loss,
alteration, unauthorised disclosure of, or access to, personal data.
If we experience a personal data breach at the CCG we need to consider whether this poses a risk to
people. We need to consider the likelihood and severity of the risk to people’s rights and freedoms,
following the breach. Once this assessment has been made by the Data Protection Officer, if it’s
likely there will be a risk then we will notify the ICO; if it’s unlikely then we will deal with the breach
according to CCG policies, without reporting to the ICO. Further information is available in our
Governance Statement, page 71.

60

May 22, 2019

Accountability

Governing Body, independent lay members and senior manager profiles
Profiles detailing professional backgrounds of the following staff groups, who have been in post
during 2018/19 can be found on our website:
 Governing Body;
 Independent lay members;
 senior management team.

Statement of disclosure to auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved confirms:



so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s
auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report
the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make him or
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware
of it.

Modern slavery act
NHS Dorset CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and
human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the financial year ending
31 March 2018 is published on our website.

Statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group
shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning
Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer
of NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:








the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable,
for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the
accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),
for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).
the relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,
ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in accordance
with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to
securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
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Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical
Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on
the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and
must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its
income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of
the DHSC’s Group Accounting Manual and in particular to:






observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the DHSC’s Group Accounting
Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts;
prepare the accounts on a going concern basis;
confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable
and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and the judgements
required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that NHS Dorset CCG auditors are aware of
that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors
are unaware.

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
Xx May 2019

62

May 22, 2019

Accountability

Annual governance statement
Introduction and context
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1
April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services
for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to
arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet
the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2018, the Clinical Commissioning Group is not subject to any directions from NHS
England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with
the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my
responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial
propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically
and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it.
The Membership has retained the power to make changes to its core constitution but has delegated
the majority of the decision making functions to the CCG’s Governing Body. The Governing Body
has, in turn, delegated some decision making to the organisation’s committees. Further
information relating to the delegated responsibility to each of the committees is detailed in the
Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 and terms of reference (see pages 59 to 60).

UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance, however we have
reported on our corporate governance arrangements throughout our Annual Report and Account.
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From 1 April 2018 and up to the date of signing this statement, the CCG has complied with the
provisions set out in the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group’s Code of Governance and applied the
principles of the Code.

Discharge of Statutory Function
I can confirm that the correct arrangements are in place for the discharge of statutory functions.
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the UK
Corporate Governance Code were developed with extensive expert external legal input to ensure
compliance with all the relevant legislation. The legal advice also informed the matters reserved for
Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of delegation.
In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has
reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that
the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of
the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those
functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directorates
have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all
of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Risk Management arrangements and effectiveness
In May 2018, Internal Audit undertook a ‘risk maturity assessment’ of the CCG as an advisory piece
of work. This assessment aimed to help ensure that an effectively risk management culture
becomes embedded across the CCG by highlighting areas where processes could be improved.
The audit identified many aspects of good practice within the organisation, whilst recommending a
number of opportunities for enhancement of the risk approach. The main themes of the
recommendations included (amongst others) a need to clearly define the CCGs risk appetite and
communicate it widely, and improved staff training.
The overall maturity assessment was rated as follows (against the risk maturity assessment matrix
used within the audit).
Risk
governance

Current
Target

Defined
Managed

Risk
identification
and
assessment
Managed
Enabled

Risk
mitigation
and
treatment
Defined
Managed

Risk reporting
and review

Continuous
improvement

Managed
Enabled

Defined
Managed

Following the risk maturity audit recommendations, in March 2019 the Governing Body approved
an updated ‘risk appetite statement’. The statement details the appetite of the organisation in
relation to risk in the following six domains: quality, safety and outcomes, reputation, innovation
and transformation, workforce, compliance and regulation, and finance and operations.

64

May 22, 2019

Accountability
The CCG recognises that to lead the health system within an Integrated Care System (ICS), the
organisation needs to be bold and courageous, to ensure sustainability for the future.
Acknowledgement and acceptance of a higher level of risk is sometimes necessary to facilitate
innovation in the delivery of services. Therefore, following the formulation of the CCG risk appetite
statement, work to develop and implement an ICS risk framework, ICS risk appetite and ISC risk
register is underway.
Every activity that the CCG undertakes or commissions others to undertake on its behalf, brings
with it an element of risk that has the potential to threaten or prevent the organisation achieving its
strategic objectives. Unmanaged risk can affect people, assets, the organisation and reputation and
ultimately be of detriment to the population the CCG serves.
The CCGs Risk Management Framework, which is regularly updated as the approach to risk within
the organisation develops:








standardises and clarifies the terminology of risk management;
sets out the organisation’s objective to identify, treat and mitigate risk;
explains the roles and responsibilities within the CCG relating to risk;
defines the role and objectives of the CCG’s committees and groups;
clearly explains the tools (Corporate Risk Register and Governing Body Assurance
Framework) used by the CCG to document and manage risks to the organisation, detailing
the clear, consistent and effective risk scoring systems used;
details how the organisation has a clear view of the risks affecting each area of its activity,
how the risks are being managed and their potential impact on the organisational objectives;
assures the public, patients and their carers and representatives, staff and partner
organisations that the CCG is committed to managing risk appropriately.

This documented approach to managing identified risk helps the CCG achieve agreed standards,
reduce overall costs and maintain and enhance the standard of service provided.
The CCG ensures that risk management is embedded in all aspects of the work of the organisation.
Examples include:
Equality Impact Assessments: The CCG is committed to ensuring a reduction in health inequalities
and places the needs of Dorset communities at the heart of all commissioning functions. ‘Equality
analysis’ is undertaken when commissioning services, making changes to services, using
information within services and within the policies that are used. Additionally, the CCG publishes
an annual ‘Equality and Diversity report’ which acknowledges the organisation’s successes in
relation to equality and diversity, as well as making recommendations for improvement.
Incident Reporting: Incident and serious incident reporting is openly encouraged from all staff, GP
practices and the provider organisations (both NHS and non-NHS) that are commissioned by the
CCG. This information is analysed and used to identify any risks which may impact the business of
the CCG.
Stakeholder engagement: In line with our duty, the CCG actively involves local people (‘public
stakeholders’) in the planning and development of locally commissioned services.
Counter fraud methodology: The CCG also actively deters risks through the adoption of robust
counter-fraud methodology. All clinical and non-clinical staff receives training on the identification
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of fraud within the CCG. The CCG has a contract with Tiaa to provide counter fraud and security
management services that have an annual work programme.
The CCG’s Executive Lead for fraud and corruption is the Chief Finance Officer, who is responsible
for authorising investigations, including the arrest, interviewing and prosecution of subjects and the
recovery or write-off of any sums lost to fraud.

Capacity to handle risk
The CCG’s Governing Body Assurance Framework provides assurance to the Governing Body of the
controls that are in place to mitigate the key risks that could impact on the CCG’s delivery of its
programmes and priorities.
Key controls where assurance cannot be fully demonstrated are highlighted in blue on the
framework, with an explanation of the work in progress to achieve assurance. Quarterly updates are
provided to the Directors of the progress against achieving full assurance, with formal reports
submitted to every Governing Body and Audit and Quality Committee meeting. This pro-active
method of managing risk is a preventative approach to limit the risk exposure to the organisation.
The Corporate Risk Register is a risk management tool which acts as a central repository for all
current risks identified by the organisation. All risks are recorded and managed via the Ulysses
software ‘Safeguard Risk Management System’ and are mapped (where applicable) to the strategic
objectives of the CCG.
In relation to risk management the Governing Body membership and executive team are
responsible for:









articulating the organisation’s strategic objectives;
identifying risks to the achievement of its strategic objectives;
protecting the reputation of the CCG; providing leadership, active involvement and support
for risk management;
determining the risk appetite for the CCG;
ensuring the approach to risk management is consistently applied;
ensuring that there is a structure in place for the effective management of risk throughout
the CCG and that this structure is consistently applied;
monitoring these processes on an on-going basis via the Governing Body Assurance
Framework and Corporate Risk Register;
reviewing and approving the Risk Management Framework on an annual basis.

The CCG is able to assure itself of the validity of the Annual Governance Statement in a number of
ways. These are:
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adherence to the Risk Management Framework;
adherence to the CCG committee structure, Committee Terms of Reference and reporting
framework;
biannual confirmations from the Chairs of the key groups and committees that the
assurances for which their programmes have delegated responsibility have been scrutinised
and that there are no significant lapses in assurance or (in the case of lapses/gaps in
assurance) details of the work being taken, including action plans, to resolve the lapses/gaps;
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scrutiny of the draft Annual Governance Statement (this document) by members of the Audit
and Quality Committee prior to submission and sign off at the special meeting for closure of
finances in May 2018.

Leadership for the risk management process within the CCG is provided via the Governing Body,
with responsibility delegated to the Audit and Quality Committee. The organisational structure has
been established in order to assist with this process and is described in the following paragraphs.
All Directors are responsible for compliance with the Risk Management Framework to ensure that
remedial actions are identified and taken wherever key risks are identified within their area of
responsibility.
The Director of Quality and Nursing is the designated lead for risk and patient safety within the
CCG, and is responsible for ensuring that the Risk Management Framework is implemented and
evaluated effectively.
All Directors, Deputy Directors and Managers have delegated responsibility and authority with
regard to the management of risk within their specific areas of work, including compliance with the
Risk Management Framework and for ensuring that remedial action is taken wherever key risks are
identified within their area of responsibility, including:






the reporting of adverse incidents, together with actions to prevent or minimise a
reoccurrence;
identifying and adding risks to the Corporate Risk Register in a timely manner;
coordinating the application of resources to minimise, manage and control the likelihood
and/or impact of the risk;
undertaking risk assessments and actions implemented;
ensuring staff undertake mandatory and statutory training.

The CCG has clear governance structures with delegation of responsibility clearly articulated in the
terms of reference for committees and groups (as described on pages 57 to 60). All committees
review their effectiveness annually and there are clear lines of reporting from all committees and
groups to the Governing Body. The Governing Body through reports and updates reviews the
quality, performance and financial stewardship of the organisation. Any risks identified relating to
these areas have been recorded in the Corporate Risk Register and/or the Governing Body
Assurance Framework.
The CCG operates a ‘Declaration of Interest’ register and this is checked regularly; potential
conflicts of interest are taken into account in all aspects of the CCGs business. Declarations of
interest are recorded at every formal committee and group meeting.
The Head of Patient Safety and Risk, supported by the Patient Safety and Risk Manager has
delegated responsibility for:




co-ordinating and managing activities relating to clinical, corporate and financial risks for the
CCG;
monitoring risk management and patient safety within commissioned and corporate services
for the CCG;
maintaining the Corporate Risk Register and Governing Body Assurance Framework through
engagement with the Directors and Directorate Risk Leads;

May 22, 2019

67

Accountability


the management of all Never Events, Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation and Adverse
Incidents.

The Patient Safety and Risk team within the CCG supports the consistent identification, assessment
and management of risk across the organisation and, as a team, are central to the dissemination
and application of best practice. Additionally, the team administers the key administration and
system processes and acts as a central resource and advisory function in relation to risk and risk
management.
Face-to-face training for existing CCG employees was implemented during 2018/19 covering the
key components of risk management. Plans are in place to roll out training to all new staff during
2019 through the induction process.
The cumulative contribution of the above mechanisms assists in the assurance of commissioning
services that ensure patient safety is high profile.

Improving our security posture
Cyber-attacks are a continually growing threat and all businesses including the CCG need to operate
in a culture of “when” rather than “if” the organisation is breached to ensure that the CCG is as
prepared as possible and respond as effectively as possible.
During 2018-19 the CCG IT team implemented a new Security, Information and Event Management
(SIEM) solution which analyses logs throughout the CCG looking for suspicious behaviour and
patterns of attack. The Information Security Team currently receives between five and 30 ‘alarms’
each day (which require investigation) and sees continuous connection attempts (approximately
every 15 seconds) from hostile nations. The CCG also experiences ‘healthcare-specific’ attacks on its
infrastructure as ‘threat actors’ (the “attacker”) probe whether healthcare-specific applications such
as SystmOne (an electronic clinical record) is exposed to the internet.
The Information Security Team needs to spend time during 2019-20 understanding ‘what normal
looks like’ on CCG systems adding custom rules to tune out ‘noise’ and focus upon looking for
suspicious activity relating specifically to the CCG.
The SIEM solution now highlights suspicious and attack activity which is to be expected on any
computer network. As these activities are now visible due to the SIEM, the CCG will need to remain
committed to identifying, classifying and remediating them.

Cyber attack (March 2019)
In March 2019, the CCG was impacted by a cyber-attack. There was no data lost due to this incident
and the attacker did not manage to compromise any further CCG systems.
The CCG is deploying enhanced phishing reporting and blocking as a result of this attack and this
will be implemented through May 2019.
A challenge for the year ahead is to educate and train staff to spot and take action on phishing
emails.
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Risk Assessment
The CCG continues to develop and embed its approaches to risk management both internally in the
organisation and as a partner within developing ICS. The CCG views integrated risk management as
a key element in the successful delivery of both CCG and ICS business and remains committed to
ensuring staff are equipped to assess, manage, escalate and report risks.
To deliver the CCGs vision to “provide services to meet the needs of local people and delivery better
outcomes”, a number of programmes and priorities have been developed, supported by two
enabling programmes.
Achievement of these programmes and priorities is at risk if the strategic risks (documented below)
are realised. From Q3 2018/19, these strategic risks have been scored for each risk using the NPSA
risk matrix and the score is documented on the publically available Governing Body Assurance
Framework. At the end of March 2019, the risk assessment scores are as follows:






inadequate funding is available to deliver the required services and the transformation
programme (high 16 – likely x major);
unprecedented rise in demand on services occurs (high 16 – likely x major);
the Integrated Care Partnership breaks down (moderate 12 – possible x major);
there is significant, sustained failure of a major provider (moderate 12 – possible x major);
there are insufficient skilled and qualified staff within the system (high 20 – almost certain x
major)

This assessment will be undertaken by the Directors quarterly, with a visual demonstration on the
Assurance Framework of any scoring changes (ie: increased or decreased risk).
All assurance lines on the Assurance Framework are aligned to the strategic risks and
priorities/programmes and all corporate risks are aligned to a priority or programme.
The Governing Body receives regular assurance on the management of internal risks and assurance
both directly via regular reports including the full Governing Body Assurance Framework and
Corporate Risk Register and via assurance from the Audit and Quality Committee.
Reports are also received on a monthly basis by Directors summarising the top risks to the
organisation (those scoring over 15), new risks, closed risks and any other key risk issues. Directors
also review the full Corporate Risk Register at every meeting.
All risks identified in the Corporate Risk Register require the formulation of an action plan. A
member of the Patient Safety and Risk team communicates with risk leads on a monthly or
quarterly basis (dependant on risk level) to record progress against action plans and documents the
effect these are having on the residual risk score. All action plans are formally reported via the
Corporate Risk Register. The document includes all risks that may impact on the achievement of the
CCG’s objectives.
Risks are scored on a likelihood x consequence matrix to score the potential severity of a risk being
realised. Risks scored above 15 are categorised as high risk.
During 2018/19 the existing process to record operational risks associated with development project
continued, with a clear route to escalate any of the risks identified to the Corporate Risk Register.
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Between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, 23 risks were added to the Corporate Risk Register. Of
these 23 risks, eight have been closed within the year. 31 risks remain open.
Of the remaining 31 open risks, eight are assessed as high risk. The risks relate to:








deprivation of liberty without authorisation;
financial overspend within personal health commissioning;
timely and adequate support to GP practices;
potential closure of one GP practice;
delayed transfers of care;
ambulance response times (two risks);
demand for elective services.

The outstanding risks in place on 31 March 2019 are carried over into the new financial year and will
continue to be managed within the Risk Management Framework described within this statement.
The risk profile of the CCG is subject to on-going in-year revision.
As Accountable Officer I can confirm that there have been no significant lapses of protective
security.

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should
they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The Corporate Risk Register has controls described for every risk entry. The controls are reviewed
on a monthly or quarterly basis (depending on their risk level) along with progress for reducing the
risk to ensure they are still effective.
The framework provides assurance to the Governing Body of the controls that are in place to
mitigate the key risks that could impact on the CCG’s delivery of its strategic objectives.

Annual Audit of conflicts of interest management
The updated/revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June
2017) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To
support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit framework.
In November 2018, the annual internal audit of conflict of interest was undertaken with the final
report published in January 2019.
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The scope of this audit covered the areas set out by NHS England in their published audit template
for this nationally mandated review. To meet their requirements, the audit gave assurance over the
following five key areas: governance arrangements; declarations of interests and gifts and
hospitality; registers of interests, gifts and hospitality and procurement decisions; decision making
processes and contract monitoring; and identifying and managing non-compliance.
An overall assurance of ‘substantial assurance’ was achieved for ‘design’ with the audit finding a
sound system of internal control designed to achieve system objectives.
An overall assurance of ‘moderate assurance’ was achieved for ‘effectiveness’, with evidence found
of non-compliance with some controls, that may put some of the system objectives at risk. Three
‘low level’ recommendations were made in relation to this finding. A low level recommendation is
defined as “areas that individually have no significant impact, but where management would benefit
from improved controls and/or have the opportunity to achieve greater effectiveness and/or efficiency.”
For further information, refer to Section 10.

Data Quality 2018/19
The data used by the Governing Body and delegated Committees/groups is obtained from various
sources the majority of which are national systems and official NHS data sets. The Provider data is
quality assured through contract and performance monitoring and against the Secondary Uses
Service (SUS).
The specific governance of data quality and consistency across the STP providers, via the
collaborative agreement, is owned by the Operational Finance Reference Group and managed via
the Business Intelligence Reference Group (BIRG) and Data Quality Working Group (DQWG) which
have relevant membership and representation from all partner organisations.

Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the NHS
handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable information.
The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a Data Security and Protection
toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group,
other organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely,
efficiently and effectively
The CCG places high importance on ensuring there are robust Information Governance (IG) systems
and processes in place to manage data security risks and the protection of patient and corporate
information.
Responsibility for IG rests with me, as Accountable Officer; I have delegated authority to the Senior
Information Risk Owner (SIRO), the Caldicott Guardian and the Data Security and Protection Group
(DSPG). A range of measures are used to manage and mitigate information risks, including annual
mandatory staff training, physical security, data encryption, access controls and departmental spot
checks.
The CCG’s IG status is regularly reviewed by the DSPG which is a standing group that reports to the
Governing Body via the Audit and Quality Committee. Its purpose is to support and drive the
broader IG agenda and provide assurance to the Governing Body that effective IG best practice
mechanisms are in place. Risks to information, including data protection, data security,
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confidentiality, integrity and availability, are managed and controlled via this group which meets bimonthly.
The SIRO has responsibility for leading and implementing the information asset risk assessment
and management processes within the CCG in addition to advising the Governing Body on the
effectiveness of information risk management throughout the CCG.
As part of the annual DSP Toolkit submission, a comprehensive assessment of information security
is undertaken. The effectiveness of this assessment is reported to, and monitored by, the DSPG.
This includes details of any personal data related serious incidents, the CCG’s annual DSP toolkit
score and reports of other IG incidents and audit reviews. Regular reports are received in relation to
policies, the Caldicott risk register, information assets and records management.
There is a staff handbook in place to ensure that staff are aware of their roles and responsibilities
under IG and the Data Protection Act 2018.
The CCG has self-assessed against the DSP Toolkit mandatory requirements and achieved the
target of ‘standards met’.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
Information risk assessment and management procedures have been established via the DSPG, the
SIRO and the Risk Management Team. Work continually takes place to ensure that these are
embedded throughout the organisation. All incidents which have a data protection element are
investigated with lessons learnt shared via the DSP Group.
There have been no serious breaches of the Data Protection Act (Level 2 reportable) in 2018/19
which required reporting to the Information Commissioners Office.
For further information on responding to freedom of information requests please see page 42 of the
Annual Report and Accounts.

Business Critical Models
As Accountable Officer I can confirm that there is an appropriate financial and business framework
and environment in place to provide assurance of business critical models, in line with the
recommendation from the MacPherson report. These are overseen by the Governing Body and
Audit and Quality Committee. External assurance is received via external audit and quarterly
assurance meetings with NHS England.

Third party assurances
NHS Dorset CCG seeks third party assurances when a provider enters a sub-contracting
arrangement. The lead provider is then required to report on outcomes of the commissioned
service including all aspects of the sub-contracted element of the service. The NHS Standard
Contract, General Medical Services (GMS), Personal Medical Services (PMS) and Alternative
Provider Medical Services (APMS) Contracts affords the CCG adequate levers and mechanisms to
address any concerns that may arise from any third party arrangements. For Personal Health
Commissioning, when the NHS Standard Contract is not used, joint contracts with Local Authority
partners similarly offer the required level of assurance for such third party arrangements.
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Control issues
There were no significant control issues identified in 2018/19.

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
There are procurement processes to which the CCG adheres. There is a scheme of delegation which
ensures that financial controls are in place across the organisation.
The roles of the accountable and delegated committees and groups are clearly articulated in pages
59 to 60 of this statement and the scheme of delegation has been reviewed, and approved, in year.
In order to ensure that the CCG delivers on its financial duties and meets its control total, and
equally to ensure we tackle the sustainable elements of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan
(STP), a collaborative agreement was agreed by the four Foundation Trusts within Dorset and the
NHS Dorset CCG in December 2016.
Monthly monitoring of actions, performance and financial metrics have been agreed and are
monitored through by Operations and Finance Reference Group (OFRG) and the Senior Leadership
Team (SLT). In addition, Dorset has been supported as a first wave ‘Integrated Care System’ (ICS),
one of eight recognised STPs in the country, which recognises the progress Dorset has made and
continues to make. Following the move in Dorset towards an Integrated Care System, a Finance
Investment Group has now been set up, with an independent lay Chair to ensure strong system
wide governance is in place to management investment funding for, and on behalf of, the Dorset
system.
In order to continue to deliver efficiency within the CCG, a sustainability taskforce is in place led by
the Accountable Officer to ensure that Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP)
continues to be a priority.
Monthly reporting is in place to Directors, with bi-monthly reporting to the Governing Body on
financial performance and delivery against the agreed plan; this will include the actions for QIPP
and proposed mitigations for any variance to plan that could lead to non-delivery.

Delegation of functions
It is implicit through the work of the Governing Body and delegated Committees that members
have clear responsibility for ensuring appropriate use of resources. Where there are concerns in
relation to budgetary management, these are clearly documented in the Corporate Risk Register
including those key financial risks relating to the CCG’s commissioned Providers. During the course
of 2017/18 there were three risks identified and recorded on the Corporate Risk Register relating to
aspects of financial risk.
Through the committee structure within NHS Dorset CCG, regular reports are received on the
performance of contracted Providers. Areas of under and over performance are addressed through
contract meetings and reported though performance and quality papers to CCG groups and
committees.
The Audit and Quality Committee, under the scheme of delegation, monitor the financial
stewardship of the organisation via detailed reporting to every meeting and is responsible for
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scrutinising and signing off the end of year financial accounts. At year end the CCG achieved the
control total that had been agreed with NHS England.
The Governing Body, Audit and Quality Committee, Quality Surveillance Group and Directors
Performance meetings retain oversight of all risks including those deemed to be systematic and are
responsible for ensuring that relevant mitigating actions are undertaken. There have been no
significant internal control failures identified throughout the financial year 2017/18.
Internal Audit has found no significant lapses in key controls tested in any of the audits that have
been undertaken in this financial year.
With the exception of the South West 999 service and contract support for some out of area
contracts including London, Southampton, Bristol and Portsmouth, Dorset CCG does not contract
any commissioning support services from an external Provider.
The CCG commissions support services from other NHS organisations under the NHS Contract for
Goods and Services for the provision of back office functions such as payroll, occupational health
and procurement. The contract form provides the framework under which assurance on
performance can be monitored and managed.

Counter Fraud Arrangements
The CCG’s Accountable Officer for fraud, bribery and corruption is the Chief Finance Officer, who is
responsible for authorising investigations, including the arrest, interviewing and prosecution of
subjects and the recovery or write-off of any sums lost to fraud.
The CCG has a nominated Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) who is responsible for the
investigation of any allegations of fraud, bribery and corruption and for the delivery of a programme
of proactive counter fraud work, as detailed in the annual work-plan approved by the Audit and
Quality Committee. Where fraud is established or improvements to systems or processes identified,
the LCFS will recommend appropriate action to the CCG.
The LCFS works closely with the Workforce Department when investigating cases involving
members of staff and provides evidence to the CCG’s investigating officer for disciplinary matters.
Monitoring of the Group’s counter fraud arrangements is undertaken by the Audit and Quality
Committee. The LCFS, who is responsible for the investigation of any allegations of fraud, bribery
and corruption and for the delivery of a programme of proactive counter fraud work, attends each
committee meeting to report progress against the agreed counter fraud work-plan and advise the
outcome of any completed investigations or proactive exercises.
The CCG is required to submit an annual Self Review against NHS Counter Fraud Authority’s
‘Standards for Commissioners’ which provides assurance of compliance to those ‘Standards’.
A Fraud Response Plan is in place which sets out these roles and responsibilities and the steps to be
taken by the CCG if fraud is suspected. All staff are required to report any suspicions of fraud,
bribery or corruption that they may have either to the LCFS, NHS Counter Fraud Authority or the
Chief Finance Officer.
As part of the Governance arrangements that are in place, external audit undertakes ‘a value for
money’ audit, which assesses the CCGs performance in respect of efficiency, effectiveness and
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economy. This is undertaken on an annual basis to provide external assurance. In addition, the CCG
is required to report to NHS England how it is delivering in respect of use of resources as part of a
regular assurance process.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion
The role of internal audit is to provide an opinion to the Governing Body, through the Audit and
Quality Committee, on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system to ensure the
achievement of the organisation’s objectives in the areas reviewed. The annual report from internal
audit provides an overall opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk
management, control and governance processes, within the scope of work undertaken by our firm as
outsourced providers of the internal audit service. It also summarises the activities of internal audit
for the period.
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:

Report

Risk maturity assessment
Individual patient treatments
Continuing healthcare – assessment processes
Primary care commissioning
Key financial systems
Conflicts of interest
IT architecture maturity assessment
Partnership working – Dorset Cancer Partnership

Assurance Assessment
Design
Operational
Effectiveness
n/a
Moderate
Moderate
Substantial
Substantial
Substantial
n/a
Substantial

n/a
Moderate
Limited
Moderate
Substantial
Moderate
n/a
Moderate

The overall Head of Internal Audit opinion is set out as follows:
1.
2.

Overall opinion;
Basis for the opinion

Overall Opinion
Overall, we are able to provide moderate assurance that there is a sound system of internal control
designed to meet the CCG’s objectives and that controls are being applied consistently. Moderate
assurance is the second highest assurance rating and, under the previous NHS internal audit
standards, is equivalent to the following: significant assurance can be given that there is a generally
sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls
are generally being applied consistently. However, some weakness in the design and/or inconsistent
application of controls, put the achievement of particular objectives at risk.

Basis of opinion
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
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an assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Governing Body and
Assurance Framework and supporting processes
an assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments
contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been reported throughout the year.
This assessment has taken account of the relative materiality of these areas and
management’s progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses;
any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances.

In forming this view, the following was also taken into account:




the CCG is forecast to deliver its planned in year underspend of £1,734k. As a result, its
cumulative surplus that it has built up will total £35,319k;
the CCG has displayed strong controls in relation the key financial system, conflicts of interest
and primary care commissioning processes. Good progress has been made during the year
with the implementation of the actions arising from the audit work;
one report resulted in a limited assurance for operational effectiveness, with three ‘high’
rated findings. This related to the Continuing Healthcare - assessment processes. A moderate
assurance was provided on the design opinion. This area of risk was highlighted by
management and the assurance level is consistent with their expectations. This demonstrates
the CCG’s awareness of their risk areas, and their proactivity in engaging with Internal Audit
to ensure they are addressed. Work is in progress to address the actions, with additional
resource and support allocated.

Review of the effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and Internal
Control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the Clinical Commissioning Group
who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I
have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments
made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage
risks to the Clinical Commissioning Group achieving its principles objectives have been reviewed. I
have been advised on the implication of the result of this review by:





the work of the internal auditors;
Executive Directors, Senior Managers and Clinical Leads within the CCG who have
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework;
available performance information;
comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.

The Governing Body Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register have been designed to
provide me, as Accountable Officer, with sources of assurance which are evidence that the
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG are achieving their principal objectives and
are reviewed on an on-going basis as described on pages 64 to 69.
The Executive Directors within the CCG who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the system of internal control provide me, as Accountable Officer, with assurance.
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As Accountable Officer, I have received assurance of the effectiveness of the CCG’s internal controls
as discharged through the committees described in page 59 to 60. Plans are in place to address any
areas of improvement identified; monitoring arrangements are in place to address these.
Pages 63 to 75 describe the process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control, including the role and outputs of the:






Governing Body;
Audit and Quality Committee;
Clinical Commissioning Committee;
Remuneration Committee;
Primary Care Commissioning Committee.

Conclusion
I can confirm that no significant internal control issues have been identified.

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
xx May 2019
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REMUNERATION REPORT
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Governing Body about the
remuneration, fees and allowances for senior managers and the persons in senior positions within
the CCG, including those who regularly attend the Governing Body meeting, who are appointed by
or who provide services to the CCG. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by David Jenkins,
Deputy CCG Chair and Lay Member Lead for Patient and Public Involvement. Other members
during 2018/19 were:







Dr Forbes Watson, CCG Chair;
Dr Karen Kirkham, Assistant Clinical Chair, Locality Lead,
Teresa Hensman, Lay Member Lead for Governance/Chair of Audit and Quality Committee;
Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member;
Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member and Chair for Primary Care Commissioning Committee;
Mary Armitage, Secondary Care Consultation Member (from 20 September 2017).

The Committee met on three occasions in 2018/19 supported by the Chief Officer and the Director
of Engagement and Development (advisory).
Full details of the remuneration paid to the Governing Body members and senior employees are
provided within the Remuneration Report, see page 80 together with their pension entitlements.
Details of the number of committee meetings and individuals’ attendance at each can be seen on
our website.

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
The policy on remuneration of senior managers is informed by a Dorset based public sector
benchmarking exercise, and prevailing national CCG remuneration guidance and principles. The
committee continues to keep its policy under review.
Reflecting the increased level of system leadership remits, the committee reviewed the relative size
and complexity of Executive portfolios and made recommendations for adjustments to the
weighted remuneration value of those posts. Account continues to be taken of prevailing guidance
on remuneration across the NHS, including the controls on senior managers’ salaries in excess of
the Prime Minister. Dorset CCG remains compliant in this regard. The CCG anticipates publication
by NHS England of revised guidance on CCG remuneration in 2018/19 which will be considered fully
when released.

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
For the purpose of this report, senior managers are defined as being ‘those persons in senior
positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the
Clinical Commissioning Group’. This means those who influence the decisions of the organisation
as a whole, rather than the decisions of individual directorates or departments. Such persons will
include advisory and Lay Members.

May 22, 2019

78

Accountability
It is the Remuneration Committee that recommends the reward packages of Executive Directors to
the Governing Body.

Service contracts
Senior officer appointments to the CCG are consistent with the employment policies of the CCG.
Where appropriate, duration of contracts is determined by the needs of the business. Notice
periods take account of statutory requirements and terms previously established by the NHS very
senior managers’ pay framework. Substantive contracts are subject to six months’ notice of
termination. The committee is responsible for approving all non-contractual termination
payments, including any compensation for early contract termination. Liability in the event of early
termination is in accordance with the NHS Agenda for Change terms and conditions handbook and
further guidance set by NHS England on the termination and re-engagement of senior managers.
There have been no termination payments during 2018/19.
Following two senior manager departures at the end of 2017/18, the CCG made two appointments
in 2018/19 including the Director of Nursing and Quality and the Director of Primary and
Community Care. The Committee reviewed the remuneration arrangements of all posts to ensure
we could competitively secure high quality leadership to the CCG.
Other appointments to the Governing Body (excluding the Accountable Officer and Chief Finance
Officer) are determined for periods of up to three years. These are renewable under the terms
provided for by the constitution. From April 2018, a number of new and renewed appointments to
the Governing Body were made during the year, with details set out in the individual attendances
records for CCG committees.
Remuneration for the GP members of the governing body members has been reviewed annually
though remained unchanged since 2013. The committee reviewed this position and determined to
recommend a modest uplift to the nominal rates of reimbursement for those GPs engaged across
the CCG. This recommendation was approved by those non-conflicted members of the Governing
Body.
Please see the Governing Body Report page 57 for information on contract details. Governing Body
and senior managers’ profiles can be found on our website.
Corporate objectives (see page 7) for local corporate objectives for 2018/19) are reviewed via the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Governing Body. The objectives are distributed to
the senior management team where performance is reviewed six monthly by the Chief Officer; and
by the Chair for the Chief Officer. Individual senior manager and clinical leadership performance is
reported to the Remuneration Committee annually.
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements)
TABLE 26: SENIOR MANAGER REMUNERATION (INCLUDING SALARY AND PENSION ENTITLEMENTS) 2018/19 (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)

Name and Title

Directors
Dr Forbes Watson, Chair
Mr Tim Goodson, Chief Officer
Mr Stuart Hunter, Chief Finance Officer
Mrs Vanessa Read, Director of Nursing and Quality
Dr Phil Richardson, Chief System Integration Officer
Mrs Sally Sandcraft, Director of Primary and Community Care
Mr Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and Development
Mr Conrad Lakeman, Secretary and General Counsel (part time)
Locality Chairs
Dr Jenny Bubb, GP Locality Chair for Mid Dorset1
Dr Colin Davidson, GP Locality Chair for East Dorset
Dr Nick Evans, GP Locality Chair for Poole Bay1
Dr David Haines, GP Locality Chair for Purbeck1
Dr Karen Kirkham, GP Locality Chair for Weymouth and Portland, Assistant Clinical Chair
role, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Maternity and Family Health)1
Dr Tom Knight, GP Locality Chair, North Bournemouth
Dr Blair Millar, GP Locality Chair for West Dorset
Dr Mufeed Ni'man, GP Locality Chair for East Bournemouth
Dr Ravin Ramtohal, GP Locality Chair for Christchurch 1
Dr David Richardson, GP Locality Chair for Poole North1
Dr Ben Sharland, GP Locality Chair for Central Bournemouth
Dr Simon Watkins, GP Locality Chair for Poole Central. GP Clinical Delivery Group (Pan –
Urgent Care, Clinical Services Review and Better Together) Lead and Urgent and
Emergency Care Clinical Working Group Chair
Dr Simone Yule, GP Locality Chair for North Dorset
Lay Members
Mrs Teresa Hensman, Lay Member with responsibility for Governance, Chair of the Audit
and Quality Committee
Mr David Jenkins, Lay Member with responsibility for Public Engagement, Deputy Chair
of the Clinical Commissioning Group and Chair of the Remuneration Committee
Mrs Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member with responsibility for Primary Care

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)2
to nearest
£100**

£000

£

Annual
performance
related
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

80 - 85
145 - 150
135 - 140
105 - 110
105 - 110
100 - 105
100 - 105
20 - 25

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
135 - 140

0
0
0
0
0

25 - 30
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
60 - 65

2018/19
Long term
performance
related
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
25 - 27.5
0
187.5 - 190
27.5 - 30
147.5 - 150
12.5 - 15
0

80 - 85
175 - 180
135 - 140
295 - 300
135 - 140
250 - 255
115 - 120
20 - 25

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
135 - 140

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

25 - 30
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
60 - 65

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20
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Name and Title

Independent Lay Members
Mr Charles Buckle, Independent Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality Committee
Mr Martin Davies, Independent Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality Committee
Other Members
Dr Mary Armitage, Secondary Care Consultant Member (from 20.9.17)
Ms Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member
Clinical Leads (not members of the Governing Body)
Dr Paul French, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Mental Health) Lead
Dr Craig Wakeham, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Long Term Conditions and Frail Elderly)
Lead and Chief Clinical Information Officer
Dr Christian Verrinder, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Planned and Specialist Care) Lead
Associate Medical Director (DCH)1

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)2
to nearest
£100**

£000

£

Annual
performance
related
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

0-5
0-5

0
0

0
0

15 - 20
15 - 20

0
0

35 - 40
50 - 55
55 - 60

2018/19
Long term
performance
related
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

0
0

0
0

0-5
0-5

0
0

0
0

0
0

15 - 20
15 - 20

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

35 - 40
50 - 55

0

0

0

0

55 - 60

Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100.
1

Although include on the CCG’s payroll, GP leads are deemed to have a contract for service and any pension payments are ‘practitioner’
contributions paid via the NHS Pension Scheme’s GP SOLO route. Therefore, no pension benefit figures are provided to the CCG, as these are
included in the individual’s GP pension.

2

Taxable benefits relate to on-call and mileage above taxation threshold.
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TABLE 27: SENIOR MANAGER REMUNERATION (INCLUDING SALARY AND PENSION ENTITLEMENTS 2017/18) – SUBJECT TO AUDIT

Name and Title

Directors
Dr Forbes Watson, Chair1
Mr Tim Goodson, Chief Officer
Mr Stuart Hunter, Chief Finance Officer (from 30.5.17)
Mr Paul Vater, Chief Finance Officer (left 29.5.17)
Mr Conrad Lakeman, Secretary and General Counsel (part time)
Dr Phil Richardson, Chief System Integration Officer
Mrs Sally Shead, Director of Nursing and Quality
Mr Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and Development
Mrs Sally Sandcraft, Acting Director of Primary and Community Care (from 15.1.18)
Mr Mike Wood, Director of Service Delivery
Locality Chairs
Dr Jenny Bubb, GP Locality Chair for Mid Dorset1
Dr Colin Davidson, GP Locality Chair for East Dorset
Dr Nick Evans, GP Locality Chair for Poole Bay1
Dr David Haines, GP Locality Chair for Purbeck1
Dr Karen Kirkham, GP Locality Chair for Weymouth and Portland, Assistant Clinical Chair
role, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Maternity and Family Health)1
Dr Blair Millar, GP Locality Chair for West Dorset
Dr Mufeed Ni'man, GP Locality Chair for East Bournemouth
Dr Ravin Ramtohal, GP Locality Chair for Christchurch (from 10.5 17)1
Dr David Richardson, GP Locality Chair for Poole North1
Dr Ben Sharland, GP Locality Chair for Central Bournemouth
Dr Simon Watkins, GP Locality Chair for Poole Central. GP Lead Urgent Care
Dr Simone Yule, GP Locality Chair for North Dorset
Lay Members
Mrs Teresa Hensman, Lay Member with responsibility for Governance, Chair of the Audit
and Quality Committee
Mr David Jenkins, Lay Member with responsibility for Public Engagement, Deputy Chair
of the Clinical Commissioning Group and Chair of the Remuneration Committee
Ms Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member with responsibility for Primary Care
Independent Lay Members
Mr Charles Buckle, Independent Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality Committee
Mr Martin Davies, Independent Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality Committee
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2017/18
Performance
Long term
pay and
performance
bonuses
pay and
(bands of
bonuses
£5,000)
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
£000

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100**

All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

80 - 85
140 - 145
110 - 115
15 - 20
55 - 60
100 - 105
100 - 105
100 - 105
80 - 85
100 - 105

0
0
100
1,300
200
200
400
400
300
300

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
32.5 - 35
7.5 - 10
22.5 - 25
10 - 12.5
22.5 - 25
12.5 - 15
12.5 - 15
10 - 12.5
20 - 22.5

80 - 85
175 - 180
115 - 120
40 - 45
70 - 75
125 - 130
115 - 120
115 - 120
95 - 100
120 - 125

25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
30 - 35
105 - 110

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
30 - 35
105 - 110

25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
55 - 60
25 - 30

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
55 - 60
25 - 30

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

0-5
0-5

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0-5
0-5
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Name and Title

Other Members
Ms Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member
Dr George Thomson, Secondary Care Consultant Member (left 10.5.17)3
Dr Mary Armitage, secondary care consultant member (from 20.9.17)
Clinical Leads (not members of the Governing Body)
Dr Lionel Cartwright, GP Lead Cancer and End of Life Lead
Dr Paul French, GP Lead Mental Health
Dr Craig Wakeham, GP Lead Long Term Conditions and Frail Elderly and Chief Clinical
Information Officer
Dr Christian Verrinder, GP Lead Planned and Specialist Care

2017/18
Performance
Long term
pay and
performance
bonuses
pay and
(bands of
bonuses
£5,000)
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
£000

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100**

All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

15 - 20
140 - 145
5 - 10

0
68,100
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
62.5 - 65
0

15 - 20
270 - 275
5 - 10

10 - 15
35 - 40
55 - 60

0
700
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

10 - 15
35 - 40
55 - 60

35 - 40

0

0

0

0

35 - 40

** Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100.
Notes:

1. Although included on the CCG’s payroll, GP leads are deemed to have a contract for service and any pension payments are ‘Practitioner’ contributions paid via the NHS
Pension Scheme’s GP SOLO route. Therefore, no pension benefit figures are provided to the CCG, as these are included in the individual’s GP pension.

2. Taxable Benefits relate to on-call and mileage above taxation threshold.
3. Dr Thomson is employed by Northern Devon Healthcare NHS Trust and recharged to the Clinical Commissioning Group. In accordance with the Group Accounting Manual,
100% of Dr Thomson's pay is shown above, however, only 12% of basic pay relates to his Clinical Commissioning Group engagement. Dr Thomson resigned from his Clinical
Commissioning Group role on 10 May 2017.
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2019 (subject to audit)
TABLE 28: PENSION BENEFITS AS AT 31 MARCH 2019
Name and Title

Tim Goodson, Chief Officer
Stuart Hunter, Chief Finance Officer
Vanessa Read, Director of Nursing and Quality
Phil Richardson, Chief Systems Integration Officer
Sally Sandcraft, Director of Primary and
Community Care
Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and
Development
Conrad Lakeman, Secretary and General Counsel

Scheme

Old
2015
Old
Old
Old
2015
Old

Real
increase in
pension at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

Total accrued
pension at
pension age
at 31 March
2019

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0
2.5 - 5
0
7.5 - 10

0
0
0
25 - 27.5

35 - 40
10 - 15
55 - 60
35 - 40

105 - 110
0
175 - 180
105 - 110

609
81
1,274
471

65
39
62
226

692
133
1,393
725

0
0
0
0

0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5

0
0

0-5
5 - 10

0
0

12
71

2
27

15
114

0
0

5 - 7.5

20 - 22.5

40 - 45

120 - 125

603

207

841

0

0 - 2.5
0
0

2.5 - 5
0
0

30 - 35
5 - 10
0-5

90 - 95
0
0

576
371
10

75
0
0

682
85
8

0
0
0

(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued
pension at 31
March 2019
(bands of
£5,000)

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value at 1
April 2019

Real
increase in
cash
equivalent
transfer
value at 31
March 2019

Cash
equivalent
transfer value
at 31 March
2019

Employer’s
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

Old
Old
2015

Notes:
1
2
3
4

5
6
7

Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration.
Full details of the accounting policy regarding pension costs can be found within Note 4 of the full set of audited financial statements.
As it is not possible to apportion the CETV across organisations the full value for each senior manager is reported above.
GPs who serve on the Governing Body for the Clinical Commissioning Group are either recognised as being under a ‘contract for service’ and a
current practitioner and therefore according to the NHS Pension Agency do not fall within the definition of a senior manager for disclosure
under Greenbury; or are a retired practitioner and do not receive pensionable remuneration. GP practitioner pension contributions are made
by the GP SOLO system, and are therefore not reflected in the table above.
‘0’ is shown where a senior manager is part of the 2008 NHS Pension Scheme, which does not have a lump sum entitlement.
The factors used to calculate the CETV increased by 3% on 29 October 2018.
Where partial benefits have been taken the NHS Pension Agency can no longer provide CETV figures and ‘0’ is shown.
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Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the
member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension
payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in
another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to
transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the
benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension
scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another
scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also
include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing
additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in
accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any
benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement).

Pension liabilities
For more information regarding pension benefits and costs please see the Financial Statements
section on page 12 (see Note 1.6.2 Accounting Policies, Note 4 Employee Benefits and Note 14
Trade and other Payables).

Losses and special payments
There were three special payments in 2018/19, totalling £29,400 and none in 2017/18. In 2018/19
there was one loss of £4.20, and none in 2017/18.

Compensation on early retirement or of loss of office (subject to audit)
There were no ill-health retirements in 2018/19.

Payments to past directors (subject to audit)
We had no payments to past directors in 2018/19 or in the preceding five years.

Pay multiples (subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest
paid director/Member (Governing Body member) in the organisation and the median remuneration
of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded midpoint range of staff remuneration is between £17,500 and £152,500.
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The banded midpoint remuneration of the highest paid director/Member in the NHS Dorset CCG in
the financial year 2018/19 was £152,500 (2017/18, £142,500). This was 4.2 times (2017/18, 4.0) the
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £36,644 (2017/18, £35,577).
The ratio between the highest paid director and the median of the workforce has increased by 0.2,
due to an increase in the workforce, especially at senior posts in specialist areas.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind,
but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash
equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Remuneration of very senior managers
Governing Body GP members are employed by the CCG on a part time basis. The full time
equivalent salary exceeds £150,000 per annum. There is a recognition that GP retention is a critical
challenge to the NHS with competing pressures in practice arising from increased clinical demand in
Primary Care. GP Governing Body members rely on the practice cover of partners and salaried or
locum GPs in order to release clinical time to commit to their Governing Body roles.
The remuneration for GPs is paid in line with the NHS England Guidance CCG governing body
members: role outlines, attributes and skills which states that remuneration should be either at a
rate commensurate with allowing backfill or in line with local sessional rate. Governing Body GPs
are paid a sessional rate in line with this guidance.

STAFF REPORT
Number of senior managers
Table 29 shows the number of senior managers by band, excluding Governing Body members
within NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group.
TABLE 29: NUMBER OF SENIOR MANAGERS BY BAND
NHS Dorset CCG
Very senior manager
Band 8d
Band 8c
Band 8b
Band 8a
Total

Number
4
13
17
34
45
113

Staff numbers and costs (subject to audit)
TABLE 30: AVERAGE STAFF NUMBERS
Average staff
numbers
Other
Total

86

2018/19
Permanently employed
Other
No.
No.
323
15
323
15

Total
No.
305
305

Permanently
employed No.
305
305

2017/18
Other
No.
14
14

Total
No.
319
319
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TABLE 31: STAFF COSTS 2018/19

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Apprenticeship levy
Gross admin employee benefits expenditure
Less: Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Net admin employee benefits expenditure including
capitalised costs
Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net admin employee benefits expenditure excluding
capitalised costs
Total average number of people employed
Of above, number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

Permanent
employees
£’000

Other

Total

£’000

£’000

13,318
1,362
1,629
55
16,364
(377)
15,987

627
0
0
0
627
0
627

13,946
1,362
1,629
55
16,992
(377)
16,614

0
15,987

0
627

0
16,614

323
0.00

15
0.00

338
0.00

Staff composition
Table 32 shows the gender distribution of our Governing Body and independent lay members,
senior managers and all other employees as at 31 March 2019.
TABLE 32: STAFF NUMBERS BY GENDER

NHS Dorset CCG
Governing Body and
independent lay
members
Very senior
managers
Senior managers
Other staff
Total

Number
Male
16

Female
7

Total
23

2

2

4

33
42
93

76
210
295

109
252
388

Gender pay gap
From 31 March 2017, all public sector organisations in England employing 250 or more staff are
required to publish gender pay gap information annually. Our gender pay gap, as at 31 March 2018,
is +20%, and more detailed explanation and next steps can be found on our website. The
designated government website at www.gov.uk/genderpaygap also contains more information.
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Sickness absence data
TABLE 33: STAFF SICKNESS ABSENCE

Total of full time equivalent (FTE) days sick
Total average number of staff (FTE)
Average annual sick days per FTE

2018/19
Number
3,739
332
6.90

The figures in Table 33 are provided by NHS Digital and must be used. Figures are for calendar
years.
TABLE 34: % OF STAFF SICK OR ABSENCE

CCG average
NHS rate
CCG target

2018/19
%
2.72
4.08
3.00

Over the last year we have built on previous good practice surrounding the management of staff
absence. However, we have seen a number of long term sickness cases which have adversely
affected the CCG absence rate.
The overall absence rate for the CCG during 2018/19 is 2.72%. This compares to the absence rate of
4.07% seen in 2017/18. The rate is being challenged through a number of actions including:








The CCG in introducing Manager Self Service ESR (the NHS payroll system). This will give
managers more control over the reporting of absence and also give them real time date on
absence levels;
Sickness data is monitored closely by our Workforce team to ensure that support is provided to
both staff and their line managers where needed as quickly as possible;
The Workforce team ran a ‘Calendar of Support’ through 2018 to provide a number of support
mechanisms for employees to discuss any personal issues, as well as offering stress risk
assessments and training in identifying the signs of stress;
At all stages of absences employees are reminded of the Employee Assistance Programme and
the support they offer. The CCG has also engaged external bodies such as the YOU Trust and
Remploy to support staff during absence;
A member of the workforce team will contact the relevant line manager and offer support and
guidance as soon as the team is aware of any new long term absences; absences due to serious
medical conditions; patterns of absence which could indicate potential warnings signs of stress;
as well as when a staff member hits our agreed trigger point for short term absences;
A number of long term absences have been managed to ensure either a successful return to
work or that the employee leaves the CCG within the correct processes. This has included
successfully supporting employees to apply for ill-health retirement.

Other employee matters
Staff health and wellbeing
We are committed to the health and wellbeing of our staff and in addition to the work we do to
support absence management, we continued to develop our wider offering during 2018:
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in early 2018 we launched the People and Culture Programme with Culture Champions from
each Directorate. The Programme involve staff at all levels, to develop a culture fitting the
needs of the CCG and its staff;
the support of an informal staff buddy system following feedback from the NHS staff survey;
We continue to promote and champion flexible working practices, resulting in a largest increase
in scoring on the 2018 staff survey being around the offer of flexible working;
development of intranet information hubs to support carers as well as staff with long term
health conditions;
promotion of self-help webinars launched recently by our employee assistance programme
provider.

Alongside these activities we have been working with NHS providers across Dorset to develop a
more consistent and effective offering.

Staff policies
The CCG has policies in place to provide guidance to all employees. All human resource policies
have been written to ensure equality and diversity is upheld in the workplace.
The human resources policies within the CCG were written in April 2014 with a commitment to
review every two years. With this in mind we reviewed the policies in March 2016 and completed
the second full review with the policies approved by Directors in March 2018. This review was
informed by the recent work the CCG has undertaken on its working culture with the full
involvement of our employees.
Through 2018/19 we have been working with NHS providers in Dorset to co-ordinate HR policies to
ensure ease of progression from one NHS organisation to another.

Employee engagement
The CCG is committed to involving and communicating with staff across a range of matters. This is
through a variety of channels such as our re-vamped #FYI weekly staff bulletin and monthly
briefings, as well as:






the CCG organised a large-scale ICS employee engagement event with over 200 people from
across the health and care economy in Dorset;
Our Voice Our Forum - a staff forum with representatives from across the organisation;
staff survey - in 2018/19 the CCG again used the NHS staff survey as a mechanism for gathering
the views of our employees. We received a response rate of 85.3% which was consistent with
the rate recorded in 2017/18. The Workforce team has already embarked on a number of actions
as a result of the 2018/19 survey outcomes and will continue to work with directors and line
managers to improve the working lives of our employees;
staff events - in 2018/19 the CCG held two all staff events and both were focused around the
needs of the employees of the organisation. At the December event we held the finale of the
Spotlight Awards. We introduced the awards in early 2017, and they allow anyone in the
organisation to nominate a colleague for recognition against one of the six values of the CCG.
At the end of the year, with the assistance of the members of Our Voice: Our Forum, we
shortlisted to three in each category. The Directors then selected the winners and they were
awarded a glass trophy at the December staff event.
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Disabled employees
The CCG continues to be proactive in it recruitment of disabled employees. We remain committed
to the national ‘Two Ticks’ symbol and have also achieved Disability Confident status which means
we have committed to:





interview all disabled applicants who meet the minimum criteria for a job vacancy and to
consider them on their abilities;
make every effort when employees become disabled to make sure they stay in employment;
take action to ensure that all employees develop the appropriate level of disability awareness
needed to make these commitments work;
we also trained a number of workstation assessors on both of our sites to allow more informal
assessments to be undertaken ahead of any Occupational Health referrals.

Development of our staff
The workforce team work closely with managers and staff to ensure the right development is in
place to support to deliver in their roles. In 2018/19 the Personal Development Conversation
(appraisal) process was enhanced through the removal of the ratings system to allow for a more
open flow of conversation between managers and staff with greater focus on personal growth and
development linked to the needs of the role and career aspirations. The completion rate for staff
appraisals was 97%, as recorded through the staff survey. The outputs from this process feeds into
the annual training needs analysis process, which led to identifying and delivery of the following
priorities for 2017/18:






programme management, designed in line with the CCG processes and aligned to PRINCE2
best practice;
focused development on key areas including leadership; Transformational conversations
brought leaders from across Health and Care in Dorset to learn together and collaborate on
transforming care to meet current and future challenges;
manager development through our Managers Essentials programme;
tailored communication and engagement development to meet the growing need for public
and patient engagement and consultation;
development to support members including Hot Topics; a GP development day with 200 GPs
from across Dorset attending an educational conference organised by the CCG.

The CCG is also committed to ensuring all staff have completed their statutory and mandatory
training. The completion rate is currently 90.3%.
The CCG are committed to working as part of a system wide collaborative to ensure the best return
on investment for our apprenticeship levy. Levy funds will be used to support key development
priorities.
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Trade union (facility time publication requirements) regulations 2017
TABLE 35: RELEVANT UNION OFFICIALS
Number of employees who were relevant union officials during
1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Full-time equivalent employee number

1

1.00

TABLE 36: PERCENTAGE OF TIME SPENT ON FACILITY TIME
Number of employees who were relevant union officials employed during the relevant period spent their working
hours on facility time
Percentage of time
Number of employees

0%
1-50%
51%-99%
100%

0
1
0
0

TABLE 37: PERCENTAGE OF PAY BILL SPENT ON FACILITY TIME
Pay bill spent on facility time
Total cost of facility time
Total pay bill
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time

Figures
£2,484.81
£16,711,416.74
0.01%

The time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facility time hours is
100%.

Health and safety performance
We are committed to ensuring the health and safety of all our employees. It is important to us as an
organisation that we provide a safe environment for people to work in where their health and safety
is valued, and in doing this we continue to work closely with our landlord and security management
teams. In order to ensure as far as possible the health and safety of our staff we have a number of
procedures in place:







we continue to have robust governance of health and safety matters through reporting to our
directors’ meetings, and a trade union representative attends some health and safety
meetings;
we have reviewed and up-dated all our health and safety policies;
we have updated building risk assessments and implemented mitigating actions;
we continue to hold bi-annual health and safety meetings with our staff representatives (fire,
first aid, general health and safety) and maintain training certificates as required;
fire marshals and general health and safety representatives continue to undertake monthly risk
assessments;
a personal emergency evacuation plan procedure is in place for staff and visitors who require
assistance to evacuate a building, and associated training for fire marshals on the use of a ski
pad at Vespasian House is maintained.
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Further health and safety action implementations have been as follows:







a contract is in place with a new contractor for the annual emergency light testing at Canford
House;
the fire alarm test procedure has been amended to incorporate training for the fire wardens on
accessing the loft base and basement areas for checking detectors;
informal scenario training for first aiders is being undertaken on a 6 monthly basis by a staff
member who is also a St Johns Ambulance trainer;
the Security Management Policy has been up-dated to include a lockdown procedure;
a lone worker risk assessment has been developed and implemented;
the re-design of Vespasian House reception to improve security for the building is being
planned in conjunction with our landlord.

Expenditure on consultancy
TABLE 38: EXPENDITURE ON CONSULTANCY
Supplier
Nil return for 2018/19
Supplier
Nil return for 2017/18

2018/19
Details
2017/18
Details
-

£’000
£’000
-

Off-payroll engagements – subject to audit
For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, for more than £245
per day and that last longer than six months:
TABLE 39: OFF-PAYROLL ENGAGEMENTS LONGER THAN 6 MONTHS
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019

6

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting
for between one and two years at the time of reporting
for between two and three years at the time of reporting
for between three and four years at the time of reporting
for four or more years at the time of reporting

92

0
0
1
1
4
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TABLE 40: NEW OFF-PAYROLL ENGAGEMENTS
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration,
between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019

1

Of which:
Number assessed as caught by IR35
Number assessed as not caught by IR35

0
0

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on
the departmental payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance purposes
during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the
consistency review

0
17
1

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and/or senior officials with significant financial
responsibility, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018. Although included on the CCG’s payroll, GP
leads are deemed to have a contract for service and any pension payments are ‘Practitioner’
contributions, paid via the NHS Pension Scheme’s GP SOLO route. Therefore, whilst not off-payroll
for the purposes of the above tables, GP leads are treated separately to other individuals on the
CCG payroll. All individuals, including GP leads, added to the CCG payroll system and all members
of the GP SOLO scheme are checked to ensure compliance with Income Tax and National Insurance
obligations.
There were no off-payroll engagements that fell outside of the GP leads group, requiring assurance
to be sought, and obtained, in relation to Income Tax and National Insurance obligations for that
individual.
TABLE 41: OFF-PAYROLL BOARD MEMBER/SENIOR OFFICIAL ENGAGEMENTS
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior
officers with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year

6

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been deemed
“board members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial
responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should include both
on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

27

The six off-payroll engagements are for five GPs who are Governing Board members and one GP
who is GP lead for the CCG.
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments
TABLE 42: EXIT PACKAGES 2018/19 – SUBJECT TO AUDIT
Exit package
cost band
(inc. any
special
payment
element

TOTALS

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other
departures
agreed

Cost of other
departures
agreed

Total
number of
exit
packages

Total cost of
exit packages

Whole
numbers only

£s

Whole
numbers
only
0

£s

Whole
numbers
only

£s

0

0

0

0

0

Number of
departures
where special
payments
have been
made
Whole
numbers only
0

Cost of special
payment
element
included in exit
packages
£s

0

Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the terms of the individual contracts of employment. Exit costs
in this note are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the NHS Dorset CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by the
NHS Dorset CCG and not by the NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement pension costs are met by the NHS Pensions Scheme and are not included in
the table.
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TABLE 43: ANALYSIS OF OTHER DEPARTURES – SUBJECT TO AUDIT
Agreements
Number
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
TOTAL

0
0

Total Value of agreements
£000s
0
0

Better payments practice code
In accordance with the Better Payments Practice Code, valid invoices should be paid by their due
date or within 30 days of receipt, whichever is later. Our performance is presented below, measured
in terms of both the number and value of invoices received, against an NHS administrative target to
pay over 95% of non-NHS trade creditors in accordance with the code.
TABLE 44: NON-NHS PAYABLES

Total bills paid in year
Total bills paid within target
Percentage of bills paid within target

2018/19
Number
£'000
27,820
292,978
27,457
291,471
98.7%
99.5%

2017/18
Number
£'000
28,232
280,810
27,698
278,166
98.1%
99.1%

TABLE 45: NHS PAYABLES

Total bills paid in year
Total bills paid within target
Percentage of bills paid within target

2018/19
Number
£'000
4,081
791,269
4,039
791,507
99.0%
100.0%

2017/18
Number
£'000
3,982
757,003
3,935
757,063
98.8%
100.0%

Where the value of 'total bills paid within target' is greater than 'total bills paid in year' this is due to
credit note(s) which cannot be removed from the calculations.

Prompt payments code
We are a signatory to the prompt payment code.
The Prompt Payment Code sets standards for payment practices and best practice and is
administered by the Chartered Institute of Credit Management on behalf of the Department for
Business Innovation and Skills. Compliance with the principles of the code is monitored and
enforced by the Prompt Payment Code Compliance Board. The code covers prompt payment, as
well as wider payment procedures, and in signing up we undertake to:


pay suppliers on time:




within the terms agreed at the outset of the contract;
without attempting to change payment terms retrospectively;
without changing practice on length of payment for small companies on unreasonable
grounds.
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give clear guidance to suppliers:






provide suppliers with clear and easily accessible guidance on payment procedures;
ensure there is a system for dealing with complaints and disputes which is communicated to
suppliers;
advise them promptly if there is any reason why an invoice will not be paid within the
agreed terms.

encourage good practice:


request that lead suppliers encourage adoption of the code through their own supply
chains.

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
xx May 2019
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PARLIAMENTARY ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT REPORT
Parliamentary accountability
NHS Dorset CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report.
Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and
charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report at Note 16. An audit
certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 98.

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
xx May 2019
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Audit report
Independent auditor’s report to the members of the Governing Body of NHS
Dorset CCG

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for year ended
31 March 2019

NOTE

Revenue from sale of goods and services
Other operating revenue
Total Operating Revenue

2
2

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Total Operating Expenditure

5
5
5
5

Net Operating Expenditure
Financing
Finance expense
Net financing costs for the financial year

7

Total Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the financial year

2018-19
Total
£000

2017-18
Total
£000

(10,132)
(100)
(10,232)

(13,102)
(9)
(13,111)

16,992
1,192,445
525
4,035
2,842
1,216,839

15,746
1,150,753
500
2,018
2,748
1,171,765

1,206,607

1,158,654

109
109

(179)
(179)

1,206,716

1,158,475

The notes on pages 5 to 22 form part of this statement.

The purpose of this statement is to summarise, on an accruals basis, the net operating costs of the Clinical
Commissioning Group. The statement identifies gross operating costs, less miscellaneous income, to arrive at
the net operating costs of the Clinical Commissioning Group.

SOCNE
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Statement of Financial Position at
31 March 2019
NOTE

31 March 2019

31 March 2018

£000

£000

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets

9
10

727
370
1,096

897
165
1,062

Current Assets
Inventories
Trade & other receivables
Cash & cash equivalents
Total Current Assets

11
12
13

1,235
10,513
28
11,776

1,472
10,734
17
12,223

12,872

13,285

14
15

(52,386)
(4,960)
(57,346)
(44,474)

(50,999)
(3,749)
(54,748)
(41,463)

15

(2,053)
(2,053)
(46,527)

(580)
(580)
(42,044)

(46,527)
(46,527)

(42,044)
(42,044)

Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Trade & other payables
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities
Total Non Current Assets less Net Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Assets less Liabilities
Financed by Taxpayers' Equity
General fund
Total Taxpayers' Equity
The notes on pages 5 to 22 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on xx May 2019 and signed
on its behalf by:

Accountable Officer
Date xx May 2019

SOFP
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2019

Balance at 1 April 2018
Net operating costs for the financial year

Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

General
Fund
£000

Revaluation
Reserve
£000

Other
Reserves
£000

Total

(42,044)

0

0

(42,044)

(1,206,716)

0

0

(1,206,716)

(1,248,760)

0
0
0

0
0
0

(1,248,760)

1,202,233
(46,527)

General Fund
£000

Revaluation
Reserve
£000

Other
Reserves
£000

Total
£000

(43,598)

0

0

(43,598)

(1,158,475)

0

0

(1,158,475)

(1,202,073)

0

0

(1,202,073)

1,160,029
(42,044)

0
0

0
0

1,160,029
(42,044)

£000

1,202,233
(46,527)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 1 April 2017
Net operating costs for the financial year

Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2018

Changes in an entity's equity between the beginning and the end of the reporting period reflect the increase or decrease in its net assets during
the period.
The Statement has been interpreted to include figures for net operating costs for the year and funding for the year.

SOCITE
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2019
NOTE
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenses for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance costs
Unwinding of discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities

2&5
5, 9 & 10
5 & 15
15
11
12
14
15
15

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Investing Activities

9
10

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net funding received
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

13

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the
Financial Year

13

2018-19
£000

2017-18
£000

(1,206,716)
525
179
109
237
221
1,437
(1,461)
3,856
(1,201,613)

(1,158,477)
500
(102)
(179)
(213)
1,099
(4,110)
(455)
2,120
(1,159,817)

(338)
(272)
(610)

(124)
(90)
(214)

(1,202,223)

(1,160,031)

1,202,233
1,202,233

1,160,029
1,160,029

11

(1)

17

17

28

17

The Statement of Cash Flows provides information on Clinical Commissioning Group liquidity, viability and financial adaptability.

SCF
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The notes to the accounts provide additional details on the entries on the primary statements as well as
additional disclosures, such as the accounting policies that the organisation follows when preparing its
accounts.

Cover Notes
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1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups shall meet the accounting requirements
of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained
in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and
appropriate to Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting
Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged
to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Clinical Commissioning Group for the purpose of giving a true and fair
view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the Clinical Commissioning Group are described below. They have
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is
anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using
the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of
Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in line with management information used
within the clinical commissioning group.

1.4

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
No critical judgements with a significant effect on the amounts recognised on the financial statements were required.
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies
are detailed within the relevant disclosure notes to these financial statements, most notably the Provisions Note.

1.4.1
1.4.2

1.5

Revenue
The transition to IFRS 15 has been completed in accordance with paragraph C3 (b) of the Standard, applying the Standard
retrospectively recognising the cumulative effects at the date of initial application.
In the adoption of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the Clinical Commissioning Group will not disclose information regarding performance
obligations part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical
expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the
performance completed to date.
• The HM Treasury published Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in
C7(a) of the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before
the date of initial application.
The main source of revenue is NHS England and other Clinical Commissioning Groups.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised
services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. Significant terms include payment within 30 days, more details
can be found in Note 6 - Better Payment Practice Code, to the Accounts.
The value of the benefit received when the Clinical Commissioning Group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship
service are recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid
directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both
equal to the cost of the training funded.

1.6
1.6.1

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Note 1
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1.6.2

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the
period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the
extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
The Clinical Commissioning Group allows a maximum of five days to be carried forward, but only in exceptional circumstances.
Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. The schemes is an unfunded, defined
benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of
State, in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their
share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as if it were a defined contribution
scheme: the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the schemes is taken as equal to the contributions
payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full
amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself
to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are
measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.8

Grants Payable
Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific period, the Clinical
Commissioning Group recognises the expenditure in the period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an
accruals basis.

1.8
1.8.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
• It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the Clinical Commissioning Group;
• It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets
are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control; or,
• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or
collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the
components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
Measurement
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or
constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the Clinical Commissioning Group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the
statement of financial position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that
would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets
and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost
includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for
assets held at fair value. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current
value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset
previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged
there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an
impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to
expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and
losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure.
Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised.
Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing
carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.8.2

1.8.3

Note 1
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1.9
1.9.1

1.9.2

Intangible Assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the
Clinical Commissioning Group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
• When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Clinical Commissioning
Group;
• Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
• Where the cost is at least £5,000.
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets
are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for
example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not
integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on
research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated
assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
•The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
•The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
•The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
•How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
•The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
•The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Measurement
Intangible assets acquired separately are intially recognised at cost. The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internallygenerated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or,
where no active market exists, at the lower of amortised replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income
generating . Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs
and technological advances. Revaluations and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment.

1.10

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and
intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption
of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the Clinical
Commissioning Group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the Clinical
Commissioning Group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are
reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the Clinical Commissioning Group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or
intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment
charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but
capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment
loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.11

Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. The Clinical Commissiong Group
has no Deferred income.

1.12

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.
1.12.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are
recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Note 1
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Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether
they are operating or finance leases.
1.12.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straightline basis over the lease term.
1.13

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

1.14

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.
Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and
that form an integral part of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s cash management.

1.15

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using
HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement
of Financial Position date:
• A nominal short-term rate of 0.76% (2017-18: negative 2.42% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and
including 5 years from Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal medium-term rate of 1.14% (2017-18: negative 1.85% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5
years up to and including 10 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2017-18: negative 1.56% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10
years and up to and including 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2017-18: negative 1.56% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows
exceeding 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.
All 2018-19 percentages are expressed in nominal terms with 2017-18 being the last financial year that HM Treasury provided real
general provision discount rates.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

1.16

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to
NHS Resolution which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS
Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Clinical Commissioning
Group.

1.17

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both
are risk pooling schemes under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and, in
return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in
respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.18

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Clinical Commissioning
Group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the
possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Clinical Commissioning Group. A
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.19

Financial Assets

Note 1
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1.19.1
1.19.2
1.19.3
1.19.4

Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in
the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
• Financial assets at amortised cost;
• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9,
and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
Financial Assets at Amortised cost
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial Assets at Amortised cost.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical
commissioning group recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss
allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For
other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month
expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other
government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where
repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for
stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally DHSC provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of
its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage
2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting
date are measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Loans, only Receivables.

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been
received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has
expired.
1.20.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
• The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
• The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities.
1.20.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial Liabilities with embedded derivatives.
1.20.3 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for
loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is
recognised using the effective interest method.
1.20

1.21

Value Added Tax (VAT)
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in
the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net
of VAT.

1.22

Foreign Currencies
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a
foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting
exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit in the period in
which they arise.

1.23

Losses & Special Payments
Note 1
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Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service
or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that
individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses
which would have been made good through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its own risks
(with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
1.24

Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts include all
transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life,
and the sale or lease of assets at below market value. The Clincial Commissioning Groups Gifts, Hospitality Sponsorship register
can be found on our website www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/gift.

1.25

Accounting Standards that have been Issued but have not yet been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual does not require the following IFRS Standards and
Interpretations to be applied in 2018-19. These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for
implementation in 2019-20, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the
FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet
adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.
● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019.
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2018-19, were they applied in
that year.

Note 1
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2. Other Operating Revenue

Revenue from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other Contract revenue
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total revenue from sale of goods and services
Other operating revenue
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure: non-NHS
Total Other operating revenue
Total Operating revenue

2018-19
Total
£000

2017-18
Total
£000

3
(9,583)
(175)
(377)
(10,132)

(26)
(12,608)
(355)
(113)
(13,102)

(100)
(100)

(9)
(9)

(10,232)

(13,111)

This note discloses the revenue that relates directly to the operating activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group, it excludes cash received from NHS
England by the Clinical Commissioning Group, which is credited directly to the General Fund.

3. Disaggregation of revenue - revenue from sale of good and services (contracts)
Source of Revenue

NHS
£000
(17)
2,495
4
333
2,815

Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other Contract revenue
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total

Non NHS
£000
14
7,087
171
44
7,316

2018-19
Total
£000
(3)
9,582
175
377
10,131

Revenue received is totally from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning Group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

4. Employee Benefits
Please refer to the Annual Report for details of Employee Benefits and Staff Numbers.

4.1 Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes
can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers,
GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in
a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if
it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that
scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the
reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate
assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
4.1.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the
reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for
the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as
at 31 March 2019, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March 2019 with summary global member and accounting data. In
undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM
Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension
Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The
Stationery Office.
4.1.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic
experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the
employer contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care have recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that
the employer contribution rate will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following
a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the
continuing legal process.
2018-19
£000
1,629
%
14.38

Employers’ contributions were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme
Payable to the NHS Pension Scheme of pensionable pay, at the rate of

Note 2-4

2017-18
£000
1,513
%
14.38
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5. Operating Expenses
2018-19

2017-18

Total

Total

£000

£000

(612)
782,043
4,706
44
157,643
4,202
124,638
1
168
112,000
106
438
4,391
90
1,231
64

445
751,560
3,992
74
148,979
4,101
126,103
0
254
109,513
64
349
3,256
83
1,215
64

0
0
394
380
518
1,192,445

0
0
78
166
458
1,150,753

458
67
525

462
37
500

Provision expense
Change in discount rate
Provisions
Total Provision expense

179
3,856
4,035

(102)
2,120
2,018

Other operating expenditure
Chair and lay membership body and governing body members
Grants to other bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Expected credit loss on receivables
Inventories consumed
Other expenditure
Total Other operating expenditure

665
175
13
60
20
1,877
33
2,842

689
765
14
20
0
1,242
18
2,748

1,199,847

1,156,019

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
• Internal audit services
• Other services
Other professional fees (excluding statutory audit)
Legal fees
Education and training
Total Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Amortisation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges

Total Operating Expenses

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS - shows costs related primary care services.
External Audit - The figures in the 'Audit fees' line above include VAT. The net figures are £53,500 for 2018-19 and £53,500 for 201718. The Audit liability for Grant Thornton is restricted to £2,000,000.
Since the financial statements were produced, NHS England have advised us that external assurance on the mental health investment
standard (MHIS) will be required to be undertaken by our External Auditors. The standard fee for this work will be £10,000 + VAT and the
work will be completed by the end of September 2019. Due to the late notification, this amount was not originally included in the financial
statements; it is considered to be trivial and so the financial statements have not been updated to reflect the costs of this work.
Internal Audit - As Internal Audit is carried out by a different organisation to our Statutory Audit, the Department of Health guidance is to
show Internal Audit costs in 'Other professional fees'.
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies - includes an increase of £6m related to Continuing Healthcare spend.
Staff costs - this information is now included in the Annual Report.
Expenditure category changes in 2018-19
Expected credit loss on receivables - is a new reporting line for 2018-19.
Commissioning Group has any expenditure of this type.
Note 5

2018/19 is also the first year that the Clinical
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6. Better Payment Practice Code
6.1 Measure of Compliance
2018-19
Number

2017-18
Number

£000

£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

27,820
27,457
98.70%

292,978
291,471
99.49%

28,232
27,698
98.11%

280,810
278,166
99.06%

NHS Payables
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target

4,081
4,039
98.97%

791,269
791,507
100.03%

3,982
3,935
98.82%

757,003
757,063
100.01%

Where the percentage of invoices paid within target is greater than 100%, this is due to the effect of credit notes.
This note shows the Clinical Commissioning Group's performance against its administrative duty to pay all creditors within 30 calendar
days of receipt of goods or valid invoice, whichever is later, unless other payment terms have been agreed. There is a performance target
of 95% for each measure.

7. Finance Costs
2018-19
£000
109
109

Provisions - unwinding of discount
Total Finance Costs

2017-18
£000
(179)
(179)

This note identifies the Clinical Commissioning Group's interest costs, including the unwinding of discounts on provisions, and corresponds
with the amount shown on the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

8. Operating Leases
The Clinical Commissioning Group currently is lessee in respect of property leases and equipment rental. The most significant rents are
for Trust Headquarters and related buildings across the county. The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any contractual option
to buy these properties.

8.1 As Lessee
Buildings
£000

Other
£000

2018-19
Total
£000

Buildings
£000

Other
£000

2017-18
Total
£000

781
0
0
781

1
0
0
1

782
0
0
782

957
0
0
957

0
0
0
0

957
0
0
957

781
1,193
0
1,974

0
0
0
0

781
1,193
0
1,974

956
1,098
0
2,054

1
0
0
1

957
1,098
0
2,055

Payments recognised as an Expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases. The rental charge for future years has
been agreed and are reflected in the Buildings figures above. The future years payments are calculated up to the next break point in the
lease.
Other Lease costs are for the rental of combined photocopier/scanners and lease cars.
This note identifies the amount included in operating expenses in respect of operating lease agreements. It also highlights the amounts
the Clinical Commissioning Group is liable for under non-cancellable leases over the next five years.
All operating leases relating to items with a purchase cost above the capitalisation limit are regarded as non-cancellable.

8.2 As Lessor
The Clinical Commissioning Group does not act as a lessor.
This note identifies the amount included in operating expenses in respect of operating lease agreements. It also highlights the amounts
the Clinical Commissioning Group expects to receive under non-cancellable leases over the next five years.
All operating leases relating to items with a purchase cost above the capitalisation limit are regarded as non-cancellable.

Note 6-8
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant & Information
Machinery Technology
£000
£000
150
1,839
0
288
150
2,127

2018-19
Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2018
Additions Purchased
Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2019
Depreciation at 1 April 2018
Charged During the Year
Depreciation at 31 March 2019
Net Book Value at 31 March 2019

Furniture &
Fittings
£000
203
0
203

Total
£000
2,192
288
2,480

150
0
150
0

942
458
1,400
727

203
0
203
0

1,295
458
1,753
727

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2019

0
0

727
727

0
0

727
727

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2019

0
0

727
727

0
0

727
727

Property, plant and equipment is a sub-classification of the total non-current assets recorded on the Statement of Financial Position, and
are, land, buildings, plant and machinery, information technology and furniture and fittings.

9.1 Economic Lives
Minimum Life
(Years)
3

Information Technology

Maximum Life
(Years)
3

This note records the range of remaining useful economic lives of property, plant and equipment employed by the Clinical Commissioning
Group.

10. Intangible non-current assets
Computer
Software:
Purchased
£000
202
272
474

Total
£000
202
272
474

Amortisation 1 April 2018
Charged during the year
Amortisation At 31 March 2019

37
67
105

37
67
105

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019

370

370

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2019

370
370

370
370

Minimum
Life (years)
3

Maximum
Life (Years)
3

2018-19
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2018
Additions purchased
Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2019

10.1 Economic lives

Computer software: purchased

Intangible non-current assets are defined as brand value or some other right, which although invisible is likely to derive financial benefit for
its owner in the future, and for which you might be willing to pay.

Note 9-10
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11. Inventories
Balance at 1 April 2018
Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Transfer (to)/from Goods for resale
Balance at 31 March 2019

Loan Equipment
£000
0
1,640
(1,877)
1,472
1,235

Loan Equipment
£000
1,472
0
0
(1,472)
0

Total
£000
1,472
1,640
(1,877)
0
1,235

Balance at 1 April 2017
Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Balance at 31 March 2018

Loan Equipment
£000
0
0
0
0

Other
£000
1,259
1,455
(1,242)
1,472

Total
£000
1,259
1,455
(1,242)
1,472

This year we have recategorised the inventory from Other to Loan Equipment as we feel it is a better narrative for the Integrated Community Equipment, which is managed by
Bournemouth Borough Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group contributes to.
The total value of inventories corresponds with the amount shown on the face of the Statement of Financial Position. Finished processed goods is the value of stocks after
completion of manufacture or processing and where the goods concerned are to be sold or consumed in a future accounting period.
This note does not include the provision of health care services under partially completed contracts; or assets in the course of construction.

12. Trade and Other Receivables
Current

NHS receivables: revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and other WGA accrued income
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables
Total
Total Current and Non-current

Non-current

31 March 2019
£000
4,059
2,178
2,270
727
776
116
(20)
406
0
10,513
10,513

31 March 2018
£000
4,276
2,132
2,996
469
497
146
0
214
4
10,734
10,734

0

0

Included in NHS receivables are pre-paid pension contributions

31 March 2019
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

31 March 2018
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered
necessary. The level of trade with non-NHS organisations is immaterial and is covered by contractual terms, therefore no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
This note analyses the amounts owing to the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date.

12.1 Receivables Past Their Due Date But Not Impaired
31 March 2019
DHSC Group
Bodies
£000
1,728
98
743
2,569

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

31 March 2019
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£000
202
0
82
284

31 March 2018
DHSC Group
Bodies
£000
1,853
0
389
2,242

31 March 2018
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£000
(6)
35
35
64

£78,809.31 (as at 23 April 2019) of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
This note analyses the length of time beyond their due date the amounts owing to the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date have been
outstanding.
12.2 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial assets at 1 April 2018
Trade and other
receivables NHSE bodies

Trade and other
receivables other DHSC
group bodies

Trade and other
receivables external

Other financial
assets

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Assets held at Amortised cost
Total at 31st March 2018

17
17

5,079
5,079

1,977
1,977

834
834

7,907
7,907

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Assets measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

17
17

5,079
5,079

1,977
1,977

834
834

7,907
7,907

0

0

0

0

0

31 March 2019
£000
17
11
28

31 March 2018
£000
17
(0)
17

13
15
28
0
28

0
17
17
0
17

0

0

Change in carrying amount

13. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Opening balance
Net change in year
Closing balance
Made up of:
Cash with Government Banking Service
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft - Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of cash flows
Patients' money held by the Clinical Commissioning Group, not included above

Notes 11-13
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14. Trade and Other Payables
Current
31 March 2019
31 March 2018
£000
£000
NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and other WGA payables: revenue
Non-NHS and other WGA payables: capital
Non-NHS and other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total

(1,220)
(3,967)
(2,354)
(233)
(27,396)
(217)
(195)
(16,804)
(52,386)

(4,482)
(2,657)
(2,954)
(283)
(33,644)
(193)
(156)
(6,631)
(50,999)

Total Current and Non-current

(52,386)

(50,999)

Included above are liabilities, due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement over 5 years.
Other payables include outstanding pension contributions. The increase in outstanding pension contributions is due to the Clinical
Commissioning Group taking on the devolved primary care co-commissioning role from NHS England.
Other payables also includes accruals for invoices registered on the finance ledger, but not approved.
Other payables also includes primary care accruals, which is due to the Clinical Commissioning Group taking on the devolved primary care cocommissioning role from NHS England.

Non-current
31 March 2019
31 March 2018
£000
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

0

0

1,017

1,202

135

85

13,324

5344

Other financial
liabilities

Total

£000

£000

This note analyses the amounts owed by the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date.
14.1 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial liabilities at 1 April 2018

£000

£000

£000

Other
borrowings
(including
finance lease
obligations)
£000

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Assets held at Amortised cost
Total at 31st March 2018

1,334
1,334

5,805
5,805

43,511
43,511

0
0

0
0

50,650
50,650

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Liabilities measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

1,334
1,334

5,805
5,805

43,511
43,511

0
0

0
0

50,650
50,650

0

0

0

0

0

0

Current
31 March 2019
£000
(4,960)
0

Non Current
31 March 2019
£000
(1,682)
(371)

Current
31 March 2018
£000
(3,749)
0

Non-current
31 March 2018
£000
(234)
(345)

Total

(4,960)

(2,054)

(3,749)

(580)

Total Current and Non-current

(7,013)

Change in carrying amount

Trade and other
payables - NHSE
bodies

Trade and other
payables - other
DHSC group
bodies

Trade and
other payables
- external

15. Provisions

Continuing care
Other

(4,329)

Comprising:

Balance at 1 April 2018
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Balance at 31 March 2019
Expected Timing of Cash Flows:
No Later than One Year
Later than One Year and not later than Five Years
Balance at 31 March 2019

Continuing Care
£000
(3,985)
(7,451)
1,461
3,595
(101)
(161)
(6,642)

Other
£000
(345)
0
0
0
(9)
(18)
(371)

Total
£000
(4,329)
(7,451)
1,461
3,595
(109)
(179)
(7,013)

(4,960)
(1,682)
(6,642)

0
(371)
(371)

(4,960)
(2,053)
(7,013)

Amount Included in the Provisions of NHS Resolution in Respect of Clinical Negligence Liabilities:
£000
0
0

As at 31 March 2019
As at 31 March 2018

Finance costs on the Statement of Cash Flows refers to the change in discount rate, shown above.
The balance of the Continuing Care provision is reversed out of the Ledger in March and shows here as 'Reversed unused' and then the new provision is created and this is shown as
'Arising during the year'. This approach is taken because the provision is calculated case by case during March.

Note 14-15
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15. Provisions continued
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty:
The provisions shown under the heading 'Other' relate to dilapidation costs associated with leases for Vespasian House, and the future costs are uncertain.
A provision has been made against applications for continuing healthcare support where a panel has not yet met to determine whether the application is
approved. The provision is calculated on a named basis for the period that continuing healthcare may be eligible, at the probability rate of the application being
awarded.
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing
Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the Clinical Commissioning Group. However, the legal liability remains with the Clinical
Commissioning Group.
This note analyses the amounts recorded as provisions by the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date.

16. Contingencies
Contingent liabilities
Continuing care
Net Value of Contingent Liabilities

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

9,214
9,214

8,811
8,811

There are no contingent Assets
The contingent liability above relates to continuing care claims, and is directly linked with the continuing care provision included in the Provisions Note. An
estimation has been made of the value based upon the amounts claimed. The uncertainties relate to the eligibility of the claims. Whilst possible, it has been
deemed unlikely that these amounts will be reimbursed. It is not practicable to provide an estimate of the financial effect.
The purpose of this note is to disclose material contingent liabilities or assets, if there is more than a remote possibility that there will be a transfer of ‘economic
benefit’ as a result of events that existed before the Statement of Financial Position date.

17. Commitments
17.1 Other financial commitments
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases or PFI contracts or other service concession
arrangements), for information management and technology equipment and support. The payments to which the Clinical Commissioning Group are committed
are as follows:31 March 2019
31 March 2018
£000
£000
Not later than one year
1,569
245
Later than one year and not later than five year
1,146
54
Later than five years
0
0
Total
2,715
299
The Clinical Commissioning Group has one contract that exceed one million pounds and that is for replacement of the NHS's secure network.
This note discloses undertakings that have been committed at a future date.

18. Financial Instruments
18.1 Financial Risk Management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body
faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.
Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting
standards mainly apply. The Clinical Commissioning Group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are
generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Clinical Commissioning Group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the Clinical Commissioning Group’s internal
auditors.
Only where the Clinical Commissioning Group is exposed to material risk should the appropriate IFRS 7 disclosures be made. The headings in IFRS 7 should
be used to the extent that they are relevant.

Note 15-18.1
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18.1.1 Currency Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being
in the UK and sterling based. The Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The Clinical Commissioning Group therefore
has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
18.1.2 Interest Rate Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The Clinical Commissioning Group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
18.1.3 Credit Risk
Because the majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the Clinical Commissioning Group
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
18.1.4 Liquidity Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within resource allocations agreed with NHS England, which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, from NHS England,
as the need arises, unrelated to its performance against resource limits. The Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to
significant liquidity risks.
18.2 Financial Assets

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2019
18.3 Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2019

Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£000

Total
2018-19
£000

4,007
2,438
728
28
7,200

4,007
2,438
728
28
7,200

Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£000

Total
2018-19
£000

595
26,436
8,138
16,804
51,974

595
26,436
8,138
16,804
51,974

Due to the short-term nature of these transactions, the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities approximate the carrying amounts
at the balance sheet date.
Financial instruments are a broad range of assets and liabilities that arise from contracts and result in a financial asset being created in
one entity and a financial liability in another. This note discloses the interest rate risks arising from the Clinical Commissioning Group's
financial assets and liabilities, which largely comprise items due after more than one year, such as long-term debtors and creditors, and
provisions made under contract.

19. Operating Segments
The Clinical Commissioning Group has only one operating segment, that of commissioning healthcare services for the population of
Dorset.
An operating segment is a component of an entity:
* that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses;
* whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and
* for which discrete financial information is available.

Note 18.1.1-19
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20. Related Party Transactions
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of
material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:
• NHS England (including commissioning support units);

• NHS Resolution; and,

• NHS Foundation Trusts;

• NHS Business Services Authority.

• NHS Trusts;
In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central
and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Dorset County Council, Bournemouth Borough Council and Borough of
Poole Council Local Authorities in respect of Better Care Fund arrangements.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has received revenue grant monies from Macmillan Cancer Support. No capital payments have been
received from charitable funds.
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health.

Payments to
Related Party
£000

Receipts from
Related Party
£000

Amounts owed
to Related Party
£000

Amounts due
from Related
Party
£000

1

Dr Forbes Watson - Governing Body, Clinical
Commissioning Committee Remuneration Committee,
Clinical
Commissioning
Group
Chair,
Clinical
Commissioning Committee Chair. Principal GP, Lyme Bay
Practice. Transactions disclosed for Lyme Bay Medical
Centre.

3,253.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

2

Dr Jenny Bubb - Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning
Committee, Locality Chair for Mid Dorset. Partner, Cerne
Abbas GP Surgery. Transactions disclosed for Cerne
Abbas Surgery.

8,207.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

3

Dr Colin Davidson - Governing Body, Clinical
Commissioning Committee, Locality Chair for East Dorset.
Senior Partner, The Cranborne Practice. Transactions
disclosed for The Cranborne Practice.

11,501.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

4

Dr Colin Davidson - Spouse is a GP and equity partner at
Eagle House Surgery. Transactions disclosed for Eagle
House Surgery.

7,900.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

5

Dr Mufeed Ni'man - Governing Body, Clinical
Commissioning Committee, Locality Chair for East
Bournemouth. GP at Providence Surgery, Crescent Surgery
and Boscombe & Springbourne Health Centre Walk in
Service. Transactions disclosed for Providence Surgery.

25,833.0

4.0

1.0

1.0

6

Dr Mufeed Ni'man - Partner at Marine & Oakridge
Surgeries and Grove Surgery. Transactions disclosed for
The Marine & Oakridge Partnership.

9,609.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

7

Dr Christian Verrinder - Clinical Commissioning Committee,
Clinical Delivery Group Lead. Salaried GP Providence
Surgery. Transactions disclosed for Providence Surgery.

25,833.0

4.0

1.0

1.0

8

Dr Christian Verrinder - Previously GP Partner, Wellbridge
Practice, Wool Surgery - finished role during 2018/19.
Transactions disclosed for The Wellbridge Practice.

11,435.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

9

Dr Craig Wakeham - Clinical Commissioning Committee,
Chief Clinical Information Officer. Partner, Cerne Abbas
Surgery (PMS dispensing practice). Transactions disclosed
for Cerne Abbas Surgery.

8,207.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

111,778.0

8.0

2.0

2.0

The Clinical Commissioning Group has detailed in this note all declarations of interest for Governing Body Members, however only related party
transactions have been disclosed where they meet the criteria of having (i) have significant influence over the reporting entity or (ii) are a member
of the key management personnel. The Declaration of Interest register can be found on our web site www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/ccg/members/#doi.

Note 20
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21. Events after the end of the Reporting Period
The Clinical Commissioning Group has no Events after the end of the Reporting Period.
This note discloses the financial consequences of events (both favourable or unfavourable) that occur between the Statement of Financial Position
date and the date on which the financial statements are approved by the Board, if appropriate. Two types of events can be identified:
* those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period (adjusting events); and
* those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period (non-adjusting events).

22. Financial Performance Targets
Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s performance against those duties was as follows:
Target

2018-19
Performance

£’000
1,252,827
560
1,242,035

£’000
1,217,508
560
1,206,716

Yes
Yes
Yes

National
Duty
Health
Service Act
Section

223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)

Duty
Achieved?

223J(1)

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

Yes

223J(2)

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

Yes

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

16,968

16,151

Yes

The expenditure not to exceed income target was set at £35,319k surplus which comprises the historic allocation of £33,585k and an in-year
agreed underspend of £1,734k. There was no 2018-19 nationally mandated requirement to achieve a non-recurrent risk reserve.
The Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions and was underspent by £817k due to planned local
savings on Clinical Commissioning Group administrative costs.
2017-18
National
Duty
Duty
Target
Performance
Health
Achieved?
Service Act
Section
223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)

223J(2)

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

223J(1)

£’000
1,205,668
497
1,192,060

£’000
1,172,083
497
1,158,475

Yes
Yes
Yes

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

16,989

16,006

Yes

Note: For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the financial year; and,
income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted as
received in the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis).
The purpose of this note is to disclose the Financial Performance of the Clinical Commissioning Group. Where a Clinical Commissioning Group
breaches, or plans to breach, one of the statutory financial provisions, even if this is agreed with NHS England (e.g. setting a deficit budget) local
auditors are under a duty to make a report to the Secretary of State for Health under Section 28 of the Audit Commission Act 1998.

23. Other
The Clinical Commissioning Group has considered the following areas and has no details to disclose under these headings:• The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
• Income Generation Activities
• Investment Revenue
• Other Gains and Losses
• Net Gain (Loss) on Transfer by Absorption
• Impairments & Reversals
• Investment Property

• Other Financial Assets
• Other Current Assets
• Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
• Analysis of Impairments and Reversals
• Other Financial liabilities
• Other Liabilities
• Borrowings

Note 22-23

• PFI & LIFT Contracts
• NHS LIFT Investments
• Finance Lease Obligations
• Finance Lease Receivables
• Third Party Assets
• Impact of IFRS Treatment
• Analysis of Charitable Reserves
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GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS
Accruals

An accounting concept. In addition to payments and receipts of cash, adjustment is made for outstanding payments,
debts to be collected and inventory. This means that the accounts show all of the income and expenditure that related
to the financial year.

Assets

An item that has a value in the future. For example, a debtor (someone who owes money) is an asset, as they will in
future pay. A building is an asset, because it houses activity that will provide a future income stream.

Assurance

Process through which accurate and current information is provided to stakeholders about the efficiency and
effectiveness of policies and operations, and the status of compliance with statutory obligations.

Audit

The process of validation of the accuracy, completeness and adequacy of disclosure of financial records.

Capital

Land, buildings, equipment and other non-current assets owned by the Clinical Commissioning Group, the cost of
which exceeds £5,000 and has an expected life of more than one year.

Cash limit

A limit set by the NHS England which restricts the amount of cash drawings that the Clinical Commissioning Group can
make in the financial year. There is a combined cash limit for both revenue and capital.

Co-Commissioning

Refers to the process whereby the Clinical Commissioning Group can directly commission primary medical services
and performance manage practices but not individuals. This role was transferred from NHS England on the 1 April
2016.

Commissioning

Purchase of healthcare from external service providers (NHS, other public sector, private and voluntary) to meet the
needs of the population.

Current Assets

Trade receivables, inventories, cash or similar, whose value is, or can be converted into, cash within the next twelve
months.

Deep dive

A technique to rapidly immerse a group or team into a situation for problem solving or idea creation. It is often used for
brainstorming product or process development.

Governance

The framework of rules and practices by which a board of directors ensures accountability, fairness, and transparency
in relationships with its stakeholders. Corporate governance should underpin all that an organisation does. In the NHS,
this means it must encompass clinical, financial and organisational aspects.

Gross Operating Costs

This is the total revenue expenditure, including accruals and provisions, incurred in the course of performing all
aspects of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s functions during the year.

Intangible Assets

Brand value or some other right (for example, a software licence), which although invisible is likely to derive financial
benefit for its owner in the future, and for which you might be willing to pay.

Lay Member

A person who has specialised or professional knowledge of a subject.

Locality

In general meaning a community in which people live. Specifically to the Clinical Commissioning Group this refers to
the 13 different geographical areas in Dorset for which we commission services.

Locality Cluster

This refers to the 3 clusters made up of the 13 geographical localities in Dorset.

Miscellaneous Revenue

Income that relates directly to the operating activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group. This excludes cash from
NHS England, which is credited to the general fund.

NHS Constitution

The constitution brings together in one place details of what staff, patients and the public can expect from the NHS.

Non-Current Assets

Land, buildings, equipment and other long term assets that are expected to have a life of more than one year.

Procurement

The act of obtaining or buying goods and services. The process includes preparation and processing of a demand as
well as the end receipt and approval of payment.

Quality Premium

Is intended to reward Clinical Commissioning Groups for improvements in the quality of the services that they
commission and for associated improvements in health outcomes and reducing inequalities.

Remuneration

Reward for employment in the form of pay, salary, or wage, including allowances, benefits (such as company car,
medical plan, pension plan), bonuses, cash incentives, and monetary value of the noncash incentives.

Resource limit

Expenditure limits are determined for each NHS organisation by NHS England for both revenue and capital, which limit
the amount that may be expended on revenue purchases, as assessed on an accruals basis (that is, after adjusting for
receivables and payables).

Transformation

A process of profound and radical change that orients an organisation in a new direction and takes it to an entirely
different level of effectiveness.

Safeguarding

Protecting from harm or damage with an appropriate measure.

Stakeholders

A person, group or organisation that has interest or concern in an organisation.

Sustainability

An approach that creates long-term strategy aimed toward the natural environment and taking into consideration every
dimension of how a business operates in the social, cultural, and economic environment.

WGA

Whole of Government Accounting (WGA) are organisations such as Local Authorities, Scottish and Welsh NHS
bodies, NHS Property Services and NHS Resolution etc.

Glossary
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How to Contact Us
NHS Dorset Clinical
Commissioning Group
Vespasian House
Barrack Road
Dorchester DT1 1TG
Email:
feedback@dorsetccg.nhs.uk
Our website: www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk
Twitter: @DorsetCCG
Facebook:

www.facebook.com/NHSDorsetCCG

If you would like this document in a different format or language,
please email communications@dorsetccg.nhs.uk

